Magnifying Spacetime How Physics Changes with Scale

Daniel Coumbe



PHYSICS RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY

MAGNIFYING SPACETIME How Physics Changes with Scale

No part of this digital document may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means. The publisher has taken reasonable care in the preparation of this digital document, but makes no expressed or implied warranty of any kind and assumes no responsibility for any errors or omissions. No liability is assumed for incidental or consequential damages in connection with or arising out of information contained herein. This digital document is sold with the clear understanding that the publisher is not engaged in rendering legal, medical or any other professional services.

PHYSICS RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY

Additional books and e-books in this series can be found on Nova's website under the Series tab.

PHYSICS RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY

MAGNIFYING SPACETIME How Physics Changes with Scale

DANIEL COUMBE



Copyright © 2019 by Nova Science Publishers, Inc.

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means: electronic, electrostatic, magnetic, tape, mechanical photocopying, recording or otherwise without the written permission of the Publisher.

We have partnered with Copyright Clearance Center to make it easy for you to obtain permissions to reuse content from this publication. Simply navigate to this publication's page on Nova's website and locate the "Get Permission" button below the title description. This button is linked directly to the title's permission page on copyright.com. Alternatively, you can visit copyright.com and search by title, ISBN, or ISSN.

For further questions about using the service on copyright.com, please contact: Copyright Clearance Center Phone: +1-(978) 750-8400 Fax: +1-(978) 750-4470 E-mail: info@copyright.com.

NOTICE TO THE READER

The Publisher has taken reasonable care in the preparation of this book, but makes no expressed or implied warranty of any kind and assumes no responsibility for any errors or omissions. No liability is assumed for incidental or consequential damages in connection with or arising out of information contained in this book. The Publisher shall not be liable for any special, consequential, or exemplary damages resulting, in whole or in part, from the readers' use of, or reliance upon, this material. Any parts of this book based on government reports are so indicated and copyright is claimed for those parts to the extent applicable to compilations of such works.

Independent verification should be sought for any data, advice or recommendations contained in this book. In addition, no responsibility is assumed by the publisher for any injury and/or damage to persons or property arising from any methods, products, instructions, ideas or otherwise contained in this publication.

This publication is designed to provide accurate and authoritative information with regard to the subject matter covered herein. It is sold with the clear understanding that the Publisher is not engaged in rendering legal or any other professional services. If legal or any other expert assistance is required, the services of a competent person should be sought. FROM A DECLARATION OF PARTICIPANTS JOINTLY ADOPTED BY A COMMITTEE OF THE AMERICAN BAR ASSOCIATION AND A COMMITTEE OF PUBLISHERS.

Additional color graphics may be available in the e-book version of this book.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Names: Coumbe, Daniel, author. Title: Magnifying spacetime: how physics changes with scale / Daniel Coumbe (Niels Bohr Institute, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark). Other titles: Physics research and technology. Description: Hauppauge, New York: Nova Science Publishers, Inc., [2019] | Series: Physics research and technology Identifiers: LCCN 2019013905| ISBN 9781536153194 (softcover) | ISBN 1526152100 (softcover) | VEDN 0781526152200 (speech) | VEDN 1526152206 (speech) | VEDN 152615200 | VEDN 152615200 | VEDN 152615200 | VEDN 152615200

1536153192 (softcover) | ISBN 9781536153200 (eBook) | ISBN 1536153206 (eBook)

Subjects: LCSH: Space and time. | Scaling laws (Statistical physics) |

Quantum gravity. | Fractals. | Renormalization group.

Published by Nova Science Publishers, Inc. † New York

Contents

List of Figures		xi	
List of Tables		xiii	
Pr	eface		XV
	Unit	s, Conventions and Common Abbreviations	XV111
Ac	cknow	ledgments	xxi
In	trodu	ction	xxiii
1 Scal		e Transformations	1
	1.1.	Global Scale Transformations	1
	1.2.	Local Scale Transformations	3
2	Fractals		7
	2.1.	The Coastline Paradox	7
	2.2.	Fractal Dimensions	8
		2.2.1. The Topological Dimension	8
		2.2.2. The Hausdorff Dimension	9
		2.2.3. The Spectral Dimension	10
		2.2.4. The Walk Dimension	13
		2.2.5. Myrheim-Meyer Dimension	13
		2.2.6. Correlation Dimension	14

vi		Contents	
	2.3.	Fractals Above Us and Below Us	15
		2.3.1. Fractals in Cosmology	15
		2.3.2. Fractals in Quantum Mechanics	16
3	A M	inimum Scale?	19
	3.1.	Atoms of Spacetime	19
	3.2.	Evidence for a Minimal Length	22
		3.2.1. A Lower Bound on Distance Measurements	22
		3.2.2. Black Hole Limitations	23
		3.2.3. Heisenberg's Microscope	25
		3.2.4. High-Energy Convergence	28
		3.2.5. Fluctuations of the Conformal Factor	29
		3.2.6. Modified Feynman Propagator	32
		3.2.7. Lattice Quantum Gravity	33
	3.3.	Special Relativity and a Minimal Length	34
	3.4.	Phenomenological Quantum Gravity	36
4	The	Renormalisation Group	39
	4.1.	Overview	39
	4.2.	Kadanoff's Block-Spin Model	40
	4.3.	The Beta Function	41
	4.4.	Renormalisation Group Operators	43
5	The	Asymptotic Safety Scenario	45
	5.1.	Weinberg's Great Idea	45
	5.2.	A Potential Problem	49
6	Quantum Gravity on the Lattice		53
	6.1. Lattice Regularisation		53
	6.2.	Geometric Observables	54
	6.3.	Euclidean Dynamical Triangulations	59
		6.3.1. Conformal Instability	63
	6.4.	Causal Dynamical Triangulations	65

			Contents	vii
7	Is the Dimension of Spacetime Scale Dependent?		69	
	7.1.	7.1. Why 4 Dimensions?		
	7.2.	The Ev	vidence for Dimensional Reduction	71
		7.2.1.	String Theory	71
		7.2.2.	Causal Dynamical Triangulations	71
		7.2.3.	Euclidean Dynamical Triangulations	75
		7.2.4.	Horava-Lifshitz Gravity	78
		7.2.5.	Asymptotic Safety	79
		7.2.6.	Loop Quantum Gravity	81
		7.2.7.	The Wheeler-DeWitt Equation	82
		7.2.8.	Causal Set Theory	83
		7.2.9.	Non-Commutative Geometry	83
	7.3.	A Poss	sible Solution to an Old Problem	84
	7.4.	Dimen	nsional Reduction in the Sky	85
	7.5. Experimental Tests		88	
		7.5.1.	Cosmology	88
		7.5.2.	GeV Scales	90
		7.5.3.	TeV Scales	91
	7.6.	What i	is Dimensional Reduction Really Telling Us?	91
		7.6.1.	Overview	91
		7.6.2.	Scale Dependent Length	92
		7.6.3.	A Dual Description?	97
8	Scale Dependent Spacetime			101
	8.1.	Einste	in and Weyl	101
	8.2.	Renor	malising Spacetime	106
		8.2.1.	Motivation	106
		8.2.2.	Estimating $\Omega(k)$	109
		8.2.3.	Immediate Implications	110
		8.2.4.	Implications for Quantum Gravity	111
Final Thoughts				117
Re	References			
Al	About the Author			143

viii	Contents	
Index		145
Related Nova Publications		149

List of Figures

- 1. An example of a global scale transformation. The original boat (left) is scaled by a factor of 2, creating the uniformly transformed object (right).
- 2. A schematic describing how the Hausdorff dimension is determined. The left-hand column shows a line segment with topological dimension 1. The line segment undergoes a scale transformation from r = 1 to r = 3. The central column shows a circle of topological dimension 2 whose area increases by a factor of 9 under such a scale transformation. The right-hand column shows a sphere with topological dimension 3, whose volume increases by a factor of 27 under such a scale transformation [1].
- 3. A random walk consisting of 10⁴ diffusion steps in 2-dimensions (upper) and 3-dimensions (lower).
- 4. A 2-dimensional square lattice of atoms each with an associated spin. Filled lattice points represent atoms with spin down and unfilled lattice points denote atoms with spin up. The system may be described by block variables that average over the behaviour of a given block size. Each renormalisation step is then equivalent to averaging over successively smaller square block sizes.

2

9

41

List of Figures

5.	A schematic of the ultraviolet critical surface S_{UV} . Trajectories that are repelled from the NTFP are irrelevant couplings. Trajectories that are attracted to the fixed point are relevant couplings. The theory space is defined by the couplings g_i . In the case of the Einstein-Hilbert truncation the couplings are $G_N(k)$ and $\Lambda(k)$. Schematic derived from the work of Refs. [2, 3, 4].	47
6.	Renormalisation group flow of gravity in the Einstein-Hilbert trunca- tion. Arrows indicate RG flow in the direction of increased coarse- graining, or conversely decreasing momentum scale <i>k</i> . Plot adapted from Ref. [5].	49
7.	The deficit angle δ for a 2-dimensional lattice (left) and a simplicial approximation to a sphere (right) [1].	56
8.	A schematic representing the number of 4-simplices N_4 as a function of geodesic distance τ form an arbitrarily defined origin o [1]. Collec- tively the bars form a single measurement of the volume distribution of N_4 . One forms an expectation value $\langle N_4 \rangle$ by making many such measurements and averaging. The centre of volume is located at 0.	57
9.	The building blocks of CDT. The $(4, 1)$ and $(3, 2)$ 4-simplices [1].	66
10.	The 4-dimensional phase diagram of CDT spanned by the parameters κ_0 and Δ [6].	68
11.	An illustration of how an odd or even number of diffusion steps can impact the probability of return close to the origin for a simple 1- dimensional random walk.	73
12.	Fluctuations in the spectral dimension due to the difference between odd and even diffusion steps σ over short distance scales [7]. This effect introduces a systematic discretisation error that can be reduced by emitting data values below a specific out off in σ [7].	74
	by omitting data values below a specific cut-off in σ [/].	74

- 13. The spectral dimension D_S as a function of the diffusion time σ for 4 different points in phase C of CDT [7]. The $D_S(\sigma)$ curves for points with $\Delta = 0.6$ are calculated using a lattice volume of 160,000 $N_{4,1}$ simplices. $D_S(\sigma)$ at the point $\kappa_0 = 4.4, \Delta = 2.0$ is computed using a lattice volume of 300,000 $N_{4,1}$ simplices. The error band denotes an uncorrelated fit to the data using Eq. (2) over the fit range $\sigma \in [50, 494]$ for the point $\kappa_0 = 2.2, \Delta = 0.6$ and $\sigma \in [60, 492]$ for the other three points. An extrapolation to $\sigma = 0$ and $\sigma \rightarrow \infty$ is made using the function of Eq. (2). The uncorrelated fit shows only the central value for comparison. Errors presented in this figure are statistical only, however Tab. 3. includes estimates of the total statistical and systematic errors.
- 14. A comparison between the modified speed of light $c_m(\sigma) = \Gamma(\sigma)$ with c = 54 as determined in Ref. [8] (the dashed curve) and numerical measurements of the effective velocity v_d computed by averaging over 10⁶ diffusion processes using 80,000 and 160,000 simplices with $\zeta = 0.18$ [9]. The horizontal dashed line denotes the classical scale invariant speed.
- 15. The spatial D_H and temporal T_H Hausdorff dimensions of CDT diffusion paths as a function of distance scale σ [10]. Note that $D_H + T_H = 2$ over all distance scales.
- 16. The integrand of Eq. (50) (f(p)) as a function of the momentum scale p, with l = A = 1 for $\mathcal{L} = 0 - 5$ loop orders [11]. 115

75

96

98

List of Tables

- 1. A table of common abbreviations, their meanings, and the section in which they are first discussed. XX
- 2. A table showing how the volume of a sphere with topological dimension D_T scales with radius r.
- A table of the large-distance $D_S(\sigma \to \infty)$ and short-distance $D_S(\sigma \to \infty)$ 3. 0) spectral dimension for 4 different points in phase C of CDT. $D_S(\sigma \to \infty)$ and $D_S(\sigma \to 0)$ are computed using the functional form $a - \frac{b}{c+\sigma}$ [8].
- 4. The fit parameters a, b, c and d for the two alternative fit functions used in estimating the systematic error for the bare parameters (2.2, 0.6) and (3.6, 0.6) with $N_{4,1} = 160,000$.
- 5. The fit parameters a, b, c and d for the two alternative fit functions used in estimating the systematic error for the bare parameters (4.4, 0.6) with $N_{4,1} = 160,000$ simplices, and for the bare parameters (4.4, 2.0) with $N_{4,1} = 300,000$.
- 6. The spectral dimension in the small and large-distance limits, including the $\chi^2/d.o.f.$ of each measurement, for different values of the non-trivial measure term β and for different lattice volumes N_4 .

10

76

76

77

78

Preface

You quickly stride down the corridor, eager to reach the door at the end. The polished sign placed neatly above the handle comes into sharp focus, '*Interview Room - Google, Inc.*' You take a deep breath and enter.

The interviewer begins, "We will start with a little physics question if that's OK?" Fresh from taking a course on physics you confidently nod. Then comes the bombshell, "Imagine you were shrunk to the size of a matchstick and put in a blender, how would you get out?"

A long pause. Yet more silence... *OK, now you've been quiet for too long. Say something... Anything!* "Ermmm..." You frantically try to recall any relevant physics. You remember how things change with time, with speed, with acceleration. *But shrinking!? Changing with scale...?* A crack of panic swells within. "Ermmm..., did you say a blender?", desperately trying to stall for time.

The interviewer nods coldly from across the room.

"Well.. ummm..." you stutter, followed by another painfully long silence. The crack of panic opens to a chasm; you drop to the floor, assume the fetal position and gently sob.

But what is the answer to this reportedly common Google interview question? Well, shrinking yourself by a factor of say r will decrease your mass by a factor of r^3 , because your body is 3-dimensional. However, muscular power depends on the cross-sectional area of muscle fibers, which will only decrease by a factor of r^2 , because area is 2-dimensional. So proportionately you actually get stronger as you shrink — allowing you to simply jump out of the blender. Voila, a job at Google awaits you!

The effect of stretching or shrinking distances, that is performing a scale transformation, is not commonly emphasised at an introductory level. The scientific literature available on the subject of scale transformations is typically either too technical for non-professional physicists or too lacking in mathematical and conceptual detail. A major aim of this book is to fill this gap, providing an accessible but sufficiently detailed account of this fascinating subject. Primarily aimed at the undergraduate and graduate level, this text may also serve as a helpful resource for professional physicists. That being said, the scientifically literate layman should still find this work accessible due to the emphasis on conceptual understanding over gratuitous mathematical detail.

This book is particularly well-timed due to a recent surge of striking results, all pointing towards the crucial role of scale in quantum gravity. There are only a few things we know about quantum gravity with any confidence. One robust feature of quantum gravity is the thermodynamic behaviour of black holes, which shows up so consistently in such a diverse number of approaches it is highly likely that it will appear in some form in the final theory of quantum gravity. A second, much lesser-known, feature that is common to all leading approaches is that of dynamical dimensional reduction. This book is in part motivated by the desire to raise the profile of this exciting, and until now largely overlooked, phenomena. This will be achieved by reporting recent results from the cutting edge of modern research, in addition to highlighting a number of proposed explanations for this puzzling and unexpected observation.

In physics, experiment is the arbiter of truth. Ultimately these exciting new results must face the acid-test of experiment. Fortunately, recent experiments have begun to reach a sensitivity comparable to the scale at which quantum gravity is expected to become significant. These experiments have already helped constrain, and in some cases even exclude, models of quantum gravity. The delicate dance between experiment and theory, that has driven scientific progress for centuries, is now once again taking centre stage. However, before experiment spills its secrets in the next few years, we have a small window of opportunity in which to understand this phenomenon so that we can meet these results head-on with phenomenological models and experimental predictions. The hope is that this book will provide a timely and detailed account of this phenomena, perhaps

even inspiring the next great breakthrough in our understanding of quantum gravity.

I have personally been involved in the search for a theory of quantum gravity for the last decade or so, and in particular, I have thought about many of the conceptual difficulties involved. I have authored numerous publications on quantum gravity in internationally leading research journals, most of which closely relate to the role of scale in fundamental physics. Therefore, I feel that I am able to divulge these new and exciting research findings, coming from myself and colleagues. It is my personal view that scale transformations and the associated symmetries will prove to be the key that will help unlock the enigma of quantum gravity, a view I hope to share with you over the coming pages.

The layout of this book is as follows. The Introduction will provide the reader with a basic understanding of general relativity and quantum mechanics, followed by a discussion of attempts to unify these two theories into a single theory of quantum gravity, and why this has so far proved such a difficult task. Chapters 1 and 2 build the necessary physical concepts and mathematical tools that will be used in the rest of the book, introducing such areas as global and local scale transformations as well as the fascinating subject of fractals. A comprehensive discussion on the evidence and implications of a minimum length scale is given in Chapter 3 and the renormalisation group is outlined in Chapter 4. Two modern approaches to quantum gravity, the asymptotic safety scenario and lattice quantum gravity, are discussed in detail in Chapters 5 and 6. The evidence for dynamical dimensional reduction is presented in Chapter 7, along with a discussion of possible implications and experimental tests. Finally, Chapter 8 will specify Weyl's attempt to modify Einstein's general theory of relativity via a local scale transformation of the metric tensor and explore some related ideas and implications for quantum gravity.

Ultimately, you should read this book for one reason, and only one reason; because you want to. Nature is beautiful, filled with diverse and interesting phenomena. But the source of all phenomena, the laws of physics themselves, are even more beautiful. This book will hopefully give you a flavour of the sub-lime symmetry underlying the laws of physics which operate over an enormous range of scales; from the size of the observable universe ($\sim 10^{26}m$) down to the unimaginably small Planck scale ($\sim 10^{-35}m$), and possibly beyond. Curiosity and intuition have their own reasons for existing — follow them — always.

Units, Conventions and Common Abbreviations

Max Planck, at the close of the 19th Century, proposed a natural set of units for length, time and mass, now aptly called Planck units. Planck units, by definition, normalise certain universal constants to unity, namely $\hbar = G_N = c = k_B = k_e = 1$, where \hbar is the reduced Planck's constant, G_N is Newton's gravitational constant, c is the speed of light in a vacuum, k_B is Boltzmann's constant and k_e is Coulomb's constant. The Planck length l_P can be derived from purely dimensional arguments, being a natural length scale associated with the gravitational constant, the speed of light and Planck's constant, and is given by

$$l_P = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar G_N}{c^3}} \approx 1.6 \times 10^{-35} m. \tag{1}$$

The Planck time is simply the time it takes to traverse the Planck length at the speed c, hence

$$t_P = \frac{l_P}{c} = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar G_N}{c^5}} \approx 5.4 \times 10^{-44} s.$$
 (2)

The Planck mass is given by

$$m_P = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar c}{G_N}} \approx 2.2 \times 10^{-8} kg, \qquad (3)$$

which unlike the other Planck units is much closer to an everyday scale, with m_P roughly corresponding to the mass of a flea's egg. Finally, the Planck temperature corresponds to the temperature at which an object emits radiation of wavelength l_P , hence

$$T_P = \frac{m_P c^2}{k_B} = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar c^5}{G_N k_B^2}}.$$
(4)

 l_P , t_P , m_P and T_P define the most important base Planck units used in this work, from which a number of other derived units can be obtained. The derived Planck units most relevant to this book are the Planck area $A_P = l_P^2$, the Planck energy $E_P = m_P c^2$ and the Planck momentum $p_P = \hbar/l_P$. Preface

In this book we shall work with a metric signature (-, +, +, +), unless otherwise stated, so that the Minkowski metric, for example, is written as

$$\eta_{\mu\nu} = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (5)

We adopt the repeated index summation convention put forward by Einstein as a notational shorthand. This convention states that repeated indices within a single term imply a summation of that term over each value of the index. So for example, when the invariant spacetime interval is written in the shorthand convention as

$$ds^2 = g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu}, \tag{6}$$

this actually means

$$ds^2 = \sum_{\mu} \sum_{\nu} g_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu}, \qquad (7)$$

where the summation is taken over indices μ and ν because they are the ones repeated in Eq. (6).

Below we list some common abbreviations used throughout and the section in which they are first discussed or defined.

Table 1. A table of common abbreviations, their meanings, and the section in which they are first discussed

Abbreviation	Meaning	Section
CDT	Causal dynamical triangulations	6.4.
DSR	Doubly special relativity	3.3.
EDT	Euclidean dynamical triangulations	6.3.
ERGE	Exact renormalisation group equation	5.1.
LI	Lorentz invariance	3.3.
LQCD	Lattice quantum chromodynamics	6.1.
NTFP	Non-trivial fixed point	5.1.
QCD	Quantum chromodynamics	4.3.
QED	Quantum electrodynamics	Intro
RG	Renormalisation group	3

Acknowledgments

First and foremost I wish to thank my beautiful wife Ivana and my wonderful daughter Ava for putting up with me while I wrote this book. Parts of this book are inspired by my Ph.D. thesis *Exploring a lattice formulation of lattice quantum gravity* obtained at the University of Glasgow in 2013. I wish to express my gratitude to everybody involved in the completion of my thesis, in particular, my advisor Jack Laiho and the external examiner Daniel Litim. I would like to thank Jan Ambjorn, Jerzy Jurkiewicz, Holger Bech Nielsen, Roberto Percacci, Gordon Donald, Antonio Morais, K. Grosvenor, V. Gueorguiev and C. MacLaurin for discussions on various parts of this work.

This work was in part funded by the Danish Research Council grant "Quantum Geometry". Some of the numerical simulations were performed on Scotgrid and on the DiRAC facility jointly funded by STFC and BIS, to whom I am very grateful. A limited number of simulations were also performed on the network machines in the theory group at Glasgow University, Jagiellonian University and the Niels Bohr Institute. A number of the figures used in this work were created using *Mathematica* version 10.2, including the cover image which shows a type of fractal structure known as a quadratic Julia set.

Introduction

An almighty clash of iron and steel sent sparks high into the evening air. "Ping...ping...ping," an alarm sounded somewhere to his left. After grinding to an abrupt halt, he released the seat belt and opened the door. Looking up through a thin veil of smoke the driver saw his truck wedged under an Iron bridge.

Within minutes there were traffic jams, blasting horns, and screeching sirens. The police arrived first, followed by a myriad of ambulances and fire engines. After treating the driver for minor injuries, thoughts quickly turned to the problem of freeing the truck. They tried pulling it out using a winch; it didn't move. They debated cutting the truck into pieces, but the fuel tank would ignite. They considered removing a segment of the bridge, but an electrified power line lay overhead. After an hour of scrutinising blue-prints and debating they had no idea how to remove the truck. An abundance of structural engineers, architects, policemen, and firemen gawked at the problem, utterly dumbfounded. No one knew how to solve it.

"Mum, what's going on over there?" said a little girl hanging her head out of the car window.

"Looks like that silly man got his truck stuck under the bridge," she replied over the clash of horns.

The girl got out of the car to stretch her legs. The very instant her feet touched the floor an idea struck. A pulse of electricity sparked her prefrontal cortex, shocking to life dead memories like Frankenstein's monster. Sepia photos of bicycle tyres and birthday balloons danced in her head.

Daniel Coumbe

She hurried to the first Policeman and blurted, "why don't you let some air out of the tyres and drive the truck out—?"

Just like the truck, our understanding of the universe gets stuck sometimes, it's then that we need a new idea to free us again. As I shall explain, our current understanding of the universe is more deeply stuck than ever before. In 1915, Einstein beautifully and simply explained gravity as the curvature of spacetime, which defines our best description of the universe on large distance scales. A second, slightly later, revolution which came to be known as quantum mechanics, defines our best description of the universe on small distance scales. For about a century now physicists have been trying in vain to put these two puzzle pieces together to form a single unified picture of the universe, but with no success. The consensus is that we are missing something big, a new idea or way of looking at things before we become unstuck. Physics desperately needs another Einstein, another child-like thinker to look up and say "—let the air out of the tyres".

Quantum mechanics describes three of the four fundamental interactions of nature, with general relativity describing the fourth, gravity. At short distances, quantum mechanical effects typically dominate, whereas general relativistic effects dominate over large distances and for strong gravitational fields. The vast majority of physical phenomena can be described independently by either general relativity or quantum mechanics, without the need for both. However, when strong gravitational fields interact over short distances, such as in the vicinity of the big-bang singularity or near black holes, the description of such phenomena demand a unification of quantum mechanics and general relativity. Such a unification would be a theory of quantum gravity.

Newtonian gravity attempted to explain the gravitational force via the inverse square law of gravitation, claiming that gravity was a universal property that acted instantaneously and on all massive bodies. This was an important mathematical step, but it did not fully explain the mechanism behind gravity. After publishing his special theory of relativity in 1905, Einstein wanted to generalise his theory such that all motion is relative. Einstein's realisation of the equivalence of inertial and gravitational mass is called the equivalence principle and ultimately led to our current understanding of gravity known as the general theory of relativity. General relativity was not only able to reproduce the results of Newtonian gravity in appropriate limits but it also gave an intuitive

xxiv

explanation for the mechanism behind gravitation.

In general relativity [12] spacetime is represented by a four-dimensional manifold M on which there exists a metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ [13]. The metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ is a set of numbers describing the distance to neighbouring points on the manifold. The field equations of general relativity constrain the possible values that the curvature of spacetime can take. Introducing no additional geometrical structure into spacetime apart from the metric itself and requiring that the field equations contain no derivatives higher than second-order [13], one is uniquely led to the equations,

$$G_{\mu\nu} = 8\pi G_N T_{\mu\nu}.\tag{8}$$

 $T_{\mu\nu}$ is the stress-energy-momentum tensor describing the amount and distribution of energy in spacetime, and $G_{\mu\nu}$ is the Einstein tensor describing how spacetime is curved by the presence of matter and is a function of the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$,

$$G_{\mu\nu} = R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R.$$
 (9)

 $R_{\mu\nu}$ is the Ricci tensor acting on the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$, and *R* is the Ricci scalar.¹ The Ricci scalar quantifies the curvature at each point on a Riemannian manifold and represents the difference in the volume of a ball embedded in curved spacetime with that in flat Euclidean spacetime. Mathematically, the Ricci scalar is defined by the product of the metric with the Ricci tensor,

$$R = R_{\mu\nu}g^{\mu\nu}.\tag{10}$$

In order to obtain exact solutions of the Einstein equations, one must impose certain symmetry constraints. For example, imposing spherical symmetry on a non-rotating massive body leads to the Schwarzschild solution. In this way, the number of coupled partial non-linear differential equations one obtains when writing Eq. (9) in full are reduced, and exact analytical solutions can be found.

The explanation of the gravitational force as a result of matter following the path of shortest distance in curved spacetimes is an elegant theoretical explanation that has been experimentally verified to high precision. The perihelion of

¹Eq. (9) is for pure gravity (vanishing cosmological constant), however for a non-zero cosmological constant one would obtain $G_{\mu\nu} = R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R + \Lambda g_{\mu\nu}$.

Mercury's orbit, gravitational lensing, and high-precision measurements of the decay of the orbital period of binary pulsars all agree well with general relativistic predictions [14].

Just as general relativity must replace Newtonian gravity in the large mass limit, quantum mechanics must also replace Newtonian mechanics in the smalldistance limit. For example, until the development of quantum mechanics, physicists did not even have a satisfactory explanation for the stability of the atom. In classical mechanics, atoms are composed of electrons orbiting along well-defined paths about a central nucleus. Classical electromagnetism says that a charged particle with acceleration a and charge e will radiate energy with a power P given by Larmor's equation,

$$P = \frac{e^2 a^2}{6\pi\varepsilon_0 c^3}.$$
 (11)

According to classical physics an electron, therefore, must radiate away all its energy and spiral in towards the nucleus. However, this is not observed in nature.

Max Planck's earlier radical solution to the so-called ultraviolet catastrophe of blackbody radiation – in which he posited that electromagnetic energy is not a continuous variable, but can only take discrete values, or quanta – also helped to resolve the problem of the apparent instability of the atom. Niels Bohr realised that if an electron's energy was also quantised then the atom could not collapse because electrons must have a non-zero minimum energy.

Our understanding of the atom was further developed by de Broglie who proposed that particles also have a wave-like nature. In this picture only integer wavelengths will be admitted by the electron's orbit, thereby explaining the particular values of the allowed energy levels of the electron within the atom. Heisenberg and Schrödinger developed these concepts further to give a complete description of a particle's quantum state at any instant of time in terms of the wavefunction Ψ . The evolution of the non-relativistic wavefunction is governed by the Schrödinger equation,

$$i\hbar\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\Psi(\mathbf{r},t) = \left[-\frac{\hbar^2}{2m}\nabla^2 + V(\mathbf{r},t)\right]\Psi(\mathbf{r},t),\qquad(12)$$

where $|\Psi(\mathbf{r},t)|^2$ is interpreted as the probability density of finding the particle

xxvi

of mass *m* at a given location **r** at a time *t*. A wave-like description automatically introduces an uncertainty relation, for example between the position *x* and the momentum p_x , known as Heisenberg's uncertainty principle,

$$\Delta x \Delta p_x \ge \frac{\hbar}{2}.\tag{13}$$

A reformulation of quantum mechanics based on a path integral approach was developed by Wiener, Dirac and Feynman [15, 16, 17]. In this interpretation, the probability amplitude A for a particle initially located at x_i at time t_i , to be found at some later time t_f at position x_f is calculated by taking a weighted sum over all possible ways in which this can happen,

$$A(x_i, t_i \to x_f, t_f) = \int_{path} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}S_{path}} = \langle x_f | e^{-\frac{iS_{path}}{\hbar}} | x_i \rangle.$$
(14)

The path integral approach to quantum mechanics has a number of advantages over the traditional Hamiltonian approach. Firstly, the path integral approach is intrinsically symmetric with regard to space and time and so provides a manifestly covariant version of quantum mechanics, therefore admitting the possibility of coordinate change in a straightforward manner [17]. Secondly, the path integral approach can be used to study nonperturbative quantum amplitudes using stochastic importance sampling which is important in the development of many physical theories (e.g., Ref. [18]).

Quantum mechanics has been subjected to high precision measurements for several decades, and no significant discrepancy between theory and experiment has ever been found. For example, the anomalous magnetic moment of the electron *a* given in terms of the *g*-factor is experimentally determined to be [19]

$$a = \frac{g-2}{2} = 0.00115965218073(28), \tag{15}$$

which is in agreement with the value calculated using quantum electrodynamics (QED) [20] to 10 significant figures.

General relativity and quantum mechanics, in their respective domains of applicability, are extremely accurate theories. However, even at a quick glance there exist points of tension that resist a straightforward unification of the two theories. Firstly, the energy-time uncertainty relation coupled with mass-energy

Daniel Coumbe

equivalence implies that the smaller the region of spacetime under consideration the greater the allowed mass of particle-antiparticle pairs in the quantum vacuum. Hence, a prediction of general relativity in combination with the uncertainty principle is that as one probes spacetime on ever decreasing distance scales the geometry becomes increasingly turbulent; eventually creating infinite energy fluctuations as the distance scale is taken to zero. Secondly, the notion of time has fundamentally different meanings in general relativity and ordinary quantum mechanics. In ordinary quantum mechanics, time is an absolute quantity, the passage of which is completely independent of the state of the physical system. In general relativity, however, time is a purely relational concept whose passage is dependent on the particular configuration of the system.

Nature does not appear to encounter any such problems; after all, atoms do fall down in a gravitational field. Physicists tend to think, therefore, that the seeming incompatibility of general relativity and quantum mechanics necessitates the alteration of one or both theories, rather than that nature does not conform to a singular description.

Attempts at unifying general relativity and quantum mechanics have a long history (see Ref. [21] for an excellent overview). As early as 1916, Einstein recognised that his theory of general relativity must be modified to accommodate quantum effects [22] after realising that general relativity predicts that an electron in an atom will radiate away all of its energy in the form of gravitational waves, and eventually collapse on to the nucleus. In 1927, Oscar Klein realised a theory of quantum gravity must lead to a modification of space and time [23]. Technical publications on quantum gravity began appearing in the 1930s, most notably by Fierz and Pauli [24, 25], and by Blokhinstev and Gal'perin [26], whose work first recognised the spin-2 quantum of the gravitational field. In 1938, Heisenberg had the insight that the dimensionality of the gravitational coupling constant is likely to cause problems with a quantum theory of gravity [27].

The 1950s and '60s saw the application of tools recently developed in quantum field theory to the problem of quantum gravity, mainly because of the success in applying these techniques to the quantisation of the other fundamental interactions. Charles Misner introduced the concepts developed in Feynman's path integral approach to quantum mechanics to develop a weighted sum over geometries [28], which was further developed by Feynman [17]. The WheelerDeWitt equation, first published in 1967 [29], describes the wavefunction of the universe by expressing the quantum mechanical Hamiltonian constraint using variables that are dependent on the metric. By the end of the '60s a complete set of Feynman rules for general relativity were known, thus paving the way for 't Hooft and Veltman to apply perturbative quantisation techniques to the gravitational field, eventually showing that the theory is perturbatively nonrenormalisable.

Although gravity was conclusively shown to be perturbatively nonrenormalisable by power counting in the early 70's, several advances were still made by using an approximation to the full theory of quantum gravity, known as semiclassical gravity. Semiclassical gravity is the quantum mechanical treatment of matter content on curved, but still classical, background geometries. In semiclassical gravity the stress-energy-momentum tensor takes on a quantum mechanical expectation value $\langle T_{\mu\nu} \rangle$ giving field equations for semiclassical general relativity,

$$8\pi G_N \langle T_{\mu\nu} \rangle = R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} R.$$
⁽¹⁶⁾

Hawking used semiclassical gravity to study the effect of particleantiparticle pair production near a black hole horizon. Because particles can be viewed as positive energy solutions to Dirac's equation, and antiparticles as negative energy solutions, Hawking was able to calculate the effect of antiparticles quantum mechanically tunnelling inwards through the horizon, or conversely particles tunnelling outwards through the horizon and escaping to infinity [30]. The result is that a black hole of mass M emits a thermal shower of particles with Hawking temperature T_{bh} , given by

$$T_{bh} = \frac{\hbar c^3}{8\pi k_B M G_N}.$$
(17)

This equation implies that the entropy of a black hole S_{BH} is proportional to its surface area *A* and not its volume,

$$S_{BH} = \frac{A}{4l_p^2}.$$
(18)

This so-called Hawking-Bekenstein entropy formula will prove to be important in later discussions.

Daniel Coumbe

A similar phenomenon that can be derived using semiclassical gravity is the Unruh effect, first described in its full mathematical form by Bill Unruh in 1976 [31, 32, 33], whereby an observer with non-zero acceleration a in a Minkowski vacuum will measure a non-zero temperature T_U to be

$$T_U = \frac{\hbar a}{2\pi k_B c}.$$
(19)

This result, which has not yet been experimentally confirmed, implies that the definition of what constitutes a vacuum is dependent on the state of motion of the observer. Semiclassical results such as Hawking radiation, the black hole entropy formula and the Unruh effect show the range of new phenomena that arise when combining quantum mechanics with classical general relativity, and may act as a guiding principle in the formulation of a full theory of quantum gravity.

General relativity has been successfully formulated as an effective quantum field theory that is valid up to some low-energy cut-off scale, usually taken to be the Planck scale. For example, the work of Donoghue [34] uses an effective field theory formulation of gravity to calculate quantum corrections to the gravitational potential between two heavy masses, finding that gravity actually forms the best perturbative theory in nature [34]. However, as one increases the energy scale beyond the cut-off in a perturbative expansion new divergences appear that require an infinite number of counterterm coefficients to define the theory [35]. Since an infinite number of counterterm coefficients cannot be measured in a finite number of experiments the theory loses most of its predictive power at high energy scales. When considering small perturbations about flat Minkowski space one observes that the divergences cancel for one-loop diagrams. However, at the two-loop level and higher, such cancellations do not occur and divergences are once again present. The problem is compounded when one includes matter content, with nonrenormalisability occurring at the one-loop level [36].

A more intuitive way of understanding why gravity is perturbatively nonrenormalisable comes from simple dimensional arguments. Gravity is distinguished from the other fundamental interactions of nature by the fact that its coupling constant G_N is dimensionful. In *d*-dimensional spacetime Newton's gravitational coupling G_N has a mass dimension of $[G_N] = 2 - d$. This means that higher order loop corrections will generate a divergent number of counterterms of ever-increasing dimension. One can clearly see this from the perturbative quantum field theoretic treatment of gravity in d-dimensional space, where ultraviolet divergences at loop order L scale with momentum p as

$$\int p^{A-[G_N]L} dp, \tag{20}$$

where *A* is a process dependent quantity that is independent of *L* [37]. Equation (20) is clearly divergent for $[G_N] < 0$ because the integral will grow without bound as the loop-order *L* increases in the perturbative expansion [37]. It is interesting to note that $[G_N] < 0$ is only true when the dimension of spacetime d > 2. For d = 2 Newton's gravitational coupling, in fact, becomes dimensionless. Therefore, gravity as a perturbative quantum field theory becomes renormalisable by power counting in 2-dimensions. However, in our 4-dimensional universe, this is clearly not the case.

If one includes higher order derivative terms in the gravitational action and performs a resummation, such that the higher order derivative terms are incorporated into the graviton propagator, then gravity is renormalisable by power counting. However, this theory appears to be non-unitary at high energy scales due to the presence of ghost terms containing the wrong sign in the propagator [38]. The ghost poles, however, are of the order of the Planck mass m_P and so the unitarity violations only become significant in the high-energy regime where perturbation theory is already known to break down. This further highlights the need for a nonperturbative theory of quantum gravity.

One can still proceed with the standard perturbative approach by finding some mechanism for reducing the infinite number of couplings to a finite set. One attempt is to directly incorporate supersymmetry into general relativity, forming what has become known as supergravity. Supersymmetry postulates the existence of a fundamental symmetry of nature that exists between fermions and bosons, namely that each boson of integer-spin is associated with a fermion whose spin differs by a half-integer [39]. Applying supersymmetry as a local symmetry constraint in combination with the postulates of general relativity leads to the theory of supergravity. In supergravity every bosonic field is associated with a fermionic field with opposite statistics [40], thus the bosonic spin-2 graviton would have a fermionic supersymmetric partner of spin 3/2, the gravitino. It is hoped that supersymmetry can alleviate some of the ultraviolet divergences via the cancellation of divergent quantities in one field with those in the partner field, resulting in milder ultraviolet divergences, or perhaps even their complete elimination [41].

Viewing supergravity as an effective theory of a much larger superstring theory may resolve the issue of nonrenormalisability in quantum gravity altogether, at least order by order in perturbation theory [41]. Superstring theory posits that 0-dimensional point-like particles are actually 1-dimensional extended strings whose fundamental degrees of freedom are the vibrational modes of the string. In superstring theory discontinuities in standard Feynman diagrams are smoothed out into two-dimensional sheets, and so the infinite energy limit no longer corresponds to the zero distance limit. Divergences previously associated with the zero distance limit simply do not exist in superstring theory because there is no zero distance. Superstring theory is then perturbatively renormalisable, at least order by order in perturbation theory [41]. Supersymmetric string theory has enjoyed a number of successes, such as the emergence of the spin-2 gravitons as a fundamental mode of string oscillation [42, 43], calculations of the entropy of a special class of black holes that agree with the holographic principle and black hole thermodynamics [44, 45, 46], a calculation of the radiation spectrum emitted from black holes that agrees with Hawking radiation [47], as well as passing several nontrivial self-consistency checks. See Refs. [48, 49] for a comprehensive overview of string theory and its connection to other approaches to quantum gravity.

Another approach to quantum gravity adopts the background independent lessons of general relativity as a fundamental starting point and attempts to construct a quantum theory from it. This approach has resulted in Loop Quantum Gravity, which is background independent and therefore nonperturbative from the outset. The major successes of Loop Quantum Gravity include the agreement with Bekenstein's prediction of black hole entropy up to a constant factor [50], and at least in the low energy limit the emergence of spin-2 gravitons [51].

An alternative and more conservative candidate for a theory of quantum gravity comes from the asymptotic safety scenario, as first proposed by Weinberg [37]. If the asymptotic safety scenario is correct, gravity is effectively renormalisable when formulated nonperturbatively because the renormalisation group flow of couplings end on a nontrivial fixed point in the high-energy limit, and therefore remain finite over the entire range of energy scales. Furthermore, the ultraviolet critical surface of the nontrivial fixed point is required to be fi-

Introduction

nite dimensional, and so in principle, gravity would be completely determined by a finite number of couplings up to arbitrarily high energies. Under this scenario, a perturbative expansion around a fixed background metric corresponds to perturbations about the low energy infrared fixed point, and taking the highenergy limit corresponds to following the renormalisation group flow towards the ultraviolet fixed point.
Chapter 1

Scale Transformations

We begin our exploration into the potentially important role of scale in the development of a successful theory of quantum gravity by first looking at the basics of global and local scale transformations.

1.1. Global Scale Transformations

Global scale transformations stretch or shrink distances by the same factor at every point throughout space. A simple example are those little model kits, of say a sailboat, which on the box state something like "1:500 scale kit". What this means, of course, is that if you scale every piece of the model by a factor of 500 you will reproduce the exact size and proportions of the real boat. You can't scale the mast by a factor of 500 and the hull by a factor of 400, as this will distort the shape of the object, and will not define a global scale transformation.

Now, let us try to be a bit more precise and describe a global scale transformation mathematically. To perform a global scale transformation of an object by some factor, for example, our model sailboat by a factor of 2, one needs to scale each point $p = (p_x, p_y, p_z)$ of the object by the same factor $\Omega = (\Omega_x, \Omega_y, \Omega_z)$ in each direction. Such scaling can be represented by a product of matrices via

$$\Omega \cdot p = \begin{bmatrix} \Omega_x & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \Omega_y & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \Omega_z \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} p_x \\ p_y \\ p_z \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \Omega_x p_x \\ \Omega_y p_y \\ \Omega_z p_z \end{bmatrix}, \quad (21)$$

where the scaling factors are equal in each direction under a isotropic global scale transformation, i.e., $\Omega_x = \Omega_y = \Omega_z$. The application of a global scale transformation matrix to a 3-dimensional model boat is illustrated in Fig. 1., where in this case, the object is enlarged by a factor of $\Omega = 2$.



Figure 1. An example of a global scale transformation. The original boat (left) is scaled by a factor of 2, creating the uniformly transformed object (right).

Global scale transformations can be more concisely written as a transformation of spacetime coordinates

$$x^{\mu} \to \tilde{x}^{\mu} = x^{\mu} \Omega, \tag{22}$$

where Ω has the same value at each spacetime point and is thus a constant. Under this scale transformation of spacetime coordinates the metric tensor $g_{\mu\nu}$ transforms via [52]

$$g_{\mu}(x^{\mu}) \to g_{\mu}(x^{\mu})\Omega^2. \tag{23}$$

Are global scale transformations a symmetry of nature? Galileo first discovered a new symmetry of nature in 1632 by considering a thought experiment aboard a ship. Galileo told us to imagine going below decks of the ship and covering up all the windows, isolating the room from the outside. Next, we ask the captain to move at a constant speed over a perfectly calm sea. In this specific case, Galileo argued that we could not possibly know whether the ship was moving. You could perform any number of experiments in this isolated room dropping balls, measuring distances, times and masses—and the results would be indistinguishable from those obtained at any other constant speed, including when the boat is stationary. Galileo found that changing between different constant velocities does not change the laws of physics. Since *symmetry is change without change*, this observation describes an underlying symmetry of nature known as Galilean invariance.

Might we play a similar game, but with scale? Imagine being below deck on our hypothetical ship once again. But this time we magnify everything in the room, including ourselves, by the same scale factor. Is there any experiment we can perform that will tell us if anything has changed? To investigate this question, imagine we have an air-tight box filled with a gas of iodine atoms. We shine a laser into the gas and measure the wavelength λ of the emitted light. We now perform a global scale transformation, magnifying everything within the room by a factor of say two, including the box of gas. Has anything changed?

Well, the wavelength of light emitted by a gas of iodine atoms with twice the volume is not two times longer, it is in fact exactly the same as the original. Although the box containing the atoms is enlarged, the atoms themselves and their associated spectra are fixed due to a fundamental atomic scale. However, the ratio of the size of the emitter (the box of gas) to the wavelength of emitted light λ *does* change with scale. It seems our experiment is capable of distinguishing between before and after the scale transformation. Therefore, the laws of physics are not symmetrical under a change of scale (a fact also discovered by Galileo) [53]. We now know that the essential reason for this asymmetry is the atomic nature of matter. An atom has a definite scale, which breaks scale invariance, at least globally [53].

In fact, it is a commonly held view in modern physics that no global symmetry can be realised in nature, mainly due to the fact that such a symmetry would imply action at a distance [54]. All known global symmetries are either broken (for example parity, time reversal invariance, and charge symmetry), approximate (such as isotropic spin invariance) or the product of a spontaneously broken local symmetry [54]. Given the apparently unnatural status of global scale transformations let's move on to local scale transformations.

1.2. Local Scale Transformations

The power of local symmetries is exemplified by the successes of gauge theories and general relativity. A founding principle of general relativity is a statement of

Daniel Coumbe

local symmetry, the principle of equivalence, in which the laws of physics must be invariant under local spacetime coordinate transformations. Perhaps, then, the fundamental laws of physics might also be invariant with respect to local scale transformations? This question forms an important research direction that we shall return to later, but first, we must define what exactly we mean by a local scale transformation.

Local scale transformations are point-dependent, that is the factor Ω with which a particular spacetime point is rescaled depends on the location of that point. Returning to our ship illustration above, an example of a local scale transformation might be the rescaling of points depending on some function of their distance from an arbitrarily defined origin, say the centre of mass of the ship. Thus, in this case, points near the centre of mass could be rescaled by a smaller factor than those further away. Clearly, a global scale transformation is a specific type of local scale transformation, for which $\Omega(x) = \Omega$.

Local scale transformations act on spacetime coordinates via

$$x^{\mu} \to x^{\mu} \Omega\left(x^{\mu}\right),\tag{24}$$

and on the spacetime metric via

$$g_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu}) \to g'_{\mu\nu}(x'^{\mu}) = g_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu})\Omega^2(x^{\mu}),$$
 (25)

where $\Omega(x^{\mu})$ is a smooth non-vanishing point-dependent function that must lie in the range $0 < \Omega(x^{\mu}) < \infty$ [55].

Conformal transformations are nothing but localised scale transformations that preserve the angle between vectors as a function of scale. That is, given two vectors \mathbf{v} and \mathbf{w} the angle θ between them

$$\boldsymbol{\theta} = \frac{\mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{w}}{(\mathbf{v}^2 \mathbf{w}^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}},\tag{26}$$

is a scale invariant quantity, where $\mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{w} = g_{\mu\nu}v^{\mu}w^{\nu}$. It is interesting to note that the Poincare group, the group of spacetime isometries, is in fact a subgroup of the conformal group, since the metric tensor is left invariant $g'_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu}$ ($\Omega = 1$) [56].

Under a *d*-dimensional infinitesimal coordinate transformation $x^{\mu} \rightarrow x^{\mu} + \varepsilon^{\mu}$ the infinitesimal spacetime interval transforms like

$$ds^2 \to ds^2 + (\partial_\mu \varepsilon_\nu + \partial_\nu \varepsilon_\mu) dx^\mu dx^\nu.$$
⁽²⁷⁾

The constraint of Eq. (5) means that $\partial_{\mu}\epsilon_{\nu} + \partial_{\nu}\epsilon_{\mu}$ must be proportional to the metric $\eta_{\mu\nu}$, more specifically

$$\partial_{\mu}\varepsilon_{\nu} + \partial_{\nu}\varepsilon_{\mu} = \frac{2}{d} \left(\partial \cdot \varepsilon\right) \eta_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (28)$$

where the proportionality constant $\frac{2}{d} (\partial \cdot \varepsilon)$ is set by performing a trace over both sides with $\eta_{\mu\nu}$ [56]. Comparing Eq. (8) with Eq. (5) tells us that

$$\Omega(x) = 1 + \frac{2}{d} \left(\partial \cdot \varepsilon\right). \tag{29}$$

From Eq. (8) we also obtain

$$(\eta_{\mu\nu}\Box + (d-2)\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu})\partial \cdot \varepsilon = 0.$$
(30)

If the number of dimensions *d* is greater than two then Eqs. (9) and (10) imply that the third derivative of ε equals zero, and therefore that ε is at most quadratic in *x* [56].

Finite conformal transformations can be obtained by integrating the infinitesimal expressions. This gives the Poincare group for which $\Omega = 1$, as

$$\begin{aligned} x \to x' &= x + a \\ x \to x' &= \Lambda x, \qquad \left(\Lambda^{\mu}_{\mathbf{v}} \in SO(p,q)\right), \end{aligned} \tag{31}$$

the dilatations as

$$x \to x' = \lambda x, \qquad (\Omega = \lambda^{-2}),$$
 (32)

and the special conformal transformations as

$$x \to x' = \frac{x + bx^2}{1 + 2b \cdot x + b^2 x^2}, \qquad (\Omega(x) = \left(1 + 2b \cdot x + b^2 x^2\right)^2). \tag{33}$$

Special conformal transformations can be seen to be made up of an inversion $x^{\mu} \rightarrow x^{\mu}/x^2$ followed by a translation $x^{\mu} \rightarrow x^{\mu} - b^{\mu}$ followed by a second inversion, namely

Daniel Coumbe

$$\frac{x'^{\mu}}{x'^2} = \frac{x^{\mu}}{x^2} - b^{\mu}.$$
(34)

In 1909, Bateman and Cunningham demonstrated that Maxwell's equations of electromagnetism are not only Lorentz invariant but also scale and conformal invariant. Consider two inertial coordinates systems S(x, y, z, t) and S'(x', y', z', t') consistent with an invariant speed of light. If a point moves with speed *c* in system *S* and is displaced an amount (dx, dy, dz) in a time *dt*, then

$$dx^2 + dy^2 + dz^2 - c^2 dt^2 = 0.$$
 (35)

Similarly, if (dx', dy', dz') is the displacement of the same point observed in frame S' in a time dt', then

$$dx'^{2} + dy'^{2} + dz'^{2} - c^{2}dt'^{2} = 0.$$
(36)

However, by differentiating the functional relations connecting S(x, y, z, t) and S'(x', y', z', t') we find that $dx'^2 + dy'^2 + dz'^2 - c^2 dt'^2$ is a homogeneous quadratic function of (dx, dy, dz, dt) [57]. This means that we must have

$$dx^{\prime 2} + dy^{\prime 2} + dz^{\prime 2} - c^2 dt^{\prime 2} \equiv \Omega^2(x^{\mu})(dx^2 + dy^2 + dz^2 - c^2 dt^2), \quad (37)$$

where $\Omega(x^{\mu})$ is the linear magnification and is a function of the spacetime coordinates x^{μ} alone [57].

Assuming that the application of such a transformation does not alter the shape of any elemental volume then this is a conformal transformation [57]. It has been shown that all conformal transformations exist in three possible classes, depending on the particular definition of $\Omega(x^{\mu})$ [57]. The first class is defined by $\Omega = 1$, which is the Lorentz group. The second class is defined by a constant Ω other than unity, which is the group of global scale transformations. The third class is defined by $\Omega(x^{\mu}) = k^2/(r^2 - c^2t^2)$, where *k* is the radius of inversion of a 4-dimensional hypersphere [57], giving the group of conformal transformations consistent with inversion symmetry. Poincare and Einstein argued that only the $\Omega = 1$ (Lorentz group) case is symmetric with respect to all laws of nature, while the laws of optics and electrodynamics alone are invariant under the group of conformal transformations. We shall touch upon this point again in chapter 7.

Chapter 2

Fractals

2.1. The Coastline Paradox

Fractals are everywhere. Once you study and understand this beautiful mathematical structure, you can't help but see it everywhere in nature. Broccoli, rivers, snowflakes, lightning and sea shells are all examples of commonly occurring fractals. Put simply, an object is said to be fractal if it exhibits self-similarity at different distance scales, that is zooming in on any particular part of a fractal object reproduces the same geometric structure as the whole. A river viewed from space has the same tendril-like structure as one of its tributaries viewed from an aeroplane. Snap off a piece of Broccoli and it will have the same tree-like structure as the whole. The cover image of this book is a beautiful example of a particular fractal known as a quadratic Julia set, which is defined by points in the complex plane under the mapping $z \rightarrow z^2 + c$, with the complex number c given by c = -0.79 + 0.15I. Zooming in on any particular region of this image yields the same geometric structure at larger scales, the hallmark of a fractal. More precisely, a fractal is defined as a set for which the measured dimension strictly departs from the topological dimension.

As an example, consider trying to measure the length of the coastline of Great Britain. Imagine that the only equipment you are given is a 1km measuring stick. Painstakingly, you make your way around the entire coastline carefully placing the stick end-to-end, until finally obtaining a result. Now you are given a much shorter 1m measuring stick. Small indentations and coastal fea-

tures that could not previously be measured now become accessible; the length you now measure is bigger. After a few such iterations you notice that the length of the coastline depends on the length of the stick you use to measure it; the smaller the stick, the smaller the features you can resolve and the longer the measured coastline. It is just as meaningless to ask what is the speed of a body without specifying a reference object, as it is to ask what is the length of a coastline without specifying a reference scale.

The mathematician Benoit Mandelbrot detailed this so-called coastline paradox in a 1967 *Science* publication [58]. Mandelbrot, building on the earlier work of Lewis Richardson [59], came up with an empirical law

$$L(\Delta x) = C\Delta x^{1-D_H},\tag{38}$$

describing how the measured length $L(\Delta x)$ depends on the measurement scale Δx , where *C* is a positive constant and D_H is known as the Hausdorff dimension, which is equal to or greater than unity. A perfectly smooth and regular coastline would have a Hausdorff dimension of $D_H = 1$. The more irregular and fractal a coastline is, the greater the departure of the dimensionality from $D_H = 1$. Thus, one can quantify the fractal nature of a given geometry by its Hausdorff dimension. We now proceed to define and discuss various measures of the fractal dimension in more detail, including the Hausdorff dimension.

2.2. Fractal Dimensions

2.2.1. The Topological Dimension

The standard non-fractal definition of dimension is given by the familiar topological dimension D_T , which can be determined by simply counting the minimum number of coordinates to uniquely specify an event. For example, the topological dimension of a line is one and the topological dimension of a plane is two, with the value always being an integer. However, the validity of the topological dimension comes into question when considering a fractal geometry, in which dimensionality may deviate from the number of topological dimensions. In this section, we review a number of ways of defining the fractal dimension of a geometry that are relevant to this work.

2.2.2. The Hausdorff Dimension

The Hausdorff dimension, first proposed by Felix Hausdorff in 1918 [60], generalises the concept of dimension to non-integer values, thereby enabling one to quantify the dimension of a fractal geometry. To motivate a mathematical definition of the Hausdorff dimension we consider self-similarity and dimension under scale transformations. Take a line of length r and stretch it by a factor of three via a global scale transformation. The resulting line has a length of 3r. Now take a circle of area A and scale its radius r by a factor of three. The new circle has an area of 9A. Next, take a sphere of volume V and again scale the radius r by a factor of three, obtaining a sphere with a volume of 27V. This simple set of scale transformations is depicted in Fig. 2., and the results are tabulated in Table 2..



Figure 2. A schematic describing how the Hausdorff dimension is determined. The left-hand column shows a line segment with topological dimension 1. The line segment undergoes a scale transformation from r = 1 to r = 3. The central column shows a circle of topological dimension 2 whose area increases by a factor of 9 under such a scale transformation. The right-hand column shows a sphere with topological dimension 3, whose volume increases by a factor of 27 under such a scale transformation [1].

Table 2.: A table showing how the volume of a sphere with topological dimension D_T scales with radius r

D_T	r	V
1	3	3
2	3	9
3	3	27

As can be seen from Table 2. the relationship between the D_T -dimensional volume and the radius *r* is given by

$$V \propto r^{D_T}.$$
 (39)

Rearranging so that D_T is on the left-hand side, and taking the limit $r \rightarrow 0$, gives us the mathematical definition of the Hausdorff dimension as,

$$D_H = \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{\ln\left(\mathbf{V}\left(\mathbf{r}\right)\right)}{\ln\left(\mathbf{r}\right)}.$$
(40)

2.2.3. The Spectral Dimension

Another measure of the fractal dimension of a space is the spectral dimension. The spectral dimension D_S defines the effective dimension of a fractal geometry and is related to the probability $P_r(\sigma)$ that a random walk will return to its origin after σ steps.

We can obtain an intuitive understanding of why the probability of return must be related to dimensionality by considering a random walk on a two and three-dimensional square lattice, as shown in Fig. 3.. In two dimensions, at every point the random walker has four options to pick from; he can either go forward, backward, left or right (assuming he cannot remain at the same point). In three dimensions, the random walker has six options to choose from; the same four as before plus one up and one down. So, in a higher number of dimensions, the random walker is less likely to return to their origin after a given number of steps, simply because there are more options.



Figure 3. A random walk consisting of 10^4 diffusion steps in 2-dimensions (upper) and 3-dimensions (lower).

One can derive the spectral dimension (following Refs. [8, 61]) starting from the *d*-dimensional diffusion equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma} K_g(\zeta_0, \zeta, \sigma) - g^{\mu\nu} \bigtriangledown_\mu \bigtriangledown_\nu K_g(\zeta_0, \zeta, \sigma) = 0, \tag{41}$$

where K_g is known as the heat kernel and describes the probability density of diffusion from ζ_0 to ζ in a fictitious diffusion time σ . \bigtriangledown is the covariant derivative of the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$. The diffusion process is taken over a *d*-dimensional closed Riemannian manifold *M* with a smooth metric $g_{\mu\nu}(\zeta)$. In the case of an infinite flat Euclidean space, Eq. (4) has the simple solution,

$$K_g\left(\zeta_0, \zeta, \sigma\right) = \frac{\exp\left(-d_g^2\left(\zeta, \zeta_0\right)/4\sigma\right)}{\left(4\pi\sigma\right)^{d/2}},\tag{42}$$

where $d_g^2(\zeta, \zeta_0)$ is the geodesic distance between ζ and ζ_0 .

The quantity that is measured in numerical simulations of the spectral dimension is the probability $P_r(\sigma)$ that the diffusion process will return to a randomly chosen origin after σ diffusion steps over the spacetime volume $V = \int d^d \zeta \sqrt{\det(g(\zeta))}$,

$$P_r(\sigma) = \frac{1}{V} \int d^d \zeta \sqrt{\det(g(\zeta))} K_g(\zeta_0, \zeta, \sigma).$$
(43)

The probability of returning to the origin in infinitely flat space is then just,

$$P_r(\sigma) = \frac{1}{\sigma^{d/2}},\tag{44}$$

and so one can extract the spectral dimension D_S by taking the logarithmic derivative with respect to the diffusion time, giving

$$D_{S} = -2\frac{d\log P_{r}(\sigma)}{d\log \sigma}.$$
(45)

Note that Eq. (8) is only strictly valid for an infinitely flat Euclidean space. However, one can still use this definition of the spectral dimension to compute the fractal dimension of a curved, or finite volume, by factoring in the appropriate corrections for large diffusion times σ .

The need for such a correction can be intuitively explained by realising that the volume of the lattice is proportional to the number of lattice sites, and so as the number of diffusion steps increases relative to the volume, the probability that the random walk will sample all available lattice sites at least once approaches unity, sending D_S to zero. More mathematically, the zero mode of the Laplacian $-\Delta_g$, which determines the behaviour of $P_r(\sigma)$ via its eigenvalues λ_n , will dominate the diffusion in this region, causing $P_r(\sigma) \rightarrow 1$ for very large σ [8]. One can, therefore, factor in the appropriate finite volume corrections by omitting values of $D_S(\sigma)$ for which σ is greater than some cut-off value that is proportional to the lattice volume. The curvature of the space on which the diffusion process occurs should also be corrected for due to the fact that it will change the probability that the diffusion process will return to the origin [8]. These, and other corrections to the spectral dimension will be discussed in more detail in section 7.2.2.

2.2.4. The Walk Dimension

The average square displacement $\langle r^2 \rangle$ for Brownian motion in flat space increases linearly with time *T*. This can be demonstrated by determining the expectation value of the probability density of the heat kernel of Eq. (5), which gives

$$\langle r^2 \rangle \equiv \langle x^2 \rangle = \int d^d x K_g(x,0;T) x^2 \propto T,$$
(46)

where we have expressed K_g in terms of T and x rather than the parameters σ and ζ used in the definition of the spectral dimension above (Eq. (8)). Diffusion processes on fractals are in general anomalous, and so the linear relationship $\langle r^2 \rangle \propto T$ is generalised to the power law $\langle r^2 \rangle \propto T \frac{2}{D_w}$ for $D_w \neq 2$, where the exponent D_w is the walk dimension [62].

A more intuitive definition of the walk dimension D_w is the fractal dimension of the path traced out by a random walker, as depicted in Fig. 3..

2.2.5. Myrheim-Meyer Dimension

The Myrheim-Meyer dimension is particularly useful as it is valid in Lorentzian spacetime [63, 64], which will prove helpful in later discussions of causal set theory in particular. Consider two causally related points a and b, with a in the causal past of b, in d-dimensional Minkowski spacetime. The intersection of the future of a and the past of b defines an interval I[a, b], known as the Alexandrov

Daniel Coumbe

interval. A point *r* in the interval I[a, b], for which *a* is in the past of *r* and *b* is in the future of *r*, forms two new smaller intervals, I[a, r] and I[r, b]. The volume of these intervals obey a scaling relation [65]

$$\frac{\langle \operatorname{Vol}(\mathbf{I}[\mathbf{r},\mathbf{b}])\rangle_{\mathbf{r}}}{\operatorname{Vol}(\mathbf{I}[\mathbf{a},\mathbf{b}])} = \frac{\Gamma(d+1)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}{4\Gamma\left(\frac{3d}{2}\right)}.$$
(47)

One can, therefore, extract the dimension d from Eq. (10). This dimension can be generalised to arbitrary spacetimes to give a Lorentzian scaling dimension D_{MM} , known as the Myrheim-Meyer dimension. If the spacetime is not flat then curvature corrections can be added [66].

2.2.6. Correlation Dimension

The correlation dimension D_c quantifies the dimensionality associated with a random distribution of points in a *n*-dimensional space. Given a set of *P* points in a *n*-dimensional space

$$\overrightarrow{x}(i) = \{x_1(i), x_2(i), x_3(i), \dots, x_n(i)\}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, P,$$
(48)

then the correlation integral C(r) is given by

$$C(r) = \lim_{P \to \infty} \frac{N(< r)}{P^2},$$
(49)

where N(< r) is the number of pairs of points that are separated by a distance less than *r*. In the limit $P \rightarrow \infty$, the correlation integral for small values of *r* can be approximated by

$$C(r) \sim r^{D_c},\tag{50}$$

where D_c is the correlation dimension.

The correlation dimension has a number of advantages over other definitions of the fractal dimension, such as being simple and easy to compute in a wide range of cases and being significantly less noisy when restricted to small data sets (small values of *P*).

2.3. Fractals Above Us and Below Us

We now take a look at two examples of fractal behaviour that have been observed at cosmological and quantum mechanical scales, utilising some of the measures of dimensionality discussed above.

2.3.1. Fractals in Cosmology

A founding principle of modern cosmology is the assumption that the spatial distribution of matter is homogeneous and isotropic over sufficiently large distance scales, known as the cosmological principle. At scales larger than $400h^{-1}Mpc$ observations confirm the statistical homogeneity and isotropy of galaxy distributions [67]. However, over smaller distance scales the universe does not obey the cosmological principle, with galaxies being unevenly distributed between dense clusters and vast voids, as evidenced by the red-shift survey *Las Campanas* [68] and others.¹

It has been noted by a number of authors that the clustering of galaxies is ideally suited to a fractal description, since clumpiness in the spatial distribution of matter persists over a large range of distance scales [69, 70]. Modelling the universe using fractal geometry is useful because it allows the quantification of galaxy clustering via a fractal correlation dimension D_c , which is defined as

$$D_c = \frac{d\ln(N(
(51)$$

where N(< R) is the number of galaxies within a distance *R* from a given reference galaxy.

A perfectly homogeneous distribution of matter should have a dimensionality of $D_c = 3$. However, various observations have measured the fractal dimension associated with the distribution of galaxies to be between $D_c = 1.2 - 2.93$ at distances smaller than $400h^{-1}Mpc$ [67], well below the homogeneous value of $D_c = 3$. Over the largest measured distances of $300 - 400h^{-1}Mpc$ the fractal dimension was found to be $D_c = 2.93$ [71], very close to the homogeneous value. Between $30 - 60h^{-1}Mpc$ the value is within the range $D_c = 2.7 - 2.9$ [72], for $1 - 10h^{-1}Mpc$ it is $D_c = 2.25$ [73] and for the smallest measured distances of

¹Note that we are talking exclusively about the distribution of visible matter, not dark matter.

Daniel Coumbe

 $1-3.5h^{-1}Mpc$ it is $D_c = 1.2$ [74]. Clearly, the distribution of luminous matter is highly fractal on small scales but slowly approaches a smooth homogeneous and isotropic geometry over sufficiently large distances.

2.3.2. Fractals in Quantum Mechanics

Consider an experiment in which we measure the path length of a free quantum mechanical particle by measuring the particle's position with a spatial resolution Δx at sequential time intervals Δt [75]. Classically, the path will be a straight line of Hausdorff dimension $D_H = 1$ connecting the start and end points. Quantum mechanically, however, we must define the path by joining straight lines between the centres of regions in which the particle is known to exist. In the quantum mechanical paradigm, the particle's path is expected to become increasingly erratic as a consequence of confining the particle within a decreasing radius Δx . Furthermore, in quantum mechanics, we can only define a particle's path in a statistical sense, and so we introduce a notation for the expectation value of a particle's path $\langle l \rangle$.

We measure the position of a particle at times $t_N = t_0 + N\Delta t$, with $T = t_N - t_0 = N\Delta t$. The length of the particle's path will then be

$$\langle l \rangle = N \langle \Delta l \rangle, \tag{52}$$

where $\langle \Delta l \rangle$ is the average distance a particle travels in a time Δt . Here we consider a particle whose total average momentum is zero, so as to make the example similar to a typical diffusion process, which involve random walks with no preferred direction. The wavefunction of a particle measured to be initially located at the origin is given by

$$\Psi_{\Delta x}(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{\left(\Delta x\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}}{\hbar^3} \int_{\Re^3} \frac{d^3 p}{2\pi^{3/2}} f\left(\frac{|\mathbf{p}|\Delta x}{\hbar}\right) \exp\left(i\mathbf{p}x/\hbar\right).$$
(53)

By defining a dimensionless vector $\mathbf{k} = \mathbf{p}(\Delta x) / \hbar$, we can write the normalisation condition for the wavefunction as

$$\int_{\Re^3} d^3k |f(|\mathbf{k}|)|^2 = 1.$$
(54)

Fractals

We keep Δt fixed and allow Δx to vary. In this case $f(|\mathbf{k}|)$ in Eq. (17) can be approximated by a Gaussian with the result

$$\langle \Delta l \rangle = \frac{\zeta \hbar \Delta t}{m \Delta x} \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{2m \left(\Delta x\right)^2}{\hbar \Delta t}\right)^2}.$$
 (55)

Where ζ is a constant of proportionality. Since $\langle l \rangle = N \langle \Delta l \rangle$ and $T = N \Delta t$, we can write

$$\langle l \rangle = \frac{\zeta \hbar T}{m \Delta x} \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{2m \left(\Delta x\right)^2}{\hbar \Delta t}\right)^2}.$$
 (56)

We now compare the path lengths in the classical limit L (i.e., when the particle's position is only measured at the start and end points of the diffusion, which are sufficiently separated in space), and in the quantum mechanical limit $\langle l \rangle$, finding

$$\frac{\langle l \rangle}{L} = \frac{\langle l \rangle}{vT} = \frac{\zeta \hbar}{mv\Delta x} \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{2m\left(\Delta x\right)^2}{\hbar\Delta t}\right)^2}.$$
(57)

Using the relations $\Delta t = T/N$, T = L/v and the definition of the de Broglie wavelength $\lambda_d = \hbar/(mv)$ we obtain

$$\frac{\langle l \rangle}{L} = \frac{\zeta \lambda_d}{\Delta x} \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{4\left(\Delta x\right)^4 N^2}{\lambda_d^2 L^2}\right)}.$$
(58)

Defining $X \equiv \Delta x / \lambda_d$ and using the Hausdorff definition of resolution $N\Delta x = L$ gives

$$\frac{\langle l \rangle}{L} = \frac{\zeta}{X}\sqrt{1+4X^2} = \zeta\sqrt{4+\frac{1}{X^2}}.$$
(59)

Since, in the classical limit we must have $\langle l \rangle / L = 1$ we can determine that $\zeta = 1/2$, yielding

$$\frac{\langle l \rangle}{L} = \sqrt{1 + \frac{1}{4X^2}}.$$
(60)

Using Hausdorff's definition of a scale invariant length L defined via

$$\langle L \rangle = \langle l \rangle \left(\Delta x \right)^{D_H - 1},$$
(61)

we can transfer any scale dependence to the Hausdorff dimension D_H [75]. Equation (24) can be rearranged to give

$$D_H = \frac{\ln\left(\langle L \rangle / \langle l \rangle\right)}{\ln\left(\Delta x\right)} + 1.$$
(62)

Substituting Eq. (22) into Eq. (53) therefore gives an expression for how the Hausdorff dimension D_H changes as a function of distance scale Δx as

$$D_H = \frac{\ln\left(\left(1 + \frac{\lambda_d^2}{4\Delta x^2}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right)}{\ln\left(\Delta x\right)} + 1.$$
(63)

In the classical limit $\Delta x \to \infty$, Eq. (26) gives $D_H \to 1$, as one would expect from a classical path. However, in the limit $\Delta x \to 0$ we find that $D_H \to 2$. Therefore, quantum mechanical paths are fractal with a scale dependent Hausdorff dimension [75]. This conclusion was also suggested by Feynman and Hibbs who showed that quantum mechanical trajectories follow discontinuous nowhere differentiable paths, and thus have similarities with fractal curves [17].

Chapter 3

A Minimum Scale?

3.1. Atoms of Spacetime

Take a piece of string and cut it in half. Then half this half. If one keeps cutting the string with a hypothetical pair of scissors will we ever reach a minimum length? Well, eventually one would be left with just one atom. The ancient Greek philosopher Democritus is well-known for hypothesising the existence of atoms or *indivisibles*, quipping that "Nothing exists except atoms and empty space; everything else is opinion." However, it took until the 1800s for evidence of the existence of atoms to appear, and not until the early 1900s did Einstein convince the scientific community as a whole.

In fact, we do not need to perform elaborate experiments involving the hypothetical cutting of string. The existence of atoms can be deduced even at everyday scales. This insight is due to the Austrian physicist Ludwig Boltzmann who pointed out that a glass of water, for example, must be composed of microscopic degrees of freedom (atoms) due to the fact that it can be heated. The very fact that a glass of water can store heat energy and therefore have a temperature implies that it must have an associated entropy. As pointed out by Boltzmann, entropy S is proportional to the number of microscopic degrees of freedom W, in particular

$$S = k_B \ln\left(\mathbf{W}\right),\tag{64}$$

where $k_B \approx 1.38 \times 10^{-23} J/K$ is the Boltzmann constant. Thus, the simple fact

that water can be heated implies that matter must be comprised of microscopic degrees of freedom (atoms) [76]. As we shall soon see, a similar argument can be made for atoms of spacetime.

Returning to our string cutting experiment, we know that we will eventually reach an individual atom. But what then? What if we continue to divide? Is there some minimum possible distance, an atom of spacetime? It is known that the atom consists of proton's, neutrons and electrons. But the proton and neutron are themselves made of more elementary constituents, called quarks. Quarks and electrons, according to modern physics are elementary particles of zero size. However, quantum field theory tells us that elementary particles are more accurately pictured as a cloud of virtual particles filling the space around a point-like object. So, what if we keep dividing space itself into ever smaller pieces? Contemporary research suggests that we will eventually encounter a minimal length, an atom of spacetime, known as the Planck length. We review the numerous arguments in favour of an atomic spacetime in section 3.2., but before that, we briefly examine what the thermodynamics of spacetime might tell us about a minimal length.

In 1972, the late Stephen Hawking proved that when any two black holes merge the resulting black hole must have a surface area that is greater than or equal to the sum of the individual black holes, leading to the conclusion that the surface area of the event horizon of a black hole *A* can never decrease $dA/dt \ge 0$. This conclusion is strikingly reminiscent of the second law of thermodynamics which states that entropy of an isolated system can never decrease $dS/dt \ge 0$.

Inspired by Hawking's ideas, Jakob Bekenstein made the audacious hypothesis that the entropy of a black hole was proportional to the area of its event horizon. Bekenstein considered firing a single photon of energy $E = \omega$ into a black hole with a gravitational radius of $r_S = 2G_Nm$ [77, 78, 79]. Making the wavelength of the photon comparable to the size of the black hole ensures that we add only one bit of information since in this case, we have no information on where exactly the photon entered the horizon, only whether or not it did. Thus, the incident photon of wavelength $\lambda \approx r_S$ and energy $E \approx 1/(r_S)$ increases the mass of the black hole by $\delta m = 1/(r_S)$, which changes the area of the horizon by

$$\delta A = r_S \delta r_S = C l_P^2, \tag{65}$$

where C is a constant of proportionality and $l_P^2 = G_N$.

The entropy of a black hole is a measure of the amount of inaccessible information. Thus, sending one bit of information into the black hole must increase its entropy since that bit of information has become inaccessible. Bekenstein argued that we should then equate the increase in horizon area A with an increase in entropy S due to the hidden bit of information, leading to the equality

$$S = \frac{k_B A}{C A_P},\tag{66}$$

where $A_P = l_P^2$ is the Planck area and *C* is an undetermined constant of proportionality.

According to the laws of thermodynamics, anything that has an entropy must also have a temperature. Hawking pounced on this simple fact. Using semiclassical gravity he showed that black holes must emit thermal radiation at a specific temperature

$$T = \frac{\hbar c^3}{8\pi k_B M G_N},\tag{67}$$

and in the process determined Bekenstein's constant of proportionality as C = 1/4, giving

$$S_{BH} = \frac{k_B A}{4A_P}.$$
(68)

Heat is nothing more than the random jiggling of microscopic components. As we have seen black hole horizons are thermodynamical objects; they have a temperature, entropy, and an associated heat content. Therefore, event horizons should be made up of microscopic constituents that can store this heat content, just as a glass of water stores heat in the motion of atoms. Furthermore, since a black hole's horizon is merely empty spacetime, the microscopic constituents of the horizon must be parts of spacetime itself. The very fact that black holes can be heated up or cooled down suggests that spacetime is comprised of microscopic degrees of freedom—atoms of spacetime [76].

3.2. Evidence for a Minimal Length

Presumably, an atom of spacetime requires an atom of length. Here, we review the evidence for a minimum length scale using arguments that are mainly independent of any particular approach to quantum gravity.

3.2.1. A Lower Bound on Distance Measurements

Under a plausible set of assumptions, Wigner and Salecker [80] demonstrated in a straightforward way why one should expect a lower bound on any distance measurement. Wigner and Salecker start by assuming a universal speed of light and set about detailing the practical limitations of any length measurement. The authors ask us to consider a clock of mass M that periodically emits photons, which reflect off a mirror positioned at a distance D from the clock and return to their source. Given the photon's time-of-flight as recorded by the clock, coupled with the universal speed of light, it is then possible to determine the distance D. But can D be measured with arbitrary precision?

Let's say that we know the position of the clock to within a distance Δx when it initially emits the photon. Therefore, due to the uncertainty principle, this means that we cannot possibly know the velocity of the clock to a precision greater than

$$\Delta v = \frac{1}{2M\Delta x}.$$
(69)

Since the photon takes a time T = 2D/c to complete its return trip to the mirror, the clock has then moved a distance $T\Delta v$, giving a total position uncertainty Δx_{total} for the clock of

$$\Delta x_{total} = \Delta x + \frac{T}{2M\Delta x},\tag{70}$$

which of course sets a limit on the precision with which we can possibly measure *D*. Variation with respect to Δx gives the minimum uncertainty Δx_{min} with which *D* can be known as [81]

$$\Delta x_{min} = \sqrt{\frac{T}{2M}}.$$
(71)

Now, if our measurement of *D* is smaller than the Schwarzschild radius $r_S = 2G_N M$ of a black hole of mass *M* then the measurement will be causally disconnected from the rest of the universe. Thus, substituting the condition $D > 2G_N M$ into Eq. (8) using T = 2D/c sets a lower bound on distance measurements of

$$\Delta x_{\min} \ge l_P,\tag{72}$$

where we have used $G_N = l_P^2$.

3.2.2. Black Hole Limitations

Scardigli has put forward a gedanken experiment involving micro-black holes that seems to demonstrate the inherent limitations of measuring infinitesimally small distance scales [82].

At the remote Planck scale spacetime permits large fluctuations of the metric tensor which is typically modelled as a spacetime foam of virtual microscopic black holes. This model of quantum foam was originally proposed by John Archibald Wheeler in 1955 [83] and has since been used to compute many different properties of quantum gravity [84, 85], most notably providing an explanation for the microscopic origin of black hole entropy [86, 87]. Following Ref. [82], we shall now show how the formation of such microscopic black holes affects the process of measuring small distance scales.

Our starting point is the standard Heisenberg uncertainty relation $\Delta p \Delta x \geq \hbar/2$. Since at very high energies we have $\Delta E \sim c \Delta p$ we can then rewrite the standard inequality as $\Delta E \Delta x \geq \hbar c/2$. This modified inequality tells us that when one observes a region of spatial extent Δx the spacetime metric within that region is expected to be subject to quantum fluctuations of energy $\Delta E \sim \hbar c/(2\Delta x)$. The gravitational radius R_g associated with the energy ΔE is of course

$$R_g = \frac{2G\Delta E}{c^4},\tag{73}$$

which is usually much smaller than the spatial extent Δx .

However, we now imagine compressing the observed region, which increases the amplitude of energy fluctuations ΔE and hence enlarges the associated gravitational radius R_g via Eq. (10), until eventually it attains the same

Daniel Coumbe

width Δx . This critical length occurs at the Planck length l_p , or conversely at the Planck energy E_p , at which point a microscopic black hole forms [88] preventing the measurement of any distance smaller than its Schwarzschild radius. Attempting to probe even smaller distance scales by increasing the energy beyond $\Delta E = E_p$ simply results in a larger gravitational radius and thereby a larger minimum observable distance. In this scenario, the minimum observable distance is therefore l_p .

As pointed out in Ref. [82] it is important to note that this does not necessarily mean that spacetime is discrete, in fact, the continuity of spacetime holds up to any length in this gedanken experiment, it merely indicates the inability to measure an infinitesimal length. Whether or not something exists if it cannot be measured is an interesting question that has appeared many times in the history of physics, most notably in arguments surrounding the existence of a spacetime aether.

In the example above we found that distance measurements have a lower bound due to the formation of black holes. Might there also exist a limit to the precision with which the black hole itself can be measured? A simple argument suggests that the answer to this question is yes [89]. For a black hole with a mass M approaching the Planck mass, the associated gravitational radius $R_g \sim G_N M$ approaches its Compton wavelength $\lambda \sim 1/M$. At this point, the definition of the Schwarzschild horizon becomes blurred due to the large uncertainty in the position of the black hole.

This simple argument can be made a little more precise by following the work of Maggiore [90]. Suppose we wish to measure the horizon area of a non-rotating black hole with charge Q and mass M. In Boyer–Lindquist coordinates, the horizon is located at the radius

$$R = G_N M \left(1 + \left(1 - \frac{Q^2}{G_N M^2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right).$$
 (74)

Maggiore considers attempting to determine the horizon area of the black hole by measuring its Hawking radiation, tracking it back to its localised point of origin with the greatest precision possible. Here we are considering an extremal black hole $Q^2 = G_N M^2$ for which the temperature is zero. Individual photons are fired at the black hole from asymptotic infinity and are subsequently re-emitted as Hawking radiation at some later time. In addition to the usual uncertainty in the location of the horizon due to the finite wavelength $\lambda = c/\omega$ of the emitted photon, there is an additional uncertainty due to the change in the black holes mass from $M + \omega$ to M during emission, causing a change in the horizon radius. Since the energy of the photon is only known to a precision Δp the error propagates into the uncertainty in horizon radius [81]

$$\Delta R \sim \left| \frac{\partial R}{\partial M} \right| \Delta p. \tag{75}$$

Assuming naked singularities are forbidden in nature $M^2G_N \leq Q^2$ and using Eq. (11) we find

$$\Delta R \gtrsim 2G_N \Delta p. \tag{76}$$

Maggiore then argues that the simplest way to combine the standard uncertainty $(\propto 1/\Delta p)$ with this additional uncertainty $(\propto G_N \Delta p)$ is to linearly add them, giving

$$\Delta R \gtrsim \frac{1}{\Delta p} + \beta G_N \Delta p, \tag{77}$$

where β is a constant of proportionality that must be fixed by a particular theory of quantum gravity. Minimising the position uncertainty ΔR in Eq. (14) with respect to the momentum uncertainty Δp yields a minimum value

$$\Delta R \approx \beta l_p. \tag{78}$$

3.2.3. Heisenberg's Microscope

Heisenberg first derived a version of the position-momentum uncertainty principle by considering how to measure the position of an electron using a microscope. The precision with which one can determine the position of an electron Δx is limited by the wavelength λ of the electromagnetic wave one uses to make the measurement, $\Delta x \approx \lambda$. Due to the quantisation of the electromagnetic field into photons with discrete momenta $p = \hbar/\lambda$, a photon scattering from an electron must impart a non-zero component of its momentum to the electron, thereby introducing a non-zero uncertainty Δp . Thus, the position-momentum

Daniel Coumbe

uncertainty principle is an inescapable consequence of making measurements using discrete momentum carrying particles. The standard position-momentum uncertainty principle is given by

$$\Delta p \ge \frac{\hbar}{2\Delta x}.\tag{79}$$

However, Eq. (16) is almost certainly incomplete, as it does not account for gravitational interactions induced by the act of observation [91, 90, 92, 93]. Since any scattering particle must have non-zero momentum it must also have non-zero energy. The gravitational field of the scattering particle must then cause a non-zero acceleration of the electron, thus perturbing its original position. This gravitational contribution to uncertainty seems an inevitable result of combining general relativity and quantum mechanics and is consequently considered a likely feature of quantum gravity.

Consider trying to measure the distance between two point-like particles via the scattering of electromagnetic radiation. We can estimate the magnitude of perturbations about flat Minkowksi spacetime using linearised general relativity which defines the metric tensor via

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (80)$$

where $h_{\mu\nu}$ describes a small perturbation $(|h_{\mu\nu}| \ll 1)$ about the Minkowksi metric $\eta_{\mu\nu}$. The field equations of linearised general relativity are

$$\Box \left[h_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \eta_{\mu\nu} h \right] = -\frac{8\pi G}{c^4} T_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (81)$$

where $h \equiv \eta^{\mu\nu} h_{\mu\nu} = h_{\alpha}^{\alpha}$ and $\Box = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial(ct)^2} - \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} - \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2} - \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z^2}$, with the Lorentz gauge condition

$$\left[h_{\mu}^{\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\mu}^{\nu}h\right]_{\nu} = 0.$$
(82)

For electromagnetic radiation, such as that used in our measurement of distance, moving in the *x*-direction the energy-momentum tensor is

$$T_{muv} = F_{\mu\alpha}F_{\nu}^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{4}F_{\alpha\beta}F^{\alpha\beta} = \rho \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -1 & 0 & 0\\ -1 & 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$
(83)

where $\rho = (E^2 + B^2)/2$ is the energy density of the incident radiation field. Using this energy-momentum tensor we obtain an inhomogeneous solution involving only one unknown function f

Choosing this density to be a product of components $\rho = \rho_{\parallel} + \rho_{\perp}$ implies $f = f_{\parallel} + f_{\perp}$, with

$$\left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z^2}\right) f_{\perp}(y, z) = \left(\frac{8\pi G}{c^4}\right) \rho_{\perp}, \qquad f_{\parallel} = \rho_{\parallel}.$$
(85)

By characterising the incident envelope of electromagnetic radiation as a cylinder of length L and radius R this gives (in cylindrical coordinates)

$$f = \frac{4G(E/c^2)}{L}g(r)\theta_L = \frac{4Gp}{c^3L}g(r)\theta_L.$$
(86)

Using Eqs. (21) and (23) the spacetime metric (with a signature (+, -, -, -)) can then be shown to take the simple form

$$ds^{2} = c^{2}dt^{2} - \left(dx^{2} + dy^{2} + dz^{2}\right) + f\left(cdt - dx\right)^{2}.$$
(87)

Since near the cylinder $g(r) \approx 1$ the deviation of the metric from Lorentzian is $\sim 4Gp/c^3L$, which again results in a minimum distance [91, 81, 93]

$$\Delta x_{min} \approx l_P. \tag{88}$$

3.2.4. High-Energy Convergence

It is well known that a minimal distance is capable of curing one of the biggest sicknesses in quantum gravity, namely its perturbative nonrenormalisability. To see why a minimal length has this useful property consider a massless scalar field in a curved spacetime background [92]. In a classical spacetime, the Green's function takes the form

$$D(x,y) \sim \frac{1}{l_0^2(x,y) + i\varepsilon}.$$
(89)

In the limit of zero proper distance, namely as $x \rightarrow y$, the Green's function blows up to an infinite value.

However, in a non-classical spacetime the divergent behaviour at small distances is improved. Quantum fluctuations of spacetime are expected to replace the unique propagator D(x, y) by its quantum expectation value [92]

$$D(x,y) \to \langle D(x,y) \rangle \sim \frac{1}{l_0^2(x,y) + l_{min}^2 + i\varepsilon}.$$
(90)

It is now evident from Eq. (27) that this modified propagator remains finite even in the zero-distance limit $x \rightarrow y$, because of the presence of a minimum proper length l_{min} , which acts as an ultraviolet cutoff. As is well known, a Green's function that remains finite even in the zero distance limit removes the infinities that normally plague quantum field theories in the ultraviolet [92].

Fourier transforming and Wick rotating Eq. (27) to Euclidean space yields the Euclidean propagator in momentum space as

$$\langle D(k) \rangle \sim \frac{l_{min}}{|k|} K_1\left(l_{min}|k|\right),\tag{91}$$

where K_1 is the modified Bessel function. Expanding the modified Bessel function $K_1(|k|)$ shows that the existence of a minimal length induces a damping effect on the propagator in the high-energy limit, leading to an ultraviolet convergence.

$$\langle D(k) \rangle = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{k^2}, & \text{for } k \to 0\\ \left(\frac{l_{\min}}{|k|^3}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{-l_{\min}|k|}, & \text{for } k \to \infty. \end{cases}$$
(92)

3.2.5. Fluctuations of the Conformal Factor

In this section, we follow the work of Refs. [94, 95] and derive how fluctuations of the conformal factor affect the measurement of the classical proper length l between two spacetime events x_1 and x_2 at a given time t in flat spacetime. We begin by considering the path integral of quantum gravity

$$Z = \int \mathcal{D}g e^{iS_{EH}},\tag{93}$$

where S_{EH} is the Einstein-Hilbert action

$$S_{EH} = \frac{1}{16\pi G_N} \int R(-g)^{\frac{1}{2}} d^4 x \equiv \frac{1}{12l_P^2} \int R(-g)^{\frac{1}{2}} d^4 x.$$
(94)

The dominant contributions to the path integral should come from the classical solution $g_{\mu\nu} = \bar{g}_{\mu\nu}$. Since we are considering only conformal fluctuations the path integral of Eq. (30) should contain only metrics which are conformal to $\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}$, therefore

$$g_{\mu\nu} = (1 + \phi(x))^2 \bar{g}_{\mu\nu}.$$
 (95)

We can now express the path integral in terms of ϕ via

$$Z = \int \mathcal{D}\phi \exp\left(-\frac{i}{2l_P^2} \int \left[\phi^{\mu}\phi_{\mu} - \frac{1}{6}\bar{R}(1+\phi)^2\right] (-\bar{g})^{\frac{1}{2}} d^4x\right).$$
(96)

Using this formalism it is possible to determine the probability $P[\phi(x)]$ that the conformal fluctuations have a value $\phi(x)$ in flat spacetime (see Refs. [96] and [97] for details), with the result

$$P[\phi(x)] = N \exp\left(-\frac{1}{4\pi^2 l_P^2} \int d^3x d^3y \frac{\bigtriangledown \phi(x) \cdot \bigtriangledown \phi(y)}{|x-y|^2}\right),\tag{97}$$

where

$$\phi(x) = \int q_k \exp i \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{x} \frac{d^3 \mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^3}.$$
(98)

Consider an experiment capable of measuring the classical length l with a spatial resolution λ , hence if $|x_2 - x_1| < \lambda$ the points x_1 and x_2 cannot be

Daniel Coumbe

distinguished. The experiment, therefore, measures the *coarse-grained* value of the field $\phi(x)$ averaged over a distance $\sim \lambda$. Defining f(r) as the sensitivity profile of the measurement apparatus then the coarse-grained value of the field is given by

$$\phi_f(x) \equiv \int \phi(x+r) f(r) d^3r.$$
(99)

We wish to determine the probability amplitude that the field $\phi_f(x)$ has a specific value η . Using the probability distribution given by Eq. (34) we find

$$P[\phi = \eta] = \int \mathcal{D}\phi(x)\,\delta(\phi - \eta)\,P[\phi(x)] = N\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{d\lambda}{2\pi} \int \mathcal{D}\phi(x)\exp\left(i\lambda[\phi_f - \eta]\right)\exp\left(-\frac{1}{4\pi^2 l_P^2}\int d^3x d^3y \frac{\nabla\phi\cdot\nabla\phi}{|x - y|^2}\right).$$
(100)

Performing the integrations gives (see [95] for details)

$$P[\eta] = \left(\frac{1}{2\pi\Delta^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \exp\left(-\frac{\eta^2}{2\Delta^2}\right),\tag{101}$$

with

$$\Delta^2 = l_P^2 \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi^3)} \frac{|f(k)|^2}{2|k|}.$$
(102)

Assuming a Gaussian sensitivity profile

$$f(r) = \left(\frac{1}{2\pi\lambda^2}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \exp\left(-\frac{|\mathbf{r}|^2}{2\lambda^2}\right)$$
(103)

gives

$$\Delta^2 = l_P^2 \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi^3)} \frac{|f(k)|^2}{|k|} = \frac{l_P^2}{4\pi^2\lambda^2}.$$
 (104)

The resolution λ is equal to σ , and so λ measures the width of f(r) for any given distribution. For length measurements using a large resolution scale

A Minimum Scale? 31

 $\lambda \gg l_P$, the factor Δ in Eq. (39) is vanishingly small and the probability distribution given by Eq. (38) is sharply peaked around the classical value $\eta = 0$, meaning that spacetime fluctuations have a negligible effect on length measurements. Nevertheless, as the measurement accuracy increases $\lambda \rightarrow l_P$ spacetime fluctuations begin to significantly affect the measurement of length. Via Eqs. (38) and (32) one can show that the probability two events (t,x) and (t,y) have a spatial separation l is

$$P(l) = \left(\frac{1}{2\pi\sigma^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \exp\left(-\frac{(l-l_0)^2}{2\sigma^2}\right),$$
 (105)

where

$$l_0 = |x - y|, \qquad \sigma^2 = l_0^2 \frac{l_P^2}{4\pi^2 \lambda^2}.$$
 (106)

To have a well-defined notion of the distance between two points requires $\sigma^2 \ll l_0^2$ which implies $\lambda \gg l_P$. What does this mean? Well, as the measurement resolution becomes greater and greater the concept of a definite length becomes more and more meaningless, the best we can do is ascribe a probability that a given measurement will result in a particular length. Thus, the notion of a definite proper length becomes nonsensical at scales below $\lambda \approx l_P$.

In Refs. [94, 95] Padmanabhan also determines a lower bound to proper length by considering the expectation value of the line interval

$$\langle 0|ds^2|0\rangle \equiv \langle g_{\mu\nu}(x)\rangle dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} = \left(1 + \langle \phi^2(x)\rangle\right) dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu}\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}.$$
 (107)

Since $\langle \phi^2(x) \rangle$ diverges, a covariant point-splitting into two separate points x^{ν} and $y^{\nu} = x^{\nu} + dx^{\nu}$ is employed [81, 94]. Taking the coincidence limit $x^{\nu} \to y^{\nu}$ then gives

$$\langle 0|ds^2|0\rangle = \lim_{dx\to 0} \left(1 + \langle 0|\phi(x)\phi(x+dx)|0\rangle\right)\eta_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu}, \tag{108}$$

in a flat Minkowski background $\bar{g}_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu}$. Using the fact that

$$\langle 0|\phi(x)\phi(y)|0\rangle = \frac{l_P^2}{4\pi^2} \frac{1}{(x-y)^2},$$
 (109)

allows us to write Eq. (45) as [81]

$$\langle 0|ds^2|0\rangle = \frac{l_P^2}{4\pi^2} \lim_{dx\to 0} \frac{1}{(x-y)^2} \eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} = \frac{l_P^2}{4\pi^2}.$$
 (110)

Therefore, a non-zero minimum length $\sim l_P$ arises due to the divergent twopoint function of the scalar fluctuation counteracting any attempt to shrink the spacetime distance to zero.

3.2.6. Modified Feynman Propagator

In this section we follow the work of Ref. [98], and examine the modification of the path integral due to the duality transformation $l \rightarrow l_P^2/l$.

The Feynman propagator in standard quantum field theory for a spin-zero free particle of mass m in D-dimensional Euclidean space is¹

$$G(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}) = \int \frac{d^{D} \boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^{D}} \frac{\exp\left(-i\boldsymbol{p} \cdot (\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{y})\right)}{p^{2} + m^{2}}.$$
(111)

Since the discrete path integral for the Feynman propagator is given by

$$G(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}) = \sum_{paths} \exp\left(-ml(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y})\right), \qquad (112)$$

the action receives a contribution of -ml from a path of length l. A minimal length scale l_P should then modify the path integral by suppressing the contribution from paths of length $l \ll l_P$. In Ref. [98] this suppression is implemented by assuming the contribution from a given path is invariant under the transformation $l \rightarrow l_P^2/l$. This so-called principle of duality is intimately linked with the introduction of a minimal length and seems to be related to the notion of T-duality in string theory [99], where it was shown that string theory can be incorporated into quantum field theory via such a transformation. It has also been noted that the generalised uncertainty principle (GUP) is invariant under this transformation [93].

¹A spin-zero scalar field is considered for the sake of simplicity, however it is easy to extend the described formalism to more complicated scenarios.

A Minimum Scale?

To make the path integral of Eq. (49) meaningful Ref. [98] introduces a cubic lattice in *D*-dimensional Euclidean space with a lattice spacing ε . The propagator is then evaluated in the limit $\varepsilon \rightarrow 0$, yielding

$$G(\mathbf{p}) = \frac{2l_P}{\sqrt{p^2 + m^2}} K_1 \left(2l_P \sqrt{p^2 + m^2} \right), \tag{113}$$

where K_1 is the first order modified Bessel function. Equation. (50) has the limiting behaviour

$$G(\boldsymbol{p}) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{p^2 + m^2}, & \text{for } m_P \gg \sqrt{p^2 + m^2} \\ \frac{\exp\left(-2l_P\sqrt{p^2 + m^2}\right)}{\sqrt{2l_P}(p^2 + m^2)^{\frac{3}{4}}}, & \text{for } m_P \ll \sqrt{p^2 + m^2}. \end{cases}$$
(114)

Thus, this duality transformation of the path integral suppresses contributions to amplitudes below the Planck scale. In position space, the Feynman propagator differs from the ordinary one by the shift $l^2 \rightarrow l^2 + l_P^2$, which in the limit of zero classical distance yields a minimal length $\sim l_P$.

3.2.7. Lattice Quantum Gravity

We now follow the work of Ref. [100] and study a lattice formulation of linearised gravity.

Consider a lattice regularisation of linearised gravity, where spacetime is approximated by a hypercubic lattice of points, with ordinary derivatives replaced by discrete lattice derivatives. Let us assume that there exists a lattice formulation of quantum gravity that admits a perturbative expansion of Newton's constant, such that the leading order term is equivalent to a lattice regularisation of the continuum theory.

The average physical distance between two points on such a hypercubic lattice along a given axis, say the x-axis, in D = 4 dimensions can be approximated by

$$\langle l^2 \rangle = \langle g_{11} \rangle (\delta x)^2$$

$$= \left[1 + 16\pi G_N \delta_{ab} \langle b_1^a(x) b_1^b(x) \rangle \right] \epsilon^2$$

$$= \epsilon^2 + 16\pi G_N \gamma^2,$$
(115)

where b^a_{μ} is related to the definition of the metric in tetrad gravity [100], ε is the lattice spacing, γ is a constant of order one, and we have used the approximation

$$\delta_{ab}\langle b_i^a(x)b_i^b(x)\rangle \approx \frac{\gamma^2}{\epsilon^2}.$$
 (116)

Utilising the fact that $G_N = l_P^2$, Eq. (52) then gives

$$\langle l^2 \rangle = \varepsilon^2 + 16\pi\gamma^2 l_P^2, \tag{117}$$

so that as the lattice spacing is taken to zero $(\varepsilon \to 0)$ we retain a non-zero average distance $\langle l^2 \rangle \sim l_P^2$. Therefore, any formal reduction of the lattice spacing is counteracted by an increase in metric fluctuations such that the average physical separation between neighbouring points has a non-zero minimum.

Reference [100] also considers a more sophisticated lattice regularisation of quantum gravity first proposed by Regge [101] where the lattice links have a dynamical edge length. Using a specific gauge-fixing (see Ref. [102] for details) the mean-squared link length is also found to have the same functional form as Eq. (54), again suggesting a minimal length.

3.3. Special Relativity and a Minimal Length

Minimal length scenarios seem to directly contradict the most fundamental symmetry in modern physics, Lorentz invariance (LI). Since there is no lower bound to Lorentz contraction in special relativity, for any fundamental length in one observer's rest frame one can always define a Lorentz boosted frame that will measure a yet shorter length. The existence of a minimal length, therefore, seems to require a modification of special relativity.

Motivated by such considerations a few alternative formulations of special relativity have now been explored. Perhaps the most notable attempt is that of doubly special relativity (DSR), which was first proposed by Pavlopoulos as far back as 1967 [103]. DSR attempts to define an observer-independent maximal velocity c and minimal length l_{DSR} . However, the speed of light in DSR is in general wavelength dependent $c(\lambda)$ and only maximal in the infrared limit, i.e., for $\lambda/l_{DSR} \rightarrow \infty$. As such, DSR is able to maintain an observer-independent minimal length but typically at the cost of deforming or violating

LI. The first exploration of such a DSR-type model by Pavlopoulos estimated this minimal length to be approximately $l_{DSR} \sim 10^{-15} m$ [103]. However, in 2000 Amelino-Camelia sought a definition of DSR in which the Planck length defined an observer-independent minimum length scale, thus making DSR relevant to quantum gravity [104, 105]. Since then there have been a number of reformulations and closely related approaches. In particular, Kowalski-Glikman reformulated Amelino-Camelia's DSR in terms of an observer-independent Planck mass [106], rather than Planck length, and Magueijo and Smolin developed a related model based on an observer-independent Planck energy [107].

DSR theories typically consider an energy dependent speed of light with an associated dispersion relation that takes the form

$$E^{2} = p^{2}c^{2} + f(E, p; l_{P}), \qquad (118)$$

where f is a function that has a leading order l_P dependence of $f(E, p; l_P) \approx l_P c E p^2$ [104]. This dispersion relation then leads to a deformed momentumdependent speed of light

$$v_{\gamma}(p) = c\left(1 + \frac{1}{2}l_P|p|\right),\tag{119}$$

which could, at least in principle, be experimentally tested via time-of-flight observations of distant gamma-ray bursts [108].

Although well motivated, DSR suffers from a number of significant problems. For example, it is not clear how to describe everyday macroscopic objects within the DSR framework [109]. It is possible that a Planck scale deformation may be consistent with observations of low energy systems $E \ll E_P$, as the predicted deviations are beyond current experimental sensitivities [109]. However, for multiparticle systems with aggregate energy $E \gg E_P$, the predicted deviation directly contradicts experiment and even the everyday observation of macroscopic objects.

This so-called soccer-ball problem stems from the non-linearity of the theory, namely the transformation of the sum of momenta does not equal the sum of the transformation of momenta [110]

$$\tilde{\Lambda}(p_1 + p_2) \neq \tilde{\Lambda}(p_1) + \tilde{\Lambda}(p_2).$$
(120)

Also, if $\tilde{\Lambda}$ is the unit element of the group, then this equation is fulfilled, and thus the rest-frame singles out a preferred frame of reference in DSR [110]. A further problem is that DSR is also *a priori* constructed in momentum space, with a description in terms of physical position space presenting a number of difficulties [111, 112]. These problems constitute potentially serious obstacles for the development of DSR that must be satisfactorily addressed.

3.4. Phenomenological Quantum Gravity

Quantising gravity means quantising spacetime itself, which presumably requires the quantisation of length. Yet, as we have seen, special relativity precludes a minimum length scale. A second generic prediction of quantum gravity is the vacuum dispersion of light. Coupling the equivalence of energy and mass with Heisenberg's energy-time uncertainty principle dictates that the greater the resolving power with which we view spacetime the greater the observed energy fluctuations in the quantum vacuum. Thus, quantum gravity generically predicts that when viewed on sufficiently small distance scales one will observe large metric fluctuations of spacetime. Since higher energy photons probe spacetime on shorter distance scales than lower energy ones they are expected to encounter proportionately larger metric fluctuations, which hinder their passage through spacetime to a greater extent. Hence, if the spacetime fluctuations predicted by quantum gravity are real then the speed of light should depend on its energy and LI may be deformed or violated.

Since we do not have a complete theory of quantum gravity, the predicted energy dependent speed of light due to vacuum fluctuations is usually estimated by assuming the deformation admits a series expansion at small energies E compared with the energy scale E_{QG} at which quantum gravity is expected to dominate (presumably $E_{OG} \approx E_P$) [108, 113], yielding a deformed dispersion relation

$$E^{2} \simeq p^{2} \left(1 - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \pm \left(\frac{E}{E_{QG}} \right)^{n} \right), \qquad (121)$$

and hence an energy dependent speed of light
$$c(E) \simeq \sqrt{1 - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \pm \left(\frac{E}{E_{QG}}\right)^n}.$$
(122)

In Eq. (59) the conventional speed of light in the zero-energy limit *c* is set equal to unity. The \pm ambiguity in Eq. (59) denotes either subluminal (+1) or superluminal (-1) motion [108]. In an effective field theoretic description n = d - 4, where *d* is the dimension of the leading order operator. Within effective field theory, it has been shown that odd values of *d* directly violate CPT invariance, and so a common expectation is that n = 2 will be the leading order term [114, 115].²

After more than a century adrift in a sea of speculation, quantum gravity is now becoming an experimental science. Recent observations of distant gammaray bursts by the Fermi space telescope find the speed of light to be independent of energy up to 7.62 E_p (with a 95%CL) and 4.8 E_p (with a 99%CL) for linear dispersion relations, where E_p is the Planck energy. The same data has even been used to tightly constrain quadratic dispersion relations [108]. Moreover, variations in the speed of light have been experimentally excluded to the incredible precision of $\Delta c/c < 6.94 \times 10^{-21}$, conclusively showing that spacetime appears smooth beyond the Planck energy [116]. The collective data of the Chandra and Fermi space telescopes and the ground-based Cherenkov telescopes have already been used to rule out some approaches to quantum gravity based on their predictions of vacuum dispersion [117, 118, 119]. An increasingly large number of experiments, using a variety of different techniques, also find results consistent with an energy independent speed of light, including particle decay processes [120], time-of-flight comparisons [121], neutrino oscillation experiments [122] and ultra-high-energy cosmic ray observations [123].

There also exist compelling theoretical arguments preventing an energy dependent speed of light. For example, Polchinski has argued that almost all theories of quantum gravity predicting vacuum dispersion at high energies have already been ruled out by precision low-energy tests, due to the way such effects scale with energy, with the only possible exception being supersymmetric theories [124]. Vacuum dispersion also opens the door to causality violations [120],

²However, it is important to note that it is currently unknown how reliable effective field theory is at or near the Planck scale.

closed timelike curves [120] and other implausible scenarios. The accumulative weight of experimental and theoretical evidence now strongly suggests that spacetime remains a smooth manifold up to a significantly higher resolution than typically predicted by quantum gravity.

However, the more fundamental a symmetry is the more thoroughly it should be tested. This is especially true of LI. Over the coming decade, a brand new generation of telescopes and astronomical surveys will yield a thousandfold gain in cosmological and astronomical data. Current detectors such as the Fermi Gamma-ray Space Telescope, Chandra X-ray Observatory, and Pierre Auger Observatory, in addition to future telescopes and surveys, will provide unprecedented amounts of experimental data that will further constrain violations of LI.

Chapter 4

The Renormalisation Group

4.1. Overview

The renormalisation group (RG) is a mathematical formalism defining how a physical system changes as a function of the scale at which it is viewed. When describing phenomena as a function of scale the value of parameters measured at large distances typically differs from those made at small distances. For example, in QED the charge of an electron appears to be scale dependent [125, 126]. Since virtual particle pairs permeate the vacuum they become polarised by the presence of the electron's charge. This polarisation tends to screen the strength of the electric charge as measured at large distances. However, at small distances there is less screening, therefore the strength of the electric charge is inversely proportional to distance, or conversely, is proportional to energy. The observation that coupling constants are not, in fact, constant, but are in general dependent on the energy scale at which they are measured, led to the idea of the renormalisation group (RG) [127].

A key concept in the definition of the renormalisation group is the introduction of a high-energy cut-off scale Λ , or conversely, a minimum length scale $l_{min} \sim \Lambda^{-1}$, beyond which physical contributions are neglected. Physical theories typically remain valid only over a limited range of length scales. A water wave is accurately described as the disturbance of a continuous fluid via the laws of hydrodynamics, without any knowledge of the underlying discrete atomic structure of water molecules. That is, hydrodynamics does not

Daniel Coumbe

care about physical dynamics below some minimum length scale Λ^{-1} , where Λ^{-1} is much greater than the average inter-molecular distance between water molecules [127].

Likewise, when considering the motion of discrete water molecules atomic distances become relevant, however, one does not need to know about physics at or below nuclear scales. Thus, physical interactions below a yet smaller nuclear length scale Λ'^{-1} can be safely neglected in such a description. The question now arises as to whether we can change the cut-off scale Λ^{-1} continuously and determine how the resulting laws of physics vary? In the water wave example, a completely new set of equations and parameters are needed every time a new cut-off scale is defined making it difficult to study the effects of a continuously varying Λ^{-1} . However, there are a number of examples in which the observations made above can be generalised so that the cut-off scale Λ^{-1} can be varied continuously in a well-defined manner. Perhaps the most pedagogical example is given by the block-spin model.

4.2. Kadanoff's Block-Spin Model

Following Kadanoff [128], let's consider a 2-dimensional square array of atoms forming a perfect crystal lattice, as depicted in Fig. 4.. Each point on the lattice has either a spin up or a spin down value. In Fig. 4., filled lattice points represent atoms with spin down and unfilled lattice points denote atoms with spin up. Let the probability that neighbouring spins are aligned in the same direction at a given temperature T be characterised by a coupling parameter J.

Let's assume the physical state at each of the 64 lattice points in Fig. 4. can be completely characterised by its Hamiltonian H(T,J) for given values of Tand J. Now we divide the lattice into 2×2 blocks. The physical state of each block is then described by a new Hamiltonian H(T',J'), where the variables T'and J' quantify the average behaviour of each 2×2 block, so that we are now effectively analysing only 1/4 of the atoms. Performing another iteration, by averaging over 4×4 square blocks, amounts to analysing 1/16 of the atoms, where each block is now described by the Hamiltonian H(T'',J''). Thus, with each successive iteration, or RG step, we are effectively decreasing the resolving power of a hypothetical microscope. Finding the RG transformation for a given system is then effectively equivalent to finding the transformation law that takes



Figure 4. A 2-dimensional square lattice of atoms each with an associated spin. Filled lattice points represent atoms with spin down and unfilled lattice points denote atoms with spin up. The system may be described by block variables that average over the behaviour of a given block size. Each renormalisation step is then equivalent to averaging over successively smaller square block sizes.

$$H(T,J) \rightarrow H(T',J')$$
 and $H(T',J') \rightarrow H(T'',J'')$, etc.

4.3. The Beta Function

How a particular coupling g changes with respect to the energy scale μ of a given physical process is governed by its so-called β -function

$$\beta(\tilde{g}(\mu)) = \mu \frac{\partial g}{\partial \mu} = \frac{\partial g}{\partial \ln \mu}.$$
(123)

Clearly, if the β -function of a particular theory goes to zero for some value of the coupling *g* then the theory has become scale invariant, since its coupling remains constant as a function of the scale μ .

Daniel Coumbe

Beta functions are typically estimated using an approximation method such as perturbation theory. Performing a perturbative expansion in powers of the coupling allows one to neglect higher-order contributions, as long as the coupling is assumed to be small from the outset. As an example, the beta function of the fine structure constant α in QED computed in perturbation theory is

$$\beta(\alpha) = \frac{2\alpha^2}{3\pi}.$$
 (124)

The positive sign of the QED beta function tells us that the magnitude of the coupling α increases with the energy scale μ , becoming infinite at finite energy, resulting in the infamous Landau pole [129]. However, this Landau pole is typically thought to be the result of applying perturbation theory beyond its range of validity. Namely, at very high energies (in the strong coupling regime) perturbation theory is no longer expected to remain valid and it may thus be possible to evade the troublesome Landau pole.

In quantum chromodynamics (QCD), the quantum field theory of the strong interaction, the one-loop beta function for the strong coupling α_s is given by

$$\beta(\alpha_s) = -\frac{\alpha_s^2}{2\pi} \left(11 - \frac{n_s}{3} - \frac{2n_f}{3} \right), \qquad (125)$$

where n_S is the number of scalar Higgs Bosons and n_f the number of flavors of fundamental multiplets of quarks [130]. The negative sign of the QCD beta function means that α_s actually decreases with an increasing energy scale μ , a property known as asymptotic freedom [130]. Therefore, the strong coupling regime for QCD corresponds to low energy scales, where perturbation theory is no longer valid. Similarly, the coupling associated with the weak interaction decreases in magnitude with increasing energy.

Extrapolating the beta functions for the strong, weak and electromagnetic interactions to extremely high energies hints at a possible unification at the so-called grand unification energy scale of $E_{GU} \sim 10^{16} GeV$. However, it has been noted that this unification is not exact, with the three couplings missing each other by a non-negligible amount. As pointed out by a number of authors, this unification does appear to become exact if one includes supersymmetry [131].

4.4. Renormalisation Group Operators

As one increases the energy scale μ the magnitude of a coupling or observable under the renormalisation group transformation can either increase, decrease, or stay the same. Renormalisation group trajectories exhibiting such behaviour are said to be relevant, irrelevant or marginal trajectories, respectively. Relevant operators are essential to the description of macroscopic systems, whereas irrelevant ones are not. For a given marginal operator it is unclear whether it contributes to macroscopic physics because it can be ill-defined. Macroscopic physics is typically described by only a few observables, whereas microscopic physics is typically characterised by a very large number of variables. This implies that most observables are irrelevant, namely that the microscopic degrees of freedom are not relevant on the macroscopic level.

Chapter 5

The Asymptotic Safety Scenario

5.1. Weinberg's Great Idea

The problems raised by the perturbative nonrenormalisability of gravity have spawned a multitude of competing solutions. A common approach is to assume that the reason quantum mechanics and general relativity cannot be unified in a straightforward manner is that one of the two theories needs to be modified. The most popular notion is to regard quantum mechanics as the more fundamental theory, and that general relativity is just an effective field theory that is only valid up to some high-energy cut-off. Typically, this is the route taken by perturbative approaches to quantum gravity such as superstring theory. However, there does exist a possibility of defining a quantum field theory of gravity that is valid over all energy scales despite being perturbatively nonrenormalisable. This approach, known as the asymptotic safety scenario, was developed by Steven Weinberg in the 1970s [37].

In general relativity, the fundamental degrees of freedom are given by the metric field. Fluctuations of space-time would then modify the strength of the gravitational coupling G_N as a function of energy, in an analogous way to the scale dependence of electric charge in QED. We now follow the discussion of asymptotic safety given by Weinberg in [37] in which he considers a generalised set of couplings $g_i(\mu)$ as a function of a renormalisation scale μ . If $g_i(\mu)$ has mass dimensions of $[M]^{D_i}$ then we replace $g_i(\mu)$ with a dimensionless coupling $\tilde{g}_i(\mu)$,

$$\tilde{g}_i(\mu) = \mu^{-D_i} g_i(\mu)$$
. (126)

The behaviour of the RG flow of the coupling g_i is governed by its β -function, which describes the rate of change of g_i with respect to the scale μ ,

$$\beta_i(\tilde{g}(\mu)) = \mu \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\mu} \tilde{g}_i(\mu).$$
(127)

To prevent the couplings $\tilde{g}_i(\mu)$ from diverging as $\mu \to \infty$ we can force them to end on a fixed point, g^* , in the limit $\mu \to \infty$. This requires that the beta-function of \tilde{g} vanish at this point,

$$\beta_i(g^*) = 0. \tag{128}$$

Additionally, the couplings must lie on a trajectory $\tilde{g}_i(\mu)$ which actually hits the fixed point. The surface formed from such trajectories is called the ultraviolet critical surface. If the couplings of a particular theory lie on the ultraviolet critical surface of a fixed point then the theory is said to be asymptotically safe.

There exist two types of fixed points, trivial fixed points where $g^* = 0$ and non-trivial fixed points (NTFP) where $g^* \neq 0$. The trivial fixed points are said to be non-interacting because the coupling constant vanishes; the immediate vicinity of this trivial fixed point is described by perturbation theory. This is the construction underlying asymptotic freedom. Conversely, a non-trivial fixed point lies at non-zero values of the coupling constants, and so is said to be an interacting fixed point.

QCD is a special type of asymptotically safe theory because it is also perturbatively renormalisable and asymptotically free. QCD contains a fixed point with only a finite number of attractive renormalisation group trajectories in the ultraviolet, namely the Yang-Mills coupling and the quark masses [132]. All other couplings are repelled from the fixed point and must be set to zero in order to give a well-defined ultraviolet limit. QCD is also asymptotically free because colour charge is anti-screened by quark-antiquark pairs, and so at asymptotically high energies quarks become free.

An important consideration when dealing with a NTFP is the dimensionality of its ultraviolet critical surface. The dimensionality of an ultraviolet critical surface is given by the number of renormalisation group trajectories that are attracted to the fixed point in the ultraviolet, i.e., the number of relevant trajectories. If an infinite number of such trajectories were attracted to the fixed point then we would be in the same situation as for perturbative renormalisation, namely a complete loss of predictive power [37]. The ideal situation is one in which the number of relevant couplings is minimised. For example, if there was just a single trajectory that ended at the fixed point in the ultraviolet then the theory would be maximally predictive.



Figure 5. A schematic of the ultraviolet critical surface S_{UV} . Trajectories that are repelled from the NTFP are irrelevant couplings. Trajectories that are attracted to the fixed point are relevant couplings. The theory space is defined by the couplings g_i . In the case of the Einstein-Hilbert truncation the couplings are $G_N(k)$ and $\Lambda(k)$. Schematic derived from the work of Refs. [2, 3, 4].

General relativity without matter content is described by the Einstein-Hilbert action

$$S_{EH} = \frac{1}{16\pi G_N} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} (-2\Lambda + R),$$
 (129)

where G_N is Newton's gravitational constant, Λ is the cosmological constant, g is the determinant of the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$, and R is the Ricci scalar curvature, a func-

Daniel Coumbe

tion of the metric. If we replace the couplings G_N and Λ by the scale dependent running couplings $G_N(k)$ and $\Lambda(k)$, and recognising that the Einstein-Hilbert action is now a scale dependent functional $\Gamma(k)$ we can write,

$$\Gamma(k) = \frac{1}{16\pi G_N(k)} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} (-2\Lambda(k) + R + ...).$$
(130)

The functional of Eq. (5) in principle contains infinitely many couplings. The renormalisation group flow of the functional $\Gamma(k)$ is defined by the exact renormalisation group equation (ERGE), and so the ERGE contains the betafunctions of all of the couplings present in the functional. Although exact solutions have been found, e.g., for supersymmetric O(N) theories in the infinite N limit [133, 134], the general form of the ERGE is not exactly solvable, and so one is typically forced to perform truncations of the functional $\Gamma(k)$ such that it contains only a finite number of couplings. The beta-functions can then be extracted from the ERGE without any further approximation [135]. The simplest truncation is the Einstein-Hilbert truncation, in which only the cosmological constant and Newton's constant are retained. The RG flow will typically induce terms quadratic in curvature. However, under the Einstein-Hilbert truncation, these contributions are neglected. A more accurate treatment takes the curvature squared terms into account, which is known as the curvature squared truncation. One can then extend this series of truncations up to terms polynomial in the scalar curvature; this has been done up to a polynomial of order eight and higher, demonstrating the existence of a fixed point with a three-dimensional critical surface [136, 137, 138]. Recent RG results have even reported calculations with truncations to a polynomial of order thirty-four in the Ricci scalar [139]. See Ref. [140] for an overview of asymptotic safety.

An example of how the ERGE is applied comes from performing a numerical integration of the β -function extracted from the ERGE under the Einstein-Hilbert truncation, i.e., for only $G_N(k)$ and $\Lambda(k)$. This gives the following picture [5]:

At the origin one observes the trivial fixed point corresponding to the noninteracting theory. For a non-zero value of Newton's constant and the cosmological constant one may observe a NTFP that corresponds to an interacting theory. The fixed point for gravity, if it exists, must be interacting; since gravity is perturbatively nonrenormalisable.



Figure 6. Renormalisation group flow of gravity in the Einstein-Hilbert truncation. Arrows indicate RG flow in the direction of increased coarse-graining, or conversely decreasing momentum scale *k*. Plot adapted from Ref. [5].

Although the renormalisation group studies are suggestive, the truncation of the effective action makes it difficult to systematically assess the reliability of the results obtained using this method¹. A lattice formulation of gravity is thus desirable, given the possibility of performing calculations with controlled systematic errors. Before turning to a lattice formulation of quantum gravity we briefly review a potential problem with the asymptotic safety scenario.

5.2. A Potential Problem

There exists a long-standing argument against the asymptotic safety scenario. This challenge to asymptotic safety was first put forward by Banks [144] and later detailed by Shomer [145] and suggests gravity cannot possibly be a renormalisable quantum field theory. Their argument is that since a renormalisable quantum field theory is a perturbation of a conformal field theory (CFT) by relevant operators, the high-energy spectrum of any renormalisable quantum field

¹Although systematic error control in ERGE studies is possible and has been exemplified in the work of Refs. [141, 142], for example. Error estimates in quantum gravity in dimensions greater than four have also been studied [143].

theory should be equivalent to that of a CFT. However, this is not true for gravity [145]. We now review this problem in more detail.

Using dimensional analysis, the extensivity of the quantities involved and the fact that a finite-temperature conformal field theory has no dimensionful scales other than the temperature T, the entropy S of any 4-dimensional CFT must scale according to

$$S \sim a(rT)^3,\tag{131}$$

and the energy E according to

$$E \sim br^3 T^4, \tag{132}$$

where a and b are dimensionless constants and r is the radius of spacetime that we are considering. From Eqs. (6) and (7) we have

$$S \sim \frac{aE}{bT}.$$
(133)

From Eq. (7) we obtain

$$T \sim \frac{E^{\frac{1}{4}}}{b^{\frac{1}{4}}r^{\frac{3}{4}}}.$$
 (134)

Simply substituting Eq. (9) into Eq. (8) tells us that the entropy of a CFT is²

$$S_{CFT} \sim \frac{a}{b^{\frac{3}{4}}} E^{\frac{3}{4}} r^{\frac{3}{4}}.$$
 (135)

For gravity, on the other hand, it is expected that the high-energy spectrum will be dominated by black holes [144, 145, 146]. The entropy of a semiclassical black hole is given by the celebrated area law

$$S_{Grav} = \frac{A}{4G_N} = \frac{\pi r^2}{l_P^2},\tag{136}$$

²The scaling of Eq. (10) differs from that proposed by Shomer [145], according to which $S \sim E^{\frac{3}{4}}$ in 4 dimensions, but agrees with that found by Falls and Litim [146]. As pointed out by Falls and Litim the scaling relation $S \sim E^{\frac{3}{4}}$ can only be correct if the radius *r* is assumed to be constant, an assumption that is unjustified in this context.

where *r* is the Schwarzschild radius of the black hole and $G_N = l_P^2$. It is now evident that Eqs. (10) and (11) do not scale in the same way. Thus, Banks and Shomer conclude that gravity cannot be a renormalisable quantum field theory [144, 145]. This is a potentially serious challenge to quantum gravity that must be satisfactorily addressed. We will revisit this problem in sections 7.3. and 8.2.4.

Chapter 6

Quantum Gravity on the Lattice

6.1. Lattice Regularisation

The quantisation of a continuous field theory involves introducing an infinite number of degrees of freedom, which can lead to divergent results. To prevent this, one typically regulates the theory via the introduction of an ultraviolet cutoff. A theory can be regularised by taking a high-energy limit, above which the field theory is no longer applicable, or conversely one can impose a minimum length scale. The latter is the approach taken by lattice field theories, which originated from the seminal work of K. Wilson [127]. Lattice field theories replace continuous spacetime with a discrete lattice of points with non-zero spacing *a*.

The method of lattice regularisation allows one to achieve a stable ultraviolet regularisation, yielding finite observables. Lattice methods also allow one to recover continuum limit physics by calculating observables at different lattice spacings and extrapolating to the continuum limit, i.e., sending $a \rightarrow 0$. In addition to taking $a \rightarrow 0$ one must also take the infinite volume limit, so as to eliminate finite-size effects, whilst simultaneously making appropriate adjustments to the bare coupling constants. The existence of a continuum limit requires the presence of a second-order phase transition allows one to take the lattice spacing to zero whilst simultaneously keeping observable quantities fixed in physical units.

Daniel Coumbe

For strongly interacting field theories the applicability of perturbation theory is limited, and nonperturbative lattice methods become essential. Lattice QCD (LQCD), for example, has become the central tool in developing our understanding of the strong interaction, allowing one to calculate the hadronic spectrum and weak matrix elements to high precision [147]. LQCD also contributes to our understanding of confinement, chiral symmetry breaking, and finite temperature QCD. See Refs. [148, 149] for more detailed accounts of the methods and successes of LQCD. Lattice regularisation methods have also been applied in Beyond the Standard Model (BSM) physics, most notably in supersymmetric lattice field theories and technicolour theories. See Ref. [150] for an overview of supersymmetric lattice field theory, and Ref. [151] for a more general overview of the application of lattice methods to BSM physics.

Motivated by the successful application of lattice methods to the strong interaction, and their use in studying BSM physics, one is led to ask whether applying similar methods to the gravitational interaction may aid our understanding of nonperturbative quantum gravity.

6.2. Geometric Observables

General relativity describes gravity as the curvature of spacetime, and quantum mechanics describes spacetime on the smallest distance scales. So if we are to unify general relativity and quantum mechanics we must understand what spacetime looks like on the smallest distances. One idea is that spacetime is discrete at the Planck scale, meaning that there exists a smallest possible unit of both space and time, namely the Planck length and the Planck time. A further complication comes from the fact that quantum mechanics describes observables as being in a superposition of all possible states until observation has occurred, and therefore that the geometry of spacetime at the Planck scale could consist of a superposition of all possible geometries. These complications make it very difficult to study the universe on such small scales. One simplifying approach is to approximate the smooth continuous geometry of spacetime by a lattice of locally flat *n*-dimensional triangles called simplices. In this way one can numerically generate a large ensemble of configurations that samples all the possibilities of curvature and geometry, allowing one to calculate specific observables by taking the expectation value over the entire set of configurations. The simplicial approach to quantum gravity, as first proposed by Regge [101], allows one to make use of the considerable number of techniques used in lattice gauge theories. In a similar way to lattice gauge theories, one is not restricted to discrete spacetime, since one can allow the lattice size to approach infinity and take the simplicial edge length to zero. Under these limits, one would effectively remove the ultraviolet lattice regulator and recover continuum physics. Regge calculus is not dependent on simplices either; any shape that can be extended into a n-dimensional polytope can be used in the same way. Simplices are chosen because they are essentially the simplest possible polytope that one can use to approximate n-dimensional manifolds.

A *n*-dimensional simplex is a polytope, where the number of *k*-dimensional faces N_k is given by

$$N_k = \binom{n+1}{k+1} = \frac{(n+1)!}{(k+1)!((n+1)-(k+1))!}.$$
(137)

A 4-simplex, therefore, has 5 vertices, 10 edges, 10 triangular faces, and 5 tetrahedral faces. Simplices are fitted together along their (n - 1)-dimensional faces creating a simplicial piecewise linear manifold. Simplicial quantum gravity can be subdivided into two main approaches, Regge calculus, and dynamical triangulations. The approach of Regge calculus is to fix the connectivity of the simplices but allow the edge lengths to vary; in this way the dynamics of the geometry is captured. Conversely, dynamical triangulations fixes the simplicial edge lengths but allows the connectivity of the simplices to define the dynamics of the geometry.

The interior geometry of a *n*-simplex is assumed to be flat, and so in the case of dynamical triangulations, the dynamics of a given simplex is entirely contained within the connectivity of the (n+1)/2 fixed edge lengths. The curvature in simplicial quantum gravity is defined by the deficit angle around a (n-2)-dimensional face at which arrangements of *n*-simplices converge. If we take the example of a lattice of 2-simplices, or triangles, then the idea becomes clear. Imagine joining 6 such triangles together so that they meet at a single shared vertex, as shown in Fig. 7..

One can define a complete angle of 2π radians about this vertex. However, upon removing one of these triangles one now has a deficit angle δ . The remaining simplices can now be joined together along their piecewise linear edges to form



Figure 7. The deficit angle δ for a 2-dimensional lattice (left) and a simplicial approximation to a sphere (right) [1].

a curved geometry, as shown in Fig. 7. (right). The angle δ is then a measure of the extent to which the geometry is curved. The deficit angle δ is given by

$$\delta = 2\pi - \sum_{i} \Theta_{i}. \tag{138}$$

The value of the deficit angle defines three different types of curvature. If $\sum_{i} \theta_i = 2\pi$ the geometry is flat. If $\sum_{i} \theta_i < 2\pi$ the geometry has positive Gaussian curvature. If $\sum_{i} \theta_i > 2\pi$ the geometry has negative Gaussian curvature. This idea can be extrapolated to an arbitrary dimension *n*, where flat *n*-dimensional simplices are joined together along their (n-1)-dimensional faces, defining the curvature at a hinge of dimension (n-2).

Another geometric observable that can be computed in simplicial quantum gravity is the volume profile. One can calculate the volume profile of a simplicial ensemble in the following way. Firstly, one defines a randomly chosen vertex from the set of triangulations to be the origin o, one then shells radially outwards from this point by hopping to an adjacent vertex. We can thus define a geodesic distance τ from the origin o. By counting the number of simplices within a shell of radius τ one builds up a volume profile for the ensemble of triangulations as a function of geodesic distance from o. Then, just as one sums over all possible paths in the Feynman path integral approach to quantum me-

chanics to obtain the macroscopic classical path, one should average over all possible geometries to create an expectation value for the macroscopic geometry of the universe.¹



Figure 8. A schematic representing the number of 4-simplices N_4 as a function of geodesic distance τ form an arbitrarily defined origin o [1]. Collectively the bars form a single measurement of the volume distribution of N_4 . One forms an expectation value $\langle N_4 \rangle$ by making many such measurements and averaging. The centre of volume is located at 0.

For volume profiles of the type seen in Fig. 8. one can determine the Hausdorff dimension of the ensemble of simplices by simply counting the expectation value for the number of simplices within a given geodesic distance from a randomly chosen vertex. Observing how the number of simplices scales with geodesic distance allows one to measure the fractal Hausdorff dimension.

The large-scale geometry of the universe can also be studied via the volumevolume correlator. In a theory with 4-dimensional building blocks the volumevolume correlator gives us a measure of the distribution of the 4-volume as a function of geodesic distance by determining the correlation of adjacent slices of 4-volume. The finite volume scaling behaviour of the volume-volume correlator

¹The above description is specific to a model of simplicial quantum gravity with no explicit time direction, although the same principle applies to a theory with an explicit time direction except that in this case one calculates the spatial volume at proper time intervals *t*.

introduced in Ref. [152], can be written as

$$C_{N_4}(\delta) = \sum_{\tau=1}^{t} \frac{\left\langle N_4^{\text{slice}}(\tau) N_4^{\text{slice}}(\tau+\delta) \right\rangle}{N_4^2}, \qquad (139)$$

where $N_4^{\text{slice}}(\tau)$ is the total number of 4-simplices in a spherical shell a geodesic distance τ from a randomly chosen simplex, N_4 is the total number of 4-simplices, and the normalisation of the correlator is chosen such that $\sum_{\delta=0}^{t-1} C_{N_4}(\delta) = 1$. If we rescale δ and $C_{N_4}(\delta)$, defining $x = \delta/N_4^{1/D_H}$, then the universal distribution $c_{N_4}(x)$ should be independent of the lattice volume, where $c_{N_4}(x) = N_4^{1/D_H} C_{N_4}(\delta/N_4^{1/D_H})$. One can determine the fractal Hausdorff dimension, D_H , as the value that leaves $c_{N_4}(x)$ invariant under a change in four-volume N_4 .

Since in appropriate limits a theory of quantum gravity should reduce to general relativity, one would expect that the phase diagram for a theory of quantum gravity should contain a semi-classical phase with a Hausdorff dimension $D_H = 4$ whose geometry is a solution to general relativity. One such solution is de Sitter space. A de Sitter space is the maximally symmetric geometrically flat solution to Einstein's field equations with no matter content and a positive cosmological constant. The de Sitter metric can be written as,

$$ds^{2} = dt^{2} + a(t) d\Omega_{(3)}^{2} = -dt^{2} + H_{L}^{2} \cosh^{2}\left(\frac{t}{H_{L}}\right) d\Omega_{(3)}^{2}, \qquad (140)$$

where H_l is the Hubble length given by $H_l = c/H_0 = \sqrt{\frac{3}{\Lambda}}$. $\Omega_{(3)}$ is the 3-dimensional volume element [153],

$$\Omega_{(3)} = d\chi^2 + \sin^2 \chi \left(d\theta^2 + \sin^2 \theta d\phi^2 \right).$$
(141)

Such a de Sitter phase has been shown to exist for a specific model of simplicial quantum gravity, thus verifying that this model has a solution of general relativity as its low energy limit.

One may naively think that a *n*-dimensional theory of simplicial quantum gravity will always result in a *n*-dimensional geometry, however, this is not necessarily the case. For dynamical triangulations the dynamics is contained in the connectivity of the *n*-simplices, where the geometry is updated by a set of local

update moves. These local update moves can result in the deletion or insertion of vertices within simplices and so it is possible to obtain a geometric structure that has self-similar properties at different scales, meaning the geometry can be a fractal. A fractal geometry admits non-integer dimensions, and so recovering *n*-dimensional space from *n*-dimensional fundamental building blocks is a non-trivial result. The approach of simplicial quantum gravity allows the fractal dimension of the ensemble of triangulations to be computed numerically, typically this is done by computing the Hausdorff dimension and the spectral dimension.

6.3. Euclidean Dynamical Triangulations

Euclidean dynamical triangulations (EDT) is a particular implementation of a lattice regularisation of quantum gravity. The approach of EDT was originally studied in two-dimensions for the purpose of defining a nonperturbative regularisation of bosonic string theory [154, 155]. This two-dimensional approach proved successful; with gravity coupled to conformal matter being shown to correspond to bosonic string theory [156]. Results from lattice calculations agree with continuum calculations in non-critical string theory wherever they are compared [156]. Motivated by the successes of the two-dimensional theory, EDT was generalised to three [157, 158, 159] and four dimensions [160, 161]. Here, we explore EDT in four-dimensions.

Euclidean dynamical triangulations defines a spacetime of locally flat *n*-dimensional simplices of fixed edge length. The four-dimensional EDT formalism translates the continuum path integral

$$Z = \int \mathcal{D}g e^{iS_{EH}},\tag{142}$$

$$S_{EH} = \frac{1}{16\pi G_N} \int d^4 x \sqrt{-g} (-2\Lambda + R),$$
(143)

into the discrete partition function

$$Z_E = \sum_T \frac{1}{C_T} e^{-S_{EH}}.$$
 (144)

The integration over the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ is replaced by a sum over all possible triangulations *T*. *C_T* is a symmetry factor that divides out the number of equivalent ways of labelling the vertices in the triangulation *T*. The discretised Einstein-Regge action in the EDT formalism is

$$S_E = -\kappa_2 N_2 + \kappa_4 N_4, \tag{145}$$

where N_i is the number of simplices of dimension *i*, and κ_2 and κ_4 are related to the bare Newton's constant G_N and the bare cosmological constant Λ , respectively.

The particularly simple form of Eq. (9) for the discrete Einstein-Regge action S_E is determined via the simplicial geometry, being dependent on the deficit angle θ around a triangular face, where $\theta = \arccos(\frac{1}{n})$, and on the *n*-dimensional simplicial volume V_n , where

$$V_n = \frac{\sqrt{n+1}}{n!\sqrt{2^n}}.$$
(146)

The discrete Euclidean-Regge action is then

$$S_E = \kappa \sum 2V_2 \left(2\pi - \sum \theta \right) - \lambda \sum V_4, \qquad (147)$$

where $\kappa = (8\pi G_N)^{-1}$ and $\lambda = \kappa \Lambda$. One can rewrite Eq. (11) in terms of the bulk variables N_i , and use Eq. (10) to obtain the simplicial volumes, giving

$$S_E \equiv -\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}\pi\kappa N_2 + N_4 \left(\kappa \frac{5\sqrt{3}}{2} \arccos \frac{1}{4} + \frac{\sqrt{5}}{96}\lambda\right).$$
(148)

Upon substituting $\kappa_2 = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}\pi\kappa$ and $\kappa_4 = \kappa \frac{5\sqrt{3}}{2} \arccos\left(\frac{1}{4}\right) + \frac{\sqrt{5}}{96}\lambda$ one recovers the simple form of the discrete Einstein-Regge action in terms of the bulk variables N_2 and N_4 , as given by Eq. (9).

Early studies of four-dimensional EDT reported a one-dimensional parameter space containing two phases that were separated by a transition at some critical value of the coupling κ_2^C , but neither of the phases resembled fourdimensional semi-classical general relativity [160, 162, 163, 164, 165]. When $\kappa_2 < \kappa_2^C$, a phase exists in which the simplicial geometry effectively collapses, and has an infinite fractal dimension [163]. In the regime $\kappa_2 > \kappa_2^C$ the geometry resembles that of thin polymer strands [163]. Measurements of the Hausdorff dimension of these two phases confirm that neither resembles a physical 4-dimensional phase [163].

The work of Catterall et al. in Ref. [164] studied the order of the phase transition between the two phases via an order parameter related to the fluctuation in the number of simplicial nodes and the scaling of the auto-correlation time. Tentatively, Catterall et al. concluded that the transition separating the two phases is continuous, and therefore has the possibility of being second-order. In Ref. [163] Ambjorn and Jurkiewicz measured the critical scaling exponents using numerical simulations in the vicinity of the transition, also concluding that the transition is continuous. However, a more careful study with sufficiently large lattice volumes and with an increased number of lattice configurations showed that the transition was, in fact, a discontinuous first-order critical point. Specifically, de Bakker in Ref. [166] analysed 32,000 and 64,000 4-simplices and observed a histogram with a double peak in the number of vertices that grows with volume. This behaviour is characteristic of a first-order transition. An independent study by Bialas et al. [167] also reached the same conclusion, showing that for lattice volumes smaller than 16,000 simplices the data was consistent with a continuous transition, but for a lattice volume of 32,000 simplices or greater a bimodal structure in the histogram of the number of vertices emerged.

These studies not only explained why the transition was previously thought to be continuous (because of large finite-size effects) but they also conclusively showed that the transition is first-order. The fact that the transition separating the two phases is first-order makes it unlikely that the theory has a well-defined continuum limit, at least in the simplest implementation of the model [167, 166]. This is because a second-order transition, with its diverging correlation length, is needed to define a continuum limit that is independent of the underlying discrete lattice structure.

The sum over triangulations in the original formulation of EDT all used a trivial measure, that is, all triangulations in the sum defining the path integral were weighted equally. The trivial measure is the simplest implementation, but this does not necessarily mean that it is the correct one. Brugmann and Marinari [168], in the early '90s, investigated the effect of adding a non-trivial measure term to the Euclidean path integral by studying the resulting geometric

observables. Brugmann and Marinari reported that the inclusion of a non-trivial measure term induced a strong effect, and even suggested that its inclusion may be responsible for a change in the universality class of the theory.

In the late '90s Bilke et al. [169] also investigated the result of introducing a non-trivial measure term in the path integral of 4-dimensional simplicial quantum gravity. Bilke et al. reported the emergence of a new phase for an appropriate choice of couplings. Both the Brugmann and Marinari and Bilke et al. studies were suggestive, but the resulting phase diagram had yet to be explored in any great detail. A remaining hope is that a more thorough study of the phase diagram of EDT with a non-trivial measure could lead to a physical semiclassical phase, and ultimately to a nonperturbative theory of quantum gravity.

EDT including a non-trivial measure has a partition function of

$$Z_{E} = \sum_{T} \frac{1}{C_{T}} \left[\prod_{j=1}^{N_{2}} \mathcal{O}(t_{j})^{\beta} \right] e^{-S_{E}}.$$
 (149)

The term in square brackets is a non-trivial measure term, which in the continuum corresponds to a nonuniform weighting of the measure by $[\det(g)]^{\beta/2}$. The product in Eq. (13) is over all 2-simplices, and $O(t_j)$ is the order of the 2simplex *j*, i.e., the number of four-simplices to which the triangle belongs. One can vary the free parameter β as an additional independent coupling constant in the bare lattice action (after exponentiating the measure term [168]), bringing the total number of couplings to three. Up until now, the vast majority of work on EDT has considered the partition function with $\beta = 0$ only, apart from the already mentioned work of Refs. [168] and [169].

The term associated with the non-trivial measure β can be combined into the discrete Einstein-Hilbert action by exponentiating the measure term, giving

$$S_E = -\kappa_2 N_2 + \kappa_4 N_4 - \beta \sum_j \log O\left(\mathbf{t}_j\right).$$
(150)

The partition function of Eq. (13) is implemented via a Monte Carlo integration over the ensemble of 4-dimensional triangulations with fixed topology S^4 . The bare cosmological constant, or equivalently κ_4 , controls the number of 4simplices N_4 in the ensemble because they appear as conjugate variables in the action of Eq. (9). One must therefore tune κ_4 such that an infinite volume limit can be taken [170]. It is convenient to ensure that numerical simulations are performed for a nearly fixed four-volume, and so a term $\delta\lambda|N_4^f - N_4|$ is introduced into the action such that N_4 is kept close to the target value N_4^f , i.e., $N_4^f \approx N_4$. However, this does not change the action for values of $N_4^f = N_4$, about which the volume fluctuates. The purpose of the term $\delta\lambda|N_4^f - N_4|$ is to prevent volume fluctuations about N_4^f from becoming too large to be easily handled in numerical simulations. While the simulation stabilises around the target volume N_4^f the parameter $\delta\lambda$ is set to 0.08, after stabilisation $\delta\lambda$ is reduced to 0.04. This term permits fluctuations in N_4 of magnitude $\delta N_4 = \left(\langle N_4^2 \rangle^2 - \langle N_4 \rangle^2\right)^{1/2} = \left(\frac{1}{2\delta\lambda}\right)^{1/2}$. One is then left with a two-dimensional parameter space, which is explored by varying κ_2 and β .

EDT has recently undergone something of a revival, due to the inclusion of this non-trivial measure term β [171, 172, 173, 174]. There is now evidence that properly interpreted the EDT formulation may provide a viable theory of quantum gravity at high energies, for a specific fine-tuning of the non-trivial measure term [173]. We present results from this new EDT model in section 7.2.3.

6.3.1. Conformal Instability

One of the major obstacles to formulating a Euclidean theory of quantum gravity is that the Euclidean action for Einstein gravity is unbounded from below. This section will outline this problem and discuss some of the ideas that have been proposed to resolve this issue.

To motivate the desire to Euclideanise the Lorentzian Einstein action and to highlight the fact that it is unbound from below we take a simple interacting scalar field theory as an example. The expectation value of an observable O for a scalar field theory is given by the path integral

$$\langle O \rangle = \frac{1}{Z} \int O[\phi] e^{iS[\phi]} [d\phi], \qquad (151)$$

where the action is the functional

$$S[\phi] = \int dt \int d^3x \left(\left(\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial t} \right)^2 - (\nabla \phi)^2 - V(\phi) \right).$$
(152)

Daniel Coumbe

When performing computations it is not clear how one would directly evaluate the observable *O* numerically using the path integral of Eq. (15) because it contains complex oscillatory factors e^{iS} . In order to make computations tractable, one typically performs a change of variables of the type $t \rightarrow -i\tau$ such that the Lorentzian action transforms into the Euclidean action,

$$S_{Eucl}[\phi] = \int d\tau \int d^3x \left(\left(\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial \tau} \right)^2 + \left(\nabla \phi \right)^2 + V(\phi) \right).$$
(153)

The oscillatory factor e^{iS} appearing in the path integral is then transformed into e^{-S_E} , giving a path integral that is damped as opposed to being oscillatory, in addition to being amenable to numerical simulations. The Euclidean action given in Eq. (17) is positive definite for positive definite interaction potentials $V(\phi)$ [175]. However, the problem arises due to the gravitational interaction potential being negative in general relativity. The reason is that although gravitational waves have positive energy, the gravitational potential is always negative because gravity is always attractive [13].

The fundamental degrees of freedom in general relativity are given by the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$. General relativity is diffeomorphism invariant and so one is free to transform the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ via a conformal transformation. Any two metrics $g_{\mu\nu}$ and $h_{\mu\nu}$ are said to be conformally equivalent if $g_{\mu\nu} = \Omega h_{\mu\nu}$ where Ω is some positive conformal factor. Following Ref. [13] we make a conformal transformation $g_{\mu\nu} = \Omega^2 h_{\mu\nu}$, where once again Ω is some positive conformal factor. The Einstein action then becomes

$$S_E(h_{\mu\nu}) = -\frac{1}{16\pi G_N} \int d^4x \sqrt{\det(g_{\mu\nu})} \left(\Omega^2 R + 6g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\Omega\partial_{\nu}\Omega\right).$$
(154)

One can see from Eq. (18) that the Einstein action can be made arbitrarily negative if the conformal factor Ω is rapidly varying. This means that the Euclidean Einstein action is unbounded from below and that the path integral of Eq. (18) could be divergent, depending on the behaviour of the gravitational measure in the strong field limit and in the regime of rapidly varying conformal factors Ω [176].

The *positive energy conjecture* outlined in Refs. [177, 178] seems to suggest that the total energy of an asymptotically flat gravitational field as measured

at infinity is always positive and that the formation of black holes in regions of arbitrarily negative potentials prevents such scenarios from being physically realised [13]. If Euclidean general relativity is to accurately describe reality one would need to mathematically prevent the conformal instability appearing in the Euclidean action. A number of possible solutions to the unboundedness problem of the gravitational action have been put forward, most notably those of Gibbons, Hawking and Perry [179, 180]. The conformal instability of the Euclidean gravitational action was shown in Refs. [181, 182] to cancel, at least to one-loop in perturbation theory [176], and possibly nonperturbatively [177].

Because the Euclidean path integral is unbounded from below one may ask whether Euclidean dynamical triangulations is a well-defined theory at all. This is a legitimate concern because the partition function can become dominated by lattice configurations with arbitrarily large curvature. However, the hope is that by introducing an appropriate measure term into the Euclidean action one can suppress the contributions coming from configurations with arbitrarily large curvature, thus making the gravitational path integral convergent [173].

6.4. Causal Dynamical Triangulations

The difficulties encountered in the original EDT model, namely the absence of a physical phase and a second-order critical point, led Ambjorn and Loll [183] to introduce a causality constraint on the set of triangulations over which the path integral is taken, in the hope that it would fix these problems. The method of causal dynamical triangulations (CDT) distinguishes between spacelike and time-like links on the lattice so that an explicit foliation of the lattice into space-like hypersurfaces of fixed topology (usually chosen to be S^3) can be introduced. This prevents branching of geometries into "baby universes" along the time direction.

Figure 9. shows the two fundamental building blocks of causal dynamical triangulations. The four-simplex labelled (4, 1) has four vertices on the space-like hypersurface of constant time t = 0 that are connected by space-like links l_s , and one vertex on the hypersurface t = 1. The space-like hypersurfaces t and t + 1 are connected by time-like edges l_t . The two types of simplices can be glued together, along with their time-reversed counterparts, to form a causal slice of spacetime. One can then stack t such slices on top of one another,



Figure 9. The building blocks of CDT. The (4,1) and (3,2) 4-simplices [1].

forming a causal spacetime of duration $\tau = t$. The causal structure of spacetime in CDT demands an extra parameter α that describes the ratio of the length of space-like links l_s to time-like links l_t (for Euclidean dynamical triangulations $\alpha = 1$) on the lattice and is given by,

$$\alpha = \frac{l_s^2}{l_t^2}.$$
(155)

The metric for CDT has the Lorentzian signature (-1, 1, 1, 1) resulting in a path integral, or partition function, of the type

$$Z = \sum_{T} \frac{1}{C_T} e^{-\iota S_E(T)},\tag{156}$$

which contains complex probabilities and is not suitable for numerical integration. CDT must therefore be rotated to Euclidean signature (1, 1, 1, 1), producing a real action that is numerically tractable. It is important to note, however, that although the sum over geometries is performed with Euclidean metric signature the end result is strictly Lorentzian. This is because one starts by restricting the set of possible Euclidean geometries to only include those that meet the conditions of the causality constraint. One then Wick rotates the α parameter in the lower half of the complex plane and performs the Euclidean sum over geometries. At least in principle one can then Wick rotate back to Lorentzian signature. The inverse Wick rotation is not feasible using numerical methods alone, which is a familiar feature of numerical lattice field theory.

Numerical simulations in CDT generate a walk over the ensemble of triangulations based on Monte Carlo importance sampling with time extension *t*. The local updating algorithm consists of a set of moves that change the geometry of the simplicial manifold locally, without altering its topological properties [152]. CDT appears to obtain the correct macroscopic properties of spacetime from a minimal set of assumptions. Numerical simulations using causally triangulated ensembles have demonstrated the existence of a phase whose ground state turns out to closely resemble the maximally symmetric vacuum solution of general relativity, namely de Sitter space [184] (phase C in Fig. 10.). Quantum fluctuations, that are well described by a semiclassical expansion about de Sitter space, have also been reported [185, 184]. The macroscopic dimension of this phase has been non-trivially determined and is found to be consistent with 4-dimensional spacetime [185, 7].

Figure 10. shows an up-to-date phase diagram of CDT containing four phases A, B, C, and the newly discovered bifurcation phase. As already mentioned, phase C appears to have physical geometric properties, exhibiting semiclassical de Sitter-like behaviour with an extended 4-dimensional geometry. However, phases A and B are likely unphysical in nature. Phase A consists of uncorrelated spatial slices and has a large-scale spectral dimension that is inconsistent with 4-dimensional spacetime ($D_S \sim 4/3$) [7]. Phase B consists of simplices with extremely high coordination number, such that the universe essentially collapses into a slice of minimal time extension [152]. The newly discovered bifurcation phase also appears to be unphysical due to some rather bizarre geometric properties [186, 6].

The transition dividing phases A and C has been found to be almost certainly first-order [187]. The A-B transition has not been studied in detail and its order is largely unknown, which is in part due to the fact that Monte Carlo simulations within this region of the parameter space become critically slow. In Ref. [187] Ambjorn et al. present strong evidence that the B-C transition is second-order. They determine the order of the transition in three main ways. Firstly, the histogram of the vertex number is studied, revealing a double peak structure that does not increase with simplicial volume in the vicinity of the B-C transition, behaviour indicative of a higher-order transition. Secondly, they measure the shift in the critical exponent \tilde{v} of the asymmetry parameter Δ to be $\tilde{v} = 2.51$, which is in clear violation of the first-order value $\tilde{v} = 1$ [188]. Thirdly, measurements of geometric observables *O* using the so-called Binder cumulant [188] bolster the conclusion of a second-order transition. A recent study has shown that the boundary separating the bifurcation phase from phase C (see Fig. 10.) is also almost certainly second order [189]. Since in a lattice formulation of asymptotic safety the NTFP would appear as a second order critical point [171], this result raises the exciting possibility that CDT could make contact with Weinberg's asymptotic safety scenario [190].



Figure 10. The 4-dimensional phase diagram of CDT spanned by the parameters κ_0 and Δ [6].

It has been shown that the phase diagram of CDT is similar to that of the generic phase diagram of Horava-Lifshitz gravity, assuming the average geometry in CDT can be correctly identified with the Lifshitz field [191]. Furthermore, in Ref. [192] Ambjorn et al. show that analytically solvable 2-dimensional CDT is equivalent to Horava-Lifshitz gravity in 2-dimensions. The global time foliation that is an inherent feature of CDT, and that explicitly breaks the isotropy between space and time, is also a defining feature of Horava-Lifshitz gravity [193]. Thus, it is possible that CDT might provide a unifying nonperturbative framework for anisotropic theories of quantum gravity [191].

Chapter 7

Is the Dimension of Spacetime Scale Dependent?

7.1. Why 4 Dimensions?

Why do we live in 4-dimensional spacetime? Why not 3, or 5, or 3.99? Other than our everyday experience there are a number of reasons to think that the universe is exactly 4-dimensional. Following the development of general relativity in 1915, with its assumption of a 4-dimensional Riemannian metric, Paul Ehrenfest began questioning the assumption of 4-dimensional spacetime as soon as 1917. Ehrenfest argued that the stability of orbits in Newtonian mechanics and Maxwell's equations uniquely required 4-dimensions. Furthermore, Maxwell's equations are conformally invariant only in 4-dimensional spacetime, and the Yang-Mills functional is dimensionless (scale invariant) if and only if the spacetime dimension is four. The smallest number of dimensions in which general relativity is non-trivial is (3+1). In (2+1)-dimensions, for example, general relativity has no propagating gravitational degrees of freedom. However, given these interesting observations, we are yet to find a definitive explanation for why spacetime must be macroscopically 4-dimensional. This gap in our knowledge has inevitably led many physicists to propose theories with a dimension other than four.

Nordstrom was the first to hypothesise that spacetime might have more than four dimensions [194]. Theodore Kaluza brilliantly demonstrated the

Daniel Coumbe

utility of higher-dimensional theories by extending general relativity to a fivedimensional spacetime. With no free parameters, Kaluza's theory was able to reproduce the four-dimensional Einstein field equations as well as Maxwell's electromagnetic equations, with an additional scalar field known as the dilaton [195]. Oscar Klein later added some important additions to Kaluza's work [196], which subsequently became known as Kaluza-Klein theory. In Kaluza-Klein theory the fifth spacetime dimension is compact and only becomes apparent at extremely high energies, thus demonstrating for the first time the notion of a scale dependent dimension. However promising, the Kaluza-Klein theory has a number of outstanding issues, including the stability of the fifth dimension, where the size of the extra dimension rapidly diverges to infinity or vanishes altogether. Nevertheless, the cat was out of the bag, and ever since physicists have invoked the idea of extra dimensions in theoretical physics models, most notably in string theory.

However, we might also ask whether the number of spacetime dimensions could be less than four at small distances? This possibility was first raised by a number of authors in the mid-1980s, such as Jourjine [197], Kaplunovsky and Weinstein [198], and Zeilinger and Svozil [199]. In 1985, Crane and Smolin [200] considered a model in which the spacetime vacuum is filled with a sea of virtual black holes with a scale invariant distribution. Using this model they found that the effective spacetime dimension turns out to be a non-integer value that is less than four, implying spacetime has a fractal geometry at high energies. Within the context of cosmology, Hu and O'Connor first noted an effective scale dependent dimension [201], an observation that has since been reported numerous times, as discussed in section 2.3.1.¹

In four spacetime dimensions, gravity is perturbatively nonrenormalisable. However, in spacetime dimensions of two or less gravity is power-counting renormalisable. If the dimensionality of spacetime were to decrease to two or less one could in principle have a self-renormalising quantum field theory of gravity. Over the last decade, a number of independent field-theoretic approaches to quantum gravity have reported a scale dependent reduction in dimensionality. Individually, none of these independent approaches constitute substantial evidence in support of dimensional reduction; collectively, however, they form a compelling argument. The evidence for dimensional reduction in

¹For an excellent overview of scale dependent dimensionality see Refs. [202] and [65].

quantum gravity will now be reviewed.

7.2. The Evidence for Dimensional Reduction

7.2.1. String Theory

Atick and Witten showed in Ref. [203] that high-temperature string theory behaves as if spacetime were two-dimensional, or more precisely (1 + 1)dimensional. In string theory, there is thought to exist a limiting temperature known as the Hagedorn temperature, at which a heated gas of strings undergoes a phase transition. Below the Hagedorn temperature, or conversely at distances greater than the string scale $\sqrt{\alpha'}$, string theory is accurately characterised in terms of strings, and all is fine. However, at yet shorter distance scales this description begins to break down. Atick and Witten found that at distances *r* smaller than the string scale $\sqrt{\alpha'}$ physical systems have far fewer degrees of freedom per unit volume than relativistic field theories, with the free energy *F* scaling with the volume *V* and temperature *T* according to

$$F \sim VT^2, \qquad r < \sqrt{\alpha'}.$$
 (157)

As pointed out in Ref. [203] the scaling behaviour of Eq. (1) is exactly what one would expect from a quantum field theory in (1 + 1)-dimensional spacetime. In addition, there are also hints from two-string scattering amplitudes [204] and high-energy open string scattering [205] that have been interpreted as suggesting (1 + 1)-dimensional behaviour at high energies.

There are two important caveats relating to the above discussion. First, this apparent reduction from (3+1) to (1+1)-dimensional spacetime occurs for strings on a flat background, and so may not apply in the more realistic setting of non-Euclidean geometry. Secondly, it is inconsistent to use external measuring probes in string theory to examine spacetime at short distances, as stressed by Gross and Mende [206].

7.2.2. Causal Dynamical Triangulations

The CDT approach to quantum gravity has produced some of the strongest evidence for dynamical dimensional reduction on short distance scales. CDT approximates continuous spacetime via a lattice network of *n*-dimensional simplices. The spectral dimension is calculated in CDT by examining how a test particle diffuses throughout this lattice network of simplices, similar to the random walk shown in Fig. 3.. The test particle begins from a randomly chosen simplex and jumps between neighbouring simplices a total of σ times. Such random walks are repeated numerous times, with the number of diffusion processes that return to the origin after σ diffusion steps counted. From this one can determine an average probability of return, which is used to compute the spectral dimension of the simplicial manifold via Eq. (8).

In Spectral Dimension of the Universe Ambjorn et al. [8] present the first result for the running spectral dimension $D_S(\sigma)$ in CDT using a fit to the functional form,

$$D_S(\sigma) = a - \frac{b}{c + \sigma},\tag{158}$$

where σ is the diffusion time, an effective measure of the distance scale probed by the diffusion process. The numerical coefficients of this fit were determined to be a = 4.02, b = 119, and c = 54. The physical significance of the particular fit function chosen by Ambjorn et al. (Eq. (2)) is not known from first principles, it is simply the functional form that best describes the dependence of the spectral dimension over the entire range of their data.² The work of Refs. [207, 208, 209, 210] have attempted to derive this function from first principles using analytical methods.

Their result for the large-scale spectral dimension of CDT is quoted as

$$D_S(\sigma \to \infty) = 4.02 \pm 0.10, \tag{159}$$

while the short-distance spectral dimension was found to be

$$D_S(\sigma \to 0) = 1.80 \pm 0.25.$$
 (160)

The authors of [8] correctly claim that the value for $D_S(\sigma \rightarrow 0)$ is therefore consistent with the integer two. However, large discretisation errors are typically associated with the small-scale spectral dimension. One reason for this is

²The alternative fit functions considered in Ref. [8] were $a - be^{-c\sigma}$ and $a - \frac{b}{\sigma^c}$.
because for a small number of diffusion steps the behaviour of $D_S(\sigma)$ can be significantly different when considering an even or odd number of diffusion steps. This effect can be understood by considering a simplified diffusion process on a one-dimensional piecewise straight line; in this scenario, it is impossible to begin and end at the origin after an odd number of diffusion steps, whereas this is not true for an even number of diffusion steps (see Fig. 11.). A similar effect is present in 4-dimensional triangulations, where an oscillatory behaviour is observed at small σ values, although this discrepancy between odd and even integer steps becomes negligible for sufficiently large σ values [8], as can be seen in Fig. 12.. The relatively large error associated with Eq. (4) leaves some ambiguity in the conclusions that can be drawn from this result.



Figure 11. An illustration of how an odd or even number of diffusion steps can impact the probability of return close to the origin for a simple 1-dimensional random walk.

A more recent publication has revisited these calculations of the spectral in CDT [7], providing a more comprehensive study with reduced systematic and statistical errors. The most important results of this work are presented in Fig. 13. and Tab. 3.. In Ref. [7] it is found that the long-distance spectral dimension is consistent with the expected semiclassical dimensionality of 4, and that the spectral dimension monotonically decreases to a value of around 3/2 on small distance scales when using sufficiently fine lattices. However, at the canonical point in the phase diagram of CDT ($\kappa_0 = 2.2, \Delta = 0.6$), which has been shown to closely approximate 4-dimensional de Sitter space in the infrared, the small-distance spectral dimension is more consistent with the integer 2, with the measured value being 1.970 ± 0.266 .



Figure 12. Fluctuations in the spectral dimension due to the difference between odd and even diffusion steps σ over short distance scales [7]. This effect introduces a systematic discretisation error that can be reduced by omitting data values below a specific cut-off in σ [7].

As demonstrated by the fits to the (2.2, 0.6)160K data in Fig. 13., both the correlated and uncorrelated fits yield similar results. Utilising the full covariance matrix in the estimation of χ^2 yields a relatively large $\chi^2/d.o.f = 1.92$. Since there currently exists no consensus on the correct functional form that the spectral dimension should take we employ an uncorrelated version of the fit function of Eq. (2) as our ansatz, making a more accurate estimate of systematic errors by changing the fit function and varying the fit range. This procedure results in the central values of $D_S(\infty)$ and $D_S(0)$ of Tab. 3. by using the uncorrelated fit function of Eq. (2) over the data range $\sigma \in [50, 490]$ in steps of 4 for the point (2.2, 0.6) and $\sigma \in [60, 490]$ in steps of 4 for the other three points. The errors quoted in Tab. 3. are also determined by adding statistical errors in quadrature.

A better estimate of the systematic error of spectral dimension measurements is obtained by changing the σ range over which the fit function of Eq. (2) is used. Moreover, due to the absence of any theoretical explanation for the particular form of Eq. (2) it is important to estimate the contribution to the systematic error associated with the application of the alternative fit functions $D_S(\sigma) = a - b \exp(-c\sigma)$ and $D_S(\sigma) = a - (b/(c+\sigma))^d$, where a, b, c, and d



Figure 13. The spectral dimension D_S as a function of the diffusion time σ for 4 different points in phase C of CDT [7]. The $D_S(\sigma)$ curves for points with $\Delta = 0.6$ are calculated using a lattice volume of 160,000 $N_{4,1}$ simplices. $D_S(\sigma)$ at the point $\kappa_0 = 4.4, \Delta = 2.0$ is computed using a lattice volume of 300,000 $N_{4,1}$ simplices. The error band denotes an uncorrelated fit to the data using Eq. (2) over the fit range $\sigma \in [50, 494]$ for the point $\kappa_0 = 2.2, \Delta = 0.6$ and $\sigma \in [60, 492]$ for the other three points. An extrapolation to $\sigma = 0$ and $\sigma \to \infty$ is made using the function of Eq. (2). The uncorrelated fit shows only the central value for comparison. Errors presented in this figure are statistical only, however Tab. 3. includes estimates of the total statistical and systematic errors.

are free fit parameters, whose values can be found in Tables 4. and 5..

7.2.3. Euclidean Dynamical Triangulations

We now take a look at the spectral dimension in the Euclidean model of dynamical triangulations (EDT). In Ref. [171] the spectral dimension is calculated using an ensemble of degenerate triangulations with a volume of 4000 foursimplices. The simulation was performed for the bare parameters $\kappa_2 = 2.1$ and $\beta = -1.0$. Approximately 1000 configurations were used to determine the average return probability given by Eq. (5). The errors are determined from a single

Table 3. A table of the large-distance $D_S(\sigma \to \infty)$ and short-distance $D_S(\sigma \to 0)$ spectral dimension for 4 different points in phase C of CDT. $D_S(\sigma \to \infty)$ and $D_S(\sigma \to 0)$ are computed using the functional form $a - \frac{b}{c+\sigma}$ [8]

(κ_0,Δ)	$D_S(0)$	$D_S(\infty)$
(2.2, 0.6)	1.970 ± 0.266	4.05 ± 0.17
(3.6, 0.6)	1.576 ± 0.093	4.31 ± 0.32
(4.4, 0.6)	1.534 ± 0.058	4.12 ± 0.16
(4.4, 2.0)	1.540 ± 0.060	4.14 ± 0.12

Table 4. The fit parameters a, b, c and d for the two alternative fit functions used in estimating the systematic error for the bare parameters (2.2, 0.6) and (3.6, 0.6) with $N_{4,1} = 160,000$

Fit-function	(2.2,0.6)			(3.6,0.6)				
	а	b	с	d	a	b	с	d
$a - b \exp(-c\sigma)$	3.74	1.73	0.013	-	3.74	2.14	0.0078	-
$a-(b/(c+\sigma))^d$	4.20	108.17	21.69	0.62	4.01	479.57	339.14	2.43

elimination jackknife procedure. Fluctuations were reduced by histogramming the data into bin sizes of two from $\sigma = 2 - 80$ and in bin sizes of four from $\sigma = 80 - 288$. The fit is to the same functional form suggested in Ref. [8], namely

$$D_S(\mathbf{\sigma}) = a - \frac{b}{c + \mathbf{\sigma}},\tag{161}$$

with a, b, and c determined by the fit. The fit uses the full covariance matrix in the estimate of χ^2 with σ ranging from 10 to 146 in increments of 4, giving a $\chi^2/dof = 35/32$ and a confidence level (corrected for finite sample size) of CL=0.37. Variations of the fit function were used to estimate a systematic error on the asymptotic value of D_S , based on the assumptions that $D_S(\sigma)$ is a

Table 5. The fit parameters a, b, c and d for the two alternative fit functions used in estimating the systematic error for the bare parameters (4.4, 0.6) with $N_{4,1} = 160,000$ simplices, and for the bare parameters (4.4, 2.0) with $N_{4,1} = 300,000$

Fit-function	(4.4,0.6)			(4.4,2.0)				
	а	b	с	d	а	b	с	d
$a-b\exp(-c\sigma)$	3.83	2.18	0.0016	-	4.12	2.46	0.0013	-
$a - (b/(c+\sigma))^d$	3.99	1213.56	586.11	1.24	4.00	1337.74	648.10	1.25

monotonic function.³

The preferred fit yields $D_S(\infty) = 4.04 \pm 0.26$, and $D_S(0) = 1.457 \pm 0.064$, where the errors include both the statistical error and a systematic error associated with varying the fit function and the fit range added in quadrature [171].⁴ Calculations of the spectral dimension with combinatorial triangulations yield similar results, but require significantly larger lattice volumes.

A more recent study of the spectral dimension in EDT for a specific finetuning of the non-trivial measure term β adds to this result [173]. Applying the same fit function of Eq. (5) yields a spectral dimension in the range $D_S =$ 2.7 - 3.3 at large distances [173], and a small-distance value in the range $D_S =$ 1.4 - 1.6, as shown in Tab. 6.. Clearly, the large-distance result $D_S = 2.7 - 3.3$ is inconsistent with 4-dimensional semi-classical general relativity.

However, this inconsistency could be down to finite volume or discretisation effects. To determine whether or not this is the case we consider an additional extrapolation of $D_S(\infty)$ of the form

$$D_S(\infty) = c_0 + c_1 \frac{1}{V} + c_2 a^2, \tag{162}$$

where c_i is a fit parameter, V is the lattice volume and a is the lattice spacing (see Ref. [173] for the motivation behind this particular ansatz). Extrapolation to the continuum and infinite volume limit using the fit function of Eq. (6) gives the large-distance value

³Reuter and Saueressig in Ref. [62] use renormalisation group methods to show that the spectral dimension should exhibit a long plateau at ~ 4/3 for small values of the diffusion time σ , and that as $\sigma \rightarrow 0$ the spectral dimension will increase again to $D_S = 2$, therefore predicting that the behaviour of the spectral dimension as a function of diffusion time is not monotonic, although this prediction may not be correct due to the truncation that is used.

⁴The alternative fit functions considered are those suggested in Ref. [8], namely $a - be^{-c\sigma}$ and $a - \frac{b}{\sigma^c}$.

Table 6. The spectral dimension in the small and large-distance limits, including the $\chi^2/d.o.f.$ of each measurement, for different values of the non-trivial measure term β and for different lattice volumes N_4

β	N_4	$D_S(0)$	$D_S(\infty)$	$\chi^2/d.o.f.$
-0.8	8000	1.445(16)	2.75(11)	1.14
-0.6	4000	1.431(29)	2.756(89)	1.38
0	4000	1.464(49)	2.809(51)	1.12
0	8000	1.484(21)	3.090(41)	1.25
0	16000	1.484(37)	3.30(12)	0.92
0.8	4000	1.44(15)	2.797(64)	0.91
1.5	4000	1.64(26)	2.655(93)	1.60

$$D_S(\infty) = 3.94 \pm 0.16,\tag{163}$$

and the small-distance value

$$D_S(0) = 1.44 \pm 0.19. \tag{164}$$

7.2.4. Horava-Lifshitz Gravity

Horava-Lifshitz gravity is a proposed theory of quantum gravity that explicitly breaks the four-dimensional diffeomorphism symmetry of general relativity in the high-energy regime [193]. Although in Horava-Lifshitz gravity the symmetry between space and time is explicitly broken at the shortest scales, it is hoped that LI is recovered in the large-distance limit. Horava-Lifshitz gravity allows an anisotropic scaling of spacetime at short distances, or conversely at high energies. The degree of anisotropy is quantified via the dynamical critical exponent z. At low energies, or large distances, z = 1. However, at high energies, or small distances, the dynamical critical exponent runs to z = 3. The payoff that comes from treating space and time differently at high energies is a theory that is better behaved in the ultraviolet limit [193].

In (D + 1)-dimensional spacetime with anisotropic scaling exponent z the spectral dimension of Horava-Lifshitz gravity is found to be [211]

$$D_S = 1 + \frac{D}{z}.$$
 (165)

Thus, at small distances (z = 3) one obtains $D_S = 2$ and at large distances (z = 1) one recovers the semi-classically expected value $D_S = 4$. In addition to a similar running spectral dimension, Horava-Lifshitz gravity shares a number of other salient features with CDT, most importantly it also assumes a fixed foliated structure of spacetime [211, 191].

7.2.5. Asymptotic Safety

The requirement that general relativity be asymptotically safe demands that the renormalisation group flow of its couplings has a high-energy fixed point, a fixed point that is by definition scale invariant. General relativity contains at least one (the other possibility being the cosmological constant Λ) dimensionful coupling that breaks exact scale invariance, Newton's constant G_N . However, in *d*-dimensional spacetime Newton's constant has a canonical mass dimension of $[G_N] = 2 - d$, so that in d = 2 dimensions general relativity becomes precisely scale invariant. Intuitively, this explains why we should expect the dimension of spacetime to approach two at the high-energy fixed point of asymptotic safety; because scale invariance demands it. We now proceed to demonstrate in a more rigorous setting that this is indeed the observed behaviour.

The beta-function describing how the dimensionless gravitational couplings $g_k = k^{d-2}G_k$ and $\lambda_k = k^{-2}\Lambda_k$ run as a function of the RG scale *k* is given by

$$\beta(g,\lambda) = \mu \frac{\partial g}{\partial \mu} = (d - 2 + \eta(g,\lambda))g.$$
(166)

The high-energy fixed point required by asymptotic safety is parametrised by an anomalous dimension of

$$\eta(g,\lambda) = 2 - d = -2, \qquad (d = 4).$$
 (167)

This simple fact can be used to calculate the effective behaviour of the dressed graviton propagator as a function of momentum within the vicinity of the fixed point. An expansion of the truncated gravitational action about flat space (without tensor structures) gives an inverse propagator at the threshold value $k = \sqrt{p^2}$ of

$$\mathcal{G}_k(p)^{-1} = Z(k)p^2 \propto (p^2)^{1-\eta/2},$$
 (168)

because $Z(k) \propto k^{-\eta}$ when $\eta \equiv -\partial_t \ln Z$ is approximately constant [3]. The Fourier transform of $\mathcal{G}_k(p)$ determines the Euclidean propagator in *d*-dimensional position space to be

$$\mathcal{G}(x;y) \propto \frac{1}{|x-y|^{d-2+\eta}}, \qquad \eta \neq 2-d.$$
(169)

For $\eta = -2$ the dressed propagator becomes $\tilde{\mathcal{G}} = p^{-4}$, which in position space is given by

$$G(x; y) \propto -\frac{1}{8\pi^2} \ln(\mu |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|) \qquad (\mathbf{d} = 4),$$
 (170)

where μ is a constant with dimensions of mass [3]. For a field theory in flat space a propagator that scales like $\tilde{G} = p^{-4}$ is usually associated with unitarity issues. However, for large values of *k* the spacetime considered has a large curvature that is proportional to k^2 , and so this may not be an issue in this case.

The propagator of Eq. (14) has a particularly striking feature; it is exactly what one obtains from a $1/p^2$ -propagator in 2-dimensional spacetime. Remarkably, this result seems to suggest that in asymptotic safety spacetime behaves as if it were two-dimensional when viewed using extremely high-energy gravitons.

Furthermore, in Ref. [62] Reuter and Saueressig compute the spectral dimension D_S and walk dimension D_W of the effective space-times associated with asymptotically safe gravity. In the large-distance limit they find $D_S = D_T$ and $D_W = 2$, where D_T is the topological dimension of the spacetime. At intermediate distances, referred to as the semiclassical regime, this dimensionality dynamically changes to $D_S = 2D_T/(D_T + 2)$ and $D_W = 2 + D_T$. Finally, in the large energy limit (the NTFP regime) $D_S = D_T/2$ and $D_W = 4$. Which, in the case of $D_T = 4$ topological dimensions yields a reduction in the number of spacetime dimensions from $D_S = 4$ in the large-distance limit to $D_S = 2$ in the small-distance limit, for the spectral dimension. Contrary to this, however, the walk dimension appears to non-monotonically increase from $D_W = 2$ at large distances to $D_W = 4$ at small distances [62].

7.2.6. Loop Quantum Gravity

Loop quantum gravity is a canonical quantisation scheme that is widely considered to be among the leading approaches to quantum gravity. The first piece of evidence for dimensional reduction in loop quantum gravity was found by Modesto [212], who noted that the average area operator $\langle A_l \rangle$ at a given (quantised) length scale *l* in loop quantum gravity can be written as

$$\langle A_l \rangle = \frac{\sqrt{l^2 \left(l^2 + l_P^2\right)}}{\sqrt{l_0^2 \left(l_0^2 + l_P^2\right)}} \langle A_{l_0} \rangle, \tag{171}$$

where $\langle A_{l_0} \rangle$ is the average area at the infrared length scale l_0 (with $l \leq l_0$) and l_P is the Planck length. Note that for sufficiently large length scales l the average area of Eq. (15) scales in the usual way, however, as l decreases the area operator begins to deviate from the usual expression, which already hints at an unusual scaling behaviour in the small-distance limit. We now proceed to analyse this behaviour in more detail in order to see what exactly it has to say about spacetime dimensionality at extremely small distances.

The scaling behaviour of the average area operator $\langle A_l \rangle$ can be converted into a scale dependent inverse metric tensor, which in the case of a fourdimensional spin foam model gives

$$\langle g^{\mu\nu}\rangle_k = \frac{k^2}{k_0^2} \langle g^{\mu\nu}\rangle_{k_0}.$$
 (172)

Applying the scale dependence of the spacetime metric of Eq. (16) to the definition of the spectral dimension

$$D_{S} = -2 \frac{\partial \ln P_{r}(T)}{\partial \ln(T)},$$
(173)

where T is the diffusion time, allows us to write the spectral dimension of spacetime as

$$D_{S} = 2T \frac{\int d^{4}k e^{-k^{2}F(k)T} k^{2}F(k)}{\int d^{4}k e^{-k^{2}F(k)T}},$$
(174)

where F(k) is defined to be $F(k) = 1 + k^2/k_0^2$. Using Eq. (16) we obtain the limiting behaviour

$$D_{S} = \begin{cases} 2, & \text{for } k \ge E_{P} \\ 4, & \text{for } k \ll E_{P}, \end{cases}$$
(175)

a result that is in perfect agreement with string theory [203], causal dynamical triangulations [8, 7] and asymptotic safety [3, 62].

The spectral dimension has also been calculated using the same methodology within the Barrett-Crane spinfoam model [213]. Within this model, the spectral dimension is once again found to run from approximately 4 at large distances to approximately 2 at extremely small distance scales.

7.2.7. The Wheeler-DeWitt Equation

Performing the canonical quantisation of general relativity by expressing the quantum mechanical Hamiltonian constraint using metric variables leads to the celebrated Wheeler-DeWitt equation [29], which makes the rather grand claim of describing the wavefunction of the entire universe, at least to some approximation. The Wheeler-DeWitt equation can be written as

$$\left[16\pi l_p^2 G_{abcd} \frac{\delta}{\delta q_{ab}} \frac{\delta}{\delta q_{cd}} - \frac{1}{16\pi l_p^2} \sqrt{q^{(3)}} R\right] \Psi[q] = 0,$$
(176)

where the so-called DeWitt super-metric is given by $G_{abcd} = 1/2q^{-1/2}(q_{ac}q_{bd} + q_{ad}q_{bc} - q_{ab}q_{cd})$ and q_{ab} is the spatial metric tensor at a given time.

The wave function of the universe $\Psi[q]$ describes the metric at all distance scales. In order to examine the behaviour at small distances we may take the strong coupling limit $l_P \rightarrow \infty$ [214]. In this limit the behaviour is essentially that of a Kasner space [215], which has a heat kernel given by [216, 217]

$$K(x,x,\sigma) \approx \frac{1}{4\pi\sigma^2} \left(1 + \frac{a\sigma}{t^2} + \dots \right).$$
(177)

For a fixed probing scale (fixed value of σ) the second term will come to dominate for sufficiently small values of *t*, which once again yields a small-distance spectral dimension of $D_S = 2$ [65].

7.2.8. Causal Set Theory

Causal set theory is yet another approach to quantum gravity that exhibits dimensional reduction. In causal set theory spacetime is axiomatically discrete but still Lorentz invariant, being made from a set of points related by a partial order describing their causal relationship with one another [218]. One definition of the fractal dimension that respects the Lorentzian nature of causal set theory is the Myrheim-Meyer dimension D_{MM} discussed in section 2.2.5.. There are three main cases for which the Myrheim-Meyer dimension has been calculated in causal set theory. First, for a random causal set with a very small number of elements (between 4 and 6) the average Myrheim-Meyer dimension has been shown to be in the range $D_{MM} = 2.15 - 2.27$ [219]. Secondly, for larger 'generic' causal sets (~ 50 elements), which are dominated by structures known as Kleitman-Rothschild (KR) orders [220], the Myrheim-Meyer dimension is $D_{MM} = 2.38$ [219]. Thirdly, there are preliminary indications that causal sets defined via a random sprinkling of points in Minkowski spacetime result in the value $D_{MM} \approx 2$ for small sub-intervals [221].

The behaviour of the spectral dimension has also been studied using causal sets. Eichhorn and Mizera [222] have calculated the spectral dimension in causal set theory, finding that D_S actually increases at short distances, or conversely at high energies. However, the d'Alembertian used in this work is somewhat naive and does not reproduce the usual flat spacetime d'Alembertian that approximates Minkowski space [65]. Using a more appropriate d'Alembertian, however, yields the by now familiar reduction to $D_S = 2$ in the small-distance limit [223].

7.2.9. Non-Commutative Geometry

Noncommutative geometry attempts to replace the Riemannian geometry of general relativity with a more general formalism, seeking to unify gravity with the standard model at very high energy scales [224]. Benedetti has analysed the scale dependent spectral dimension in so-called κ -Minkowksi spacetime [225], a specific case of noncommutative geometry. For large diffusion times σ , which correspond to probing spacetime on large distance scales, the spectral dimension agrees with the semiclassical expectation of 4. However, for small σ the spectral dimension reduces to $D_S = 3$ [225]. Although the behaviour of the di-

mensional reduction in noncommutative geometry is qualitatively similar to that found in e.g., causal dynamical triangulations or the asymptotic safety scenario, the small-distance value of $D_S = 3$ is notably different. However, it is shown in Ref. [226] that one can also obtain a small-distance spectral dimension $D_S = 2$, depending on the particular choice of deformed Laplacian

Studies of Snyder space, a different example of noncommutative spacetime, found that at high temperatures various measures of the dimension approach the value of 2 [227]. Using a variation of the spectral action within a more formal approach to noncommutative geometry [228] also yields $D_S = 4$ in the large-distance limit and $D_S = 2$ in the small-distance limit [224].

7.3. A Possible Solution to an Old Problem

We now return to the problem discussed in section 5.2.. Banks [144] and Shomer [145] argue that any quantum field theory must scale in the same way as a conformal field theory in the high-energy limit if it is to be renormalisable. However, they find that this is not true for gravity, and so conclude that gravity cannot be a renormalisable quantum field theory. Crucially, however, this argument assumes spacetime is 4-dimensional.

In a more general *d*-dimensional setting the entropy S_{CFT} of a conformal field theory is given by [146]

$$S_{CFT} \sim \left(\frac{E}{R^{d-1}}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{d}} R^{d-1},\tag{178}$$

where *R* is the radius of spacetime under consideration and *E* is the energy within this region. On the other hand, the entropy S_{Grav} for a high-energy theory of gravity in *d*-dimensional spacetime scales as [146]

$$S_{Grav} \sim \left(\frac{E}{R^{d-1}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} R^{d-1}.$$
(179)

Therefore, Eqs. (22) and (23) agree, if and only if, spacetime is 2-dimensional at high energies—which is exactly what the phenomenon of dimensional reduction

is telling us.5

7.4. Dimensional Reduction in the Sky

In Ref. [229] it is shown that given any dispersion relation one can compute an associated spectral dimension, and that in principle this process can be inverted. That is, starting from a given analytical form of the spectral dimension on the complex plane one can derive an associated dispersion relation [229]. Practically, however, this process is often difficult due to the fact that the exact analytical form of the spectral dimension on the complex plane is typically unknown.

Nevertheless, it is fairly straightforward to show that a spectral dimension that varies in any way as a function of the diffusion time σ must lead to a deformed dispersion relation. To show this we begin by noting that the probability of return used in the definition of the spectral dimension in momentum space is given by

$$P_r(\mathbf{\sigma}) = \int e^{\mathbf{\sigma} \triangle_p} d\mu, \qquad (180)$$

where $d\mu = dEd^3\vec{p}/(2\pi)^4$ and \triangle_p are the invariant measure and Laplace operator in momentum space, respectively [230]. In 4-dimensional Euclidean space an undeformed dispersion relation yields $\triangle_p = -E^2 - p^2 = 0$, which preserves a dimensionality of $D_S = 4$ over all distance scales as determined via Eqs. (8) and (24). If, however, the spectral dimension varies with σ then we must have $\triangle_p \neq 0$, and the associated dispersion relation must be deformed to some extent [230].

It has been suggested that a diverse range of scenarios for a running spectral dimension can be derived from a deformed dispersion relation with the generic form [211, 231]

$$E^{2} = p^{2} \left(1 + (\lambda p)^{2\gamma} \right), \qquad (181)$$

⁵Note that if we instead assume that the radius is independent of mass and entropy, as Shomer did [145], then entropy scales as $S_{CFT} \sim E^{\frac{d-1}{d}}$ and $S_{Grav} \sim E^{(d-2)/(d-3)}$. In this case, gravity scales in the same way as a conformal field theory at high energies if d = 3/2, which agrees with the small-scale spectral dimension found in a few approaches to quantum gravity [7, 173].

Daniel Coumbe

where γ is a free exponent characterising the extent of vacuum dispersion. In a spacetime with $D_H + 1$ Hausdorff dimensions, where D_H is the number of spatial dimensions, the dispersion relation of Eq. (25) results in a small-distance spectral dimension of [211]

$$D_S = 1 + \frac{D_H}{1 + \gamma}.$$
(182)

This running dimension may have important cosmological implications, depending on the particular role γ and λ take in cosmological scenarios, as we shall discuss later in this section. But first we must give a little theoretical background on cosmological perturbations.

Cosmological perturbations are density variations in the early universe that are generally considered to seed the formation of stars, galaxies and galaxy clusters. Assuming the dynamics in the early universe is still governed by general relativity, cosmological perturbations should be described by

$$f_k'' + \left[-\nabla_k^2 - \frac{a''}{a} \right] f_k = 0,$$
 (183)

where ∇_k is the momentum component of the total Laplace operator, which in the classical (3+1)-dimensional case is $\nabla_k^2 = -c^2 k^2$ [230]. The scale factor is denoted by *a* whose precise definition depends on whether the perturbations are scalar or tensor modes, *k* is a co-moving constant labelling propagating modes, and f_k are the mode functions. We can now see how a deformed dispersion relation resulting from a running spectral dimension may impact cosmology, entering via a modification of the momentum space Laplace operator $-\nabla_k^2 \rightarrow a^2 \Omega^2(k/a)$ in Eq. (27) [230]. Using the equation of state $w = p/\rho$ we may define the parameter ε via $\varepsilon = \frac{3}{2}(1+w)$, which will prove useful later.

The fractional energy density of fluctuations is given by

$$\delta(x) = \frac{\rho(x)}{\langle \rho \rangle} - 1 = \int dk \delta_k e^{ikx}, \qquad (184)$$

where ρ is the energy density, $\langle \rho \rangle$ is the average energy density and *k* is the wave-number of fluctuations. Primordial fluctuations can be quantified by a power spectrum, giving power variations as a function of distance scale. The power spectrum *P*(*k*) is defined by an ensemble average of Fourier components

$$\langle \delta_k \delta_{k'} \rangle = \frac{2\pi^2}{k^3} \delta\left(k - k'\right) P(k).$$
(185)

The definition of the scalar power spectrum is

$$P_{S}(k) \equiv \frac{k^{3}}{2\pi^{2}} \frac{|f_{k}|^{2}}{a_{S}^{2}} \propto k^{n_{S}-1},$$
(186)

where n_S is the spectral index and a_S is the scale factor associated with scalar modes. The so-called Bunch-Davies vacuum normalisation of the mode functions f_k sets

$$|f_k|^2 = \frac{1}{2a\Omega(k/a)}.$$
 (187)

Thus, for $n_S = 1$ the scalar power spectrum is precisely scale invariant. However, results from the Planck satellite conclusively demonstrate a small deviation from exact scale invariance, namely the measured spectral index is $n_S = 0.9616 \pm 0.0094$.

Now, as shown in Ref. [232] the modified dispersion of Eq. (25) dictates that the spectral index be given by

$$n_{\rm S} - 1 = \frac{\varepsilon(\gamma - 2)}{\gamma - \varepsilon + 1}.$$
(188)

As is evident from Eq. (32) a value of $\gamma = 2$ leads to a precisely scale invariant power spectrum. Returning to Eq. (26) we find that a value of $\gamma = 2$ is exactly what we would expect from a spectral dimension of $D_S = 2$ in the small-distance limit. Hence, if the spectral dimension of the early universe was exactly two then this mechanism is capable of producing scale invariant primordial fluctuations without the need for inflation.

However, data from the Planck satellite tells us that the cosmological perturbations are close to, but not exactly, scale invariant. There are two obvious ways in which dimensional reduction can produce deviations from strict scale invariance, so as to be consistent with the observational data. First, the small-distance spectral dimension may be slightly larger than 2, which via Eqs. (25) and (32) would make n_S slightly smaller than 1, although this depends on the equation of state w. A spectral dimension slightly greater than two, say $D_S \approx 2.01$, is at least

87

consistent with numerical CDT simulations at the canonical point, although the errors in this measurement are currently far too large.

Secondly, non-exact scale invariance of primordial fluctuations may result from a spectral dimension that does in fact asymptote to $D_S = 2$, but in a very slow and special way. In Ref. [232] the authors claim this requires a very special expression for the exponent γ of

$$\gamma(p) = 2 - \frac{2}{1 + C \log(1 + (\lambda p)^2)},$$
(189)

with the dispersion relation now a function of $\gamma(p)$. For an equation of state w = 1/3 the authors of Ref. [232] show that this model leads to $n_S \approx 0.9633$, which agrees with the experimentally determined value within errors.

7.5. Experimental Tests

Dimensional reduction is typically predicted to only become significant at or near the remote Planck scale. Clearly, this creates a challenge when trying to experimentally test whether this phenomena is real. However, as we shall see in this section the situation is not entirely hopeless.

7.5.1. Cosmology

Due to the extremely high energy scales present in the early universe, coupled with the fact that inflation is thought to magnify Planck scale physics up to macroscopic scales, cosmology may provide one of the strongest experimental tests of dimensional reduction. In [230] Mielczarek has used observations of gamma-ray bursts to constrain the energy scale E_* at which dimensional reduction can occur to be $E_* > 0.7 \left(4 - D_S^{UV}\right)^{1/2} \cdot 10^{10} GeV$ with a 95%CL. Furthermore, he determines a constraint on D_S^{UV} via observations of the scalar power spectrum made by the Planck and BICEP2 experiments. We will now review this latter constraint on D_S^{UV} in more detail.

Mielczarek estimates a modified dispersion relation at high energies associated with the CDT model to be [230]

$$\Omega_{CDT}(p) \approx \frac{2}{3} E_* \left(\frac{p}{E_*}\right)^{3-3\varepsilon} \propto p^{3-3\varepsilon}.$$
(190)

As discussed previously in section 7.4. the power spectrum of primordial fluctuations is given by

$$P_{S}(k) \equiv \frac{k^{3}}{2\pi^{2}} \frac{|f_{k}|^{2}}{a_{S}^{2}} \propto k^{n_{S}-1},$$
(191)

with

$$|f_k|^2 = \frac{1}{2a\Omega_{CDT}(p)},\tag{192}$$

in the case of CDT. The spectral index can then be written in terms of the tensor to scalar ratio r and the high-energy spectral dimension D_S^{UV} as

$$n_{S} - 1 = \frac{d \ln P_{S}(k)}{d \ln k} \approx \frac{3r(D_{S}^{UV} - 2)}{(D_{S}^{UV} - 1)r - 48(\varepsilon - r)}.$$
(193)

Since the Keck array and Planck satellite constrain r < 0.12 and $n_S = 0.9616 \pm 0.0094$ this means $\varepsilon > 0.835$ and therefore the ultraviolet spectral dimension is constrained to be

$$D_S^{UV} > 2.835,$$
 (194)

which has some tension with the observed CDT value $D_S^{UV} = 2$. However, it must be clearly stated that there are a number of questionable assumptions and approximations that this constraint relies on, particularly in the calculation of the high-energy dispersion of CDT $\Omega_{CDT}(p)$.

Another experimental test on cosmological scales may be possible via measurements of the cosmic microwave background (CMB), relic electromagnetic radiation left over from the Big Bang. Some multifractional models, in which the geometry of spacetime changes as a function of the resolution scale, predict log-periodic oscillations in the CMB that are now tightly constrained by CMB measurements [233]. It is also possible to analyse the CMB spectrum directly, rather than indirectly via its density perturbations. Using such direct measurements, Caruso and Oguri found that the spacetime dimension differs from d = 4

89

by at most one part in 10^{-5} , at least in the low energy regime associated with direct measurements of the CMB spectrum [234].

Experimental searches for violations of LI have received a lot of attention in recent years [120]. In addition to the constraints on an energy dependent speed of light from observations of distant gamma-ray bursts (see section 3.4.), there are also experimental constraints on violations of LI coming from inter-galactic cosmic rays. Specifically, Greisen [235], Zatsepin and Kuzmin [236] (GZK) determined a theoretical upper limit of 5×10^{19} eV on the energy that inter-galactic cosmic ray protons can have. This upper bound is due to the fact that cosmic ray protons with an energy exceeding this limit will interact with photons in the CMB, decaying via well-defined channels, and thus not reaching our detectors. Essentially, this limit is set by the physics of special relativity; a violation of the GZK bound may signal a departure from special relativity. Observations made by the Pierre Auger Observatory, The Telescope Array Project and the Akeno Giant Air Shower Array, among others, have reported cosmic ray events above the GZK upper limit, although some have questioned whether these results actually violate LI [237]. However, many in the quantum gravity community have taken these observations at face value and used them to motivate modifications of special relativity [238]. If these results hold, quantifying the extent of LI violations via cosmic ray observations may help constrain vacuum dispersion, and by proxy the associated ultraviolet spectral dimension.

7.5.2. GeV Scales

Examining the electron anomalous magnetic moment in a fractal spacetime, Svozil and Zeilinger found that the Hausdorff dimension of spacetime is $D_H > 4-5 \times 10^{-7}$ [199]. A yet tighter constraint has been placed by Schafer and Muller, for which $D_H > 4-3.6 \times 10^{-11}$, via a calculation of the Lamb shift [239].

Multifractional models have thus far provided some of the strongest bounds in this energy regime. In particular, modifications of the precisely measured Lamb shift and electron anomalous magnetic moment constrain the characteristic length scale l_{DR} of dynamical dimensional reduction to be as low as $l_{DR} < 10^{-27}m$ for a particular set of parameters [240]. Clearly this constraint is still far from the Planck scale.

7.5.3. TeV Scales

The authors of Ref. [241] claim to already have experimental evidence for dimensional reduction. Cosmic rays detected in the Pamir mountains have an observed energy flux that is strongly aligned along a straight line in the target plane, a result that is hard to explain with conventional physics, and may be consistent with a (1+1)-dimensional spacetime at high energies [242].

Experimental searches for dimensional reduction using particle accelerators such as the LHC have thus far produced null results, with no significant deviations from 4-dimensionality observed at these scales [241, 243]. As indicated in Ref. [244], dimensional reduction present at *TeV* scales could also have a tell-tale signature in primordial gravitational waves, albeit a signature that strongly depends on the specific model [245].

7.6. What is Dimensional Reduction Really Telling Us?

7.6.1. Overview

The ubiquity and consistency of dimensional reduction in quantum gravity has motivated the search for an underlying theoretical explanation. There currently exist a few proposed explanations for the observation of dimensional reduction.

One proposal is that of scale invariance. There is growing evidence that gravity may be nonperturbatively renormalisable as described by Weinberg's asymptotic safety scenario, which requires a non-trivial fixed point at high energies towards which the couplings defining the theory flow [246]. At such a fixed point gravity must be scale invariant, and hence Newton's constant must be dimensionless. Only in 2-dimensional spacetime is Newton's constant dimensionless, and so in this scenario going to higher energies and hence flowing towards the fixed point should correspond to the dimensionality of spacetime reducing to the value 2. This explanation is not entirely satisfying as it does not explain why such a fixed point should exist in the first place [202].

A second proposed explanation for dimensional reduction is that of asymptotic silence. General relativity exhibits so-called asymptotic silence in the vicinity of a space-like singularity, which is the narrowing or focusing of light cones close to the Planck scale leading to a causal decoupling of nearby spacetime points. In this scenario, each point has a preferred spatial direction, and geodesics see a reduced (1+1)-dimensional spacetime [65]. See Ref. [65] for a more complete review of possible explanations for dimensional reduction.

We now proceed to examine another possible explanation for dimensional reduction in more detail, via a scale dependent rescaling of length. Devoting more space to this explanation does not necessarily mean it is any more credible than those discussed above, however it is more relevant to the theme of scale transformations.

7.6.2. Scale Dependent Length

If we take observations of dimensional reduction literally, assuming spacetime really does become lower-dimensional at extremely small distance scales, then logically we must accept its consequences. The implications of dimensional reduction are rather radical, including superluminal motion [229, 232] and deformed LI [247, 248, 106, 238]. Given these extreme consequences, in addition to the absence of any theoretical explanation underpinning dimensional reduction, a more conservative stance is to question the reality of this phenomena. In this section, we examine whether dimensional reduction is a mirage, whose appearance is merely a symptom of new, but less radical, physics. To investigate this line of research we focus specifically on the appearance of dimensional reduction in the CDT model of quantum gravity. However, due to the consistent appearance of dimensional reduction over a wide range of independent approaches the conclusions reached may be more widely applicable.

As detailed in section 2.2.3., the spectral dimension D_S is a measure of the effective dimension of a manifold over varying length scales (see e.g., Refs. [152, 7] for more details), and is related to the probability P_r that a diffusion process returns to the origin after a diffusion time σ . A spectral dimension that varies with distance scale implies either a systematic violation, a nonsystematic violation or a deformation of LI [10]. Systematic LI violations are defined as position independent and imply the existence of a preferred global frame of reference [120]. Non-systematic violations of LI occur when the symmetry stochastically varies as a function of spacetime position [120]. If the exact low-energy symmetry is deformed, but not broken, we have the milder case of deformed LI [249]. In any case, whether LI is violated or merely deformed by a scale dependent spectral dimension, the associated dispersion relation E(p)must nevertheless be modified [249]. The dispersion relation

$$E^{2}(p) = p^{2} \left(1 + (\lambda p)^{2\gamma} \right),$$
 (195)

is an example of a systematic violation of LI, as it implies a global choice of frame in which energy is a distinguished component of momentum [120, 232]. Since CDT allows for the possibility of a preferred global frame of reference [250, 251], a reduction of the spectral dimension in CDT may be linked with a dispersion relation of the form of Eq. (39). In this case, Eq. (39) can be associated with a modified speed of light

$$c_m(\lambda p) = \frac{E}{p} = \sqrt{1 + (\lambda p)^{2\gamma}},$$
(196)

where λp is a momentum scale and γ a positive integer.

In a spacetime with $(D_H + T_H)$ Hausdorff dimensions the spectral dimension can be written as [232, 211]

$$D_S = T_H + \frac{D_H}{1 + \gamma}.$$
(197)

Based on a saddle-point approximation, Ref. [229] gives a model-independent expression for the spectral dimension in terms of the phase v_{phase} and group velocity v_{group} in $(D_T + 1)$ topological dimensions as

$$D_S = 1 + D_T \frac{v_{phase}}{v_{group}} + \dots$$
(198)

Electromagnetic waves in a vacuum should yield $v_{group}/v_{phase} = 1$, which we use to define a dimensionless speed of light $c_m = v_{group}/v_{phase}$. Equation (42) thus returns a (3 + 1) dimensional spacetime for $c_m = 1$. However, if $D_S < 4$ then the dimensionless value for the speed of light c_m must exceed unity.

We can now see that dimensional reduction generically implies a scale dependent speed of light. Furthermore, any theory with dimensional reduction must at the very least deform LI [231, 247, 248, 106, 238], although in special circumstances it may preserve the relativity principle [247]. A scientific radical might then be tempted to interpret dimensional reduction as evidence for a variable speed of light [252, 253], or for theories that violate LI [193]. However, there may exist a more conservative explanation, which we will now explore.

The canonical point in the CDT phase diagram has a running spectral dimension that is most accurately described by a fit to the functional form

$$D_S = a - \frac{b}{c + \sigma},\tag{199}$$

where a, b and c are free fit parameters [8, 7]. This specific form of the spectral dimension is further supported by analytical calculations [209, 254]. The return probability is then obtained by integration of Eq. (43), giving

$$P_r(\sigma) = \frac{1}{\sigma^{a/2} \left(1 + \frac{c}{\sigma}\right)^{\frac{b}{2c}}}.$$
(200)

Extensive numerical simulations yield the fit parameters a = 4.02, b = 119 and c = 54 [8]. A more recent and exhaustive study at the same canonical point in the CDT phase diagram finds very similar results, namely a = 4.06, b = 135 and c = 67 [7]. Thus, two sets of independent calculations both suggest $a \simeq 4$ and $b/2c \simeq 1$, which from Eq. (44) implies a probability of return associated with dimensional reduction of

$$P_r(\mathbf{\sigma}) \simeq \frac{1}{\mathbf{\sigma}^2 + c\mathbf{\sigma}}.$$
 (201)

It is known that the probability of return in the absence of any dimensional reduction is $P(\sigma) = \sigma^{-2}$, in infinitely flat 4-dimensional Euclidean space. Since the path length traced out by a diffusing particle is proportional to the diffusion time σ , we ask what function $\Gamma(\sigma)$ is needed to rescale the path length such that we obtain the observed probability of return of Eq. (45)? To answer this question we form the equality

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(\sigma)^2 \sigma^2} = \frac{1}{\sigma^2 + c\sigma},$$
(202)

which yields

$$\Gamma(\sigma) = \sqrt{1 + \frac{c}{\sigma}}.$$
(203)

Therefore, the appearance of dimensional reduction may be explained by a specific scale dependent path length, a characteristic feature of fractal curves [75] and quantum mechanical paths (see section 2.3.2.). Since σ is proportional to the square of the resolution scale with which we probe spacetime *r*, we can therefore write

$$\frac{\langle l \rangle}{l} \equiv \Gamma(r) = \sqrt{1 + \frac{c}{r^2}},\tag{204}$$

where the scale dependent path is denoted by $\langle l \rangle$ and the scale independent classical path by *l*. Thus, resolving spacetime with a resolution *r* increases the classical path length *l* by a factor $\Gamma(r)$.

A defining characteristic of CDT is the restriction to a fixed foliation. This foliation of the lattice introduces a fixed time coordinate via space-like hypersurfaces spaced at equal time intervals t = 0, t = 1, ..., t = N. Since time intervals are fixed in this way in CDT they cannot vary with scale, unlike spatial intervals. Given a scale dependent spatial interval coupled with a scale independent time interval one would expect the speed $c_m(\sigma)$ of diffusing particles to then scale like

$$c_m(\mathbf{\sigma}) = \frac{\Gamma(\mathbf{\sigma})\,l}{t},\tag{205}$$

where *l* and *t* are the scale independent path length and duration, respectively.

This claim can actually be tested by explicitly tracking the path a fictitious diffusing particle traces out in a CDT network. Diffusion begins with the test particle starting from a randomly chosen simplex, and proceeds by diffusing throughout the network by making σ hops between adjacent triangulations. The random walk can be explicitly tracked at each point so that one can obtain information about how exactly the path length varies as a function of geodesic distance. The path length simply equals the number of diffusion steps σ multiplied by the average distance between neighbouring simplices, which is encoded by the proportionality constant ζ . The time t_d it takes a particle to diffuse between two arbitrary points can, therefore, be determined by counting the number of times it intersects a space-like hypersurface. An effective velocity v_d for the diffusing particle is then given by⁶

⁶Since the spectral dimension is defined in Euclidean signature the diffusion rate v_d is interpreted as an effective velocity [10].

$$v_d = \frac{\zeta \sigma}{t_d}.$$
 (206)

Figure 14. shows actual measurements of v_d averaged over 10⁶ independent diffusion processes for the canonical point in the de Sitter phase (phase C of Fig. 10.) of CDT using two different lattice volumes, and for a constant of proportionality $\zeta = 0.18$ [9]. Figure 14. demonstrates that the measured velocity of diffusing particles v_d in a typical CDT network of simplices closely matches the predicted scale dependent diffusion speed of Eq. (49). Since time intervals are fixed in CDT, Fig. 14. provides numerical evidence for a scale dependent length, which exactly matches the functional form necessary to explain the appearance of dimensional reduction.⁷



Figure 14. A comparison between the modified speed of light $c_m(\sigma) = \Gamma(\sigma)$ with c = 54 as determined in Ref. [8] (the dashed curve) and numerical measurements of the effective velocity v_d computed by averaging over 10⁶ diffusion processes using 80,000 and 160,000 simplices with $\zeta = 0.18$ [9]. The horizontal dashed line denotes the classical scale invariant speed.

⁷Note that Horava-Lifshitz gravity also assumes a fixed foliation and observes the same reduction of the spectral dimension. It is possible that other approaches and methods that imply dimensional reduction may also be implicitly assuming scale invariant time intervals [3], although this is yet to be substantiated.

If we could remove the restriction of a fixed time coordinate in CDT, time intervals may vary with scale in precisely the same way as space intervals, as one would expect from a covariant theory in which space and time are treated equally. As shown in Refs. [10, 9, 255], by explicitly assuming that time intervals vary with scale in precisely the same way as spatial intervals, it is possible to maintain a scale invariant speed of light.

This suggests *it is the different treatment of space and time as a function of scale that is responsible for the appearance of dimensional reduction.* In CDT, time cannot vary as a function of scale due to the fixed foliation of hypersurfaces of constant time, but space can. Therefore, a diffusion process will not experience any variation of duration with scale, only a variation of distance. It is therefore possible that removing the restriction of fixed scale invariant time intervals may vanquish dimensional reduction altogether [10, 9, 255]. This idea will be further explored in section 7.

7.6.3. A Dual Description?

Following Hausdorff, a new definition of length $\langle L \rangle$ can be introduced that is independent of the measurement resolution *r* via a rescaling by the number of spatial Hausdorff dimensions D_H [75],

$$\left\langle L\right\rangle = \left\langle l\right\rangle (r)^{D_H - 1}.\tag{207}$$

The ratio of the invariant Hausdorff length $\langle L \rangle$ and the variable length $\langle l \rangle$ is then equal to $1/\Gamma(r)$ so that

$$\frac{\langle L \rangle}{\langle l \rangle} = \frac{1}{\Gamma} = (r)^{D_H - 1} \,. \tag{208}$$

Which gives,

$$D_H = \frac{\ln\left(1/\Gamma\right)}{\ln\left(r\right)} + 1, \tag{209}$$

quantifying how the spatial Hausdorff dimension D_H of diffusing particles varies with the scale at which they are resolved *r*.

Returning to Eq. (40), namely

$$c_m = \frac{E}{p} = \sqrt{1 + (\lambda p)^{2\gamma}},\tag{210}$$

we can normalise such that $c_m = 1$ when $\gamma = 0$, giving

$$c_m = \frac{E}{p} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sqrt{1 + (\lambda p)^{2\gamma}}.$$
 (211)

Substituting $\gamma = 0$ into Eq. (41) and rearranging gives the condition

$$D_H = D_S - T_H. (212)$$

Equations (53) and (56) for fixed $D_S = 2$ gives the number of temporal Hausdorff dimensions T_H as



 $T_H = 1 - \frac{\ln(1/\Gamma)}{\ln(r)}.$ (213)

Figure 15. The spatial D_H and temporal T_H Hausdorff dimensions of CDT diffusion paths as a function of distance scale σ [10]. Note that $D_H + T_H = 2$ over all distance scales.

As shown in Fig. 15., in the large-distance limit we recover the expected result $D_H = 1$ and $T_H = 1$, whereas in the small-distance limit we find $D_H \rightarrow 0$

and $T_H \rightarrow 2$. CDT diffusion paths thus appear to indicate that a spatial dimension transforms into a temporal dimension at extremely small distances, which may be viewed as a kind of inverse Wick rotation [256]. Such a scale dependent signature change has also been reported elsewhere in CDT [6] and in loop quantum gravity [257].

Therefore, it seems there may exist a dual description of dimensional reduction in CDT: the initially linear ($D_H = 1$) diffusion paths on macroscopic scales dissolve into a series of points ($D_H = 0$) on microscopic scales, while simultaneously the number of temporal dimensions increases from $T_H = 1$ to $T_H = 2$. This situation is reminiscent of asymptotic silence and results reported in [258].

Chapter 8

Scale Dependent Spacetime

8.1. Einstein and Weyl

It was the potent combination of symmetry and simplicity that led to Einstein's discovery of general relativity. The symmetry that guided Einstein's thinking during this creative process was that of general covariance, the requirement that the laws of physics be invariant under any smooth local change of spacetime coordinates

$$x^{\mu} \to x^{\mu} + \varepsilon k^{\mu}(x^{\mu}), \qquad (214)$$

where $k^{\mu}(x^{\mu})$ is a smooth function over spacetime.

To illustrate how symmetry and simplicity almost inevitably lead to general relativity, we begin by considering a completely general gravitational action that is local in the sense that it can be defined via the integral of a Lagrangian. Therefore, we begin with the generic form

$$S = \int \mathcal{L}d^4V, \tag{215}$$

where \mathcal{L} is a scalar Lagrangian density and d^4V is an element of four-volume. In order to respect general covariance both \mathcal{L} and d^4V must be scalars, that is they must be invariant under any smooth local change of spacetime coordinates.

The region surrounding any point on a curved Riemannian manifold is locally flat. The volume element in a locally Minkowskian system of coordinates x^{μ} is given by

$$d^4V = dx^0 dx^1 dx^2 dx^3.$$
 (216)

By making an arbitrary change of coordinates $x \rightarrow x'$ the volume element d^4x transforms according to

$$d^4x = \left|\frac{\partial x}{\partial x'}\right| d^4x',\tag{217}$$

where $|\partial x/\partial x'|$ is the Jacobian determinant. Similarly, the metric tensor transforms as

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \frac{\partial x^a}{\partial x'^{\mu}} \frac{\partial x^b}{\partial x'^{\nu}} g_{ab}, \qquad (218)$$

and the determinant of the metric tensor $|g_{\mu\nu}|$ as

$$|g'_{\mu\nu}| = \left|\frac{\partial x}{\partial x'}\right| \left|\frac{\partial x}{\partial x'}\right| |g_{\mu\nu}|.$$
(219)

Equation (6) then implies

$$\frac{\partial x}{\partial x'} \bigg| = \frac{\sqrt{|g'_{\mu\nu}|}}{\sqrt{|g_{\mu\nu}|}},\tag{220}$$

which upon substituting into Eq. (4) gives

$$\sqrt{|g_{\mu\nu}|}d^4x = \sqrt{|g'_{\mu\nu}|}d^4x'.$$
 (221)

We therefore conclude that the four-volume element is

$$d^4V = \sqrt{|g_{\mu\nu}|}d^4x, \qquad (222)$$

as dictated by local coordinate invariance.

Determining the scalar Lagrange density is a little more involved, but still requires only the application of symmetry and simplicity. The goal is to determine the simplest function of the metric and its derivatives that respects general covariance. The scalar Lagrangian should be some function of spacetime only. The simplest scalar is a constant, let's call it k_0 . However, this cannot be the

102

correct Lagrangian since $\mathcal{L} = k_0 \neq 0$ gives no solution to the Euler-Lagrange equations whatsoever. Next, we try a Lagrangian that depends only on the metric tensor $g_{\mu\nu}$ and not its derivatives. But this doesn't work either, because without any derivatives of the metric the theory would be void of any interesting dynamics. The next simplest Lagrangian is of the form

$$\mathcal{L} = k_1 R + k_0, \tag{223}$$

where k_0 and k_1 are constants and R is the Ricci scalar, the simplest curvature invariant of a Riemannian manifold. Thus the Lagrangian density of Eq. (10) defines the simplest function of the metric and its derivatives ($R = g^{\mu\nu}R_{\mu\nu}$) that respects local coordinate invariance. The full Einstein-Hilbert action is therefore found to be

$$S_{EH} = \int R \sqrt{|g_{\mu\nu}|} d^4 x. \tag{224}$$

Variation of this action with respect to the metric tensor returns the celebrated Einstein field equations of general relativity

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R = 8\pi G_N T_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (225)$$

where $T_{\mu\nu}$ is the stress-energy-momentum tensor describing the amount and distribution of energy in spacetime. $R_{\mu\nu}$ is the Ricci curvature tensor, defining the rate with which a small volume changes when parallel propagated along a geodesic in curved space. The field equations of general relativity have been confirmed by numerous experiments over the previous century, including the spectacular recent observation of gravitational waves. There is no doubt that the application of symmetry principles is remarkably successful, nowhere has this been more evident than in the application of general covariance as a guiding principle in the construction of general relativity.

But might we go further? Is there a yet greater symmetry of spacetime whose application might lead us to new and more successful physics? Shortly after the development of general relativity, Hermann Weyl put forward a generalisation of Riemannian geometry that at least mathematically seemed to unify electromagnetism and gravity [259]. Weyl's proposal was to keep spacetime coordinates fixed

$$x^{\mu} \to x^{\mu},$$
 (226)

but perform a position dependent rescaling of the metric tensor

$$g_{\mu\nu} \to g_{\mu\nu} \Omega^2(x^{\mu}), \qquad (227)$$

where the Weyl factor $\Omega(x^{\mu})$ is an arbitrary function of spacetime coordinates. Note that this so-called Weyl transformation is very similar to a conformal transformation but differs in one crucial respect; under a conformal transformation coordinates transform, but under a Weyl transformation they do not. Hence, a Weyl transformation is not a simple diffeomorphism, as it can physically change measurable quantities.

Applying a Weyl transformation to the Ricci tensor R_{ab} in 4-dimensional spacetime we find

$$R_{ab} \to R_{ab} \frac{1}{\Omega^2} \left(4\Omega_{,a} \Omega_{,b} - \Omega_{,c} \Omega^{,c} g_{ab} \right) - \frac{1}{\Omega} \left(2\Omega_{;ab} + g_{ab} \Box \Omega \right).$$
(228)

Likewise, the Ricci scalar transforms according to

$$R \to \frac{1}{\Omega^2} \left(R - 6 \frac{\Box \Omega}{\Omega} \right),$$
 (229)

where $\Box \Omega$ is the d'Alembertian of the Weyl factor. Applying Eq. (16) to the Einstein-Hilbert action of Eq. (11) clearly demonstrates that general relativity is not invariant under a position dependent rescaling of the metric tensor.

However, Weyl found the simplest action that respects both local coordinate invariance and local rescalings of the metric tensor (Eq. (14)) to be

$$S_W = -\alpha_G \int C_{abcd} C^{abcd} d^4 x \sqrt{-g}, \qquad (230)$$

where C_{abcd} is known as the Weyl tensor and is given by [260]

$$C_{abcd} = R_{abcd} + \frac{1}{6}R(g_{ac}g_{bd} - g_{ad}g_{bc}) - \frac{1}{2}(g_{ac}R_{bd} - g_{ad}R_{bc} - g_{bc}R_{ad} + g_{bd}R_{ac}).$$
(231)

The Weyl action can then more explicitly be written as

104

$$S_W = -\alpha_G \int \left(R_{abcd} R^{abcd} - 2R_{cd} R^{cd} + \frac{1}{3} R^2 \right) d^4 x \sqrt{-g}.$$
 (232)

Using the fact that

$$\int \left(R_{abcd} R^{abcd} - 4R_{cd} R^{cd} + R^2 \right) \tag{233}$$

is a topological invariant it can be equated with zero [261], which simplifies the action of Eq. (19) to

$$S_W = -2\alpha_G \int \left(R^{\mu\nu} R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{3} R^2 \right) d^4 x \sqrt{-g}, \qquad (234)$$

where $R_{\mu\nu}$ is the Ricci tensor and α_G is a dimensionless gravitational coupling [262]. This theory produces fourth-order equations for fluctuations about a fixed background, which may or may not lead to problems with unitarity [263]. Variations of this action with respect to the metric tensor give field equations, known as the Bach equations [264], of

$$-4\alpha_G W^{\mu\nu} + T^{\mu\nu} = 0, (235)$$

with [260]

$$W^{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} g^{\mu\nu}(R)^{;\beta}_{;\beta} + R^{\mu\nu;\beta}_{;\beta} - R^{\mu\beta;\nu}_{;\beta} - R^{\nu\beta;\mu}_{;\beta} - 2R^{\mu\beta}R^{\nu}_{\beta} + \frac{1}{2}g^{\mu\nu}R_{\alpha\beta}R^{\alpha\beta} - \frac{2}{3}g^{\mu\nu}R^{;\beta}_{;\beta} + \frac{2}{3}(R)^{;\mu;\nu} + \frac{2}{3}RR^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{6}g^{\mu\nu}R^2, \quad (236)$$

where semicolons denote covariant derivatives.

Although Einstein initially admired Weyl's theory, calling it "*a stroke of genius of the first rate*," he later raised a serious objection that has never been satisfactorily resolved. Put simply, Einstein's objection centred on the fact that a local rescaling of the metric tensor $g_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow g_{\mu\nu}\Omega^2(x)$ inevitably implies a non-invariant spacetime interval

$$ds^2 = g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} \to ds^2\Omega^2(x). \tag{237}$$

105

Although light-like spacetime intervals ($ds^2 = 0$) are invariant under a Weyl transformation, space-like $(ds^2 < 0)$ and time-like $(ds^2 > 0)$ intervals are not. The fact that time-like intervals are not invariant under a Weyl transformation is a serious problem for the following reason. In Weyl's theory the metric tensor can vary arbitrarily as a function of spacetime coordinates so that the length of a vector is not constant under parallel transport. For example, since the spacetime interval can be physically measured by the ticking of a clock, proper time is a path-dependent quantity in this scenario. Einstein argued that a path-dependent proper time has a number of unphysical consequences, that contradict both experiment and everyday experience, for example, the spacing of atomic spectral lines would vary depending on the path history of the particular element, something that has never been observed [259]. In response to Einstein's criticism, Weyl made numerous revisions of his theory and even made several attempts to make the interval ds^2 invariant. Although Weyl was ultimately unsuccessful in refuting Einstein's argument, his ideas would later be applied in a different context, which would become the foundation of modern gauge theory.

8.2. Renormalising Spacetime

8.2.1. Motivation

Since Weyl's approach seems to have unphysical consequences, how are we to proceed? The central problem with Weyl gravity is that it predicts a position dependent spacetime interval, which contradicts experiment. However, what if we consider a metric that varies with scale, rather than position? Would this contradict experiment in an obvious way? Would it help in our search for a theory of quantum gravity? We investigate these questions in this section.

A scale dependent metric tensor has a number of motivations, including the renormalisation of gravity. Renormalisation is a procedure for dealing with divergences that arise in quantum field theories. A key insight into renormalisation was the realisation that the parameters appearing in the mathematics of the original theory were not measurable quantities, as they corresponded to values in the infinite-energy limit. These so-called bare parameters must be converted into renormalised parameters defined at a finite energy scale, in order to make contact with reality. The pieces of the bare parameters that remain following this conversion are then reinterpreted as counter-terms, which can cancel out the troublesome divergences. If all divergences can be removed using a finite number of such procedures, the theory is said to be renormalisable [11]. Renormalisation has been enormously successful when applied to three out of four fundamental interactions, with experiment confirming theoretical predictions with astonishing precision. However, general relativity is nonrenormalisable, as confirmed via explicit calculation [35].

But why does renormalisation not work for gravity, when it works so well for the other three interactions? To answer this question we must first understand how the other interactions are renormalised. Starting with QED, the relativistic quantum field theory of the electromagnetic interaction, it is important to note that the Lagrangian is a function of both bare parameters (charge and mass) and bare fields. Renormalising only the bare parameters will not yield a finite theory; it is crucial that the bare fields are also renormalised. In the case of perturbative QCD, the quantum field theory of the strong interaction, we find exactly the same thing. In order to make QCD finite, it is not enough to renormalise the coupling constant and quark mass, one must also renormalise the quark and gluon fields. In fact, in all quantum field theories, fluctuations modify bare fields such that they become a function of scale [11]. For example, a bare field ϕ is converted into a renormalised field $\tilde{\phi}$ via field renormalisation $\tilde{\phi} = \phi Z^{-1/2}(k)$, where Z(k) encodes how ϕ depends on the so-called coarse-graining scale k, the resolving power of a hypothetical microscope [265]. However, the field renormalisation of gravity has been largely neglected [76]. Renormalising the gravitational field is equivalent to renormalising spacetime itself, which would require defining a scale dependent metric tensor $g_{\mu\nu}(k)$.

In addition to renormalisability, a scale dependent metric is expected for physical reasons. For instance, quantum field theory tells us that the allowed energy of particle-antiparticle pairs in the spacetime vacuum increases as we decrease the distance scale with which we resolve spacetime. General relativity therefore implies the metric should fluctuate with a magnitude that depends on scale. A second reason derives from the measurement process itself; any position measurement requires the introduction of a scattering particle of non-zero momenta. Thus, gravitational interactions within the region under observation are an inevitable feature of the measurement process. The larger the momentum of the scattering particle, the larger the gravitational perturbation within the observed region [93]. Taking measurements at two different coarse-graining scales k and k' will, therefore, result in two different spacetime metrics. Results in string theory [266] and loop quantum gravity [212] also support the idea of a scale dependent spacetime metric.

However, one must be cautious when dealing with a scale dependent metric tensor. For instance, scale dependent fluctuations of the metric tensor are often associated with the vacuum dispersion of light. This is due to the fact that photons with a higher energy can resolve spacetime on smaller scales, and so they will be hindered to a greater extent by vacuum fluctuations during their time of flight, resulting in an energy dependent speed of light. Recent astronomical data, however, from the *Fermi* space telescope has shown the speed of light to be independent of energy up to at least 7.62 E_P (with a 95%*CL*) and $\simeq 4.8E_P$ (with a 99%*CL*) [108] for linear dispersion relations. These experimental results may provide an important hint as to how to correctly incorporate a scale dependent metric; it must be done in such a way that the speed of light remains scale independent.

Under a Weyl transformation, the angle between vectors is scale invariant, which includes the angle between null vectors that define the light-cone. Therefore, a Weyl transformation permits a scale dependent metric as well as a scale independent speed of light. However, Einstein's criticism essentially rules out a normal Weyl transformation, which defines a position-dependent rescaling of the metric.

Given these motivations, Ref. [11] postulates a Weyl-like transformation in which the bare metric tensor $g_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu})$ at each spacetime point x^{μ} transforms according to

$$g_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu}) \to \Omega^2(k) g_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu}) \equiv \tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu})_k, \qquad (238)$$

where $\Omega(k)$ is a dimensionless function of the coarse-graining scale *k*, rather than a function of position.¹

¹In order to reproduce classical physics in the appropriate limit, Eq. (25) must be subject to the constraint $\Omega(k) \rightarrow 1$ as $k \rightarrow 0$.
8.2.2. Estimating $\Omega(k)$

An infinitesimal version of the Weyl-like transformation of Eq. (25) is given by $\delta g_{\mu\nu}(k) = \epsilon(k)g_{\mu\nu}$, where $\epsilon(k)$ is dimensionless and $|\epsilon(k)| \ll 1$ [267, 268]. Thus,

$$g_{\mu\nu} \to g_{\mu\nu} + \delta g_{\mu\nu}(k) = g_{\mu\nu} \left(1 + \varepsilon(k) \right) \equiv \tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu})_k, \tag{239}$$

hence $\Omega^2(k) = 1 + \varepsilon(k)$. Under this infinitesimal transformation vector length scales as

$$\tilde{r}^2 = (1 + \varepsilon(k))r^2 = (r^2 + r^2\varepsilon(k)).$$
 (240)

Assuming the perturbation $\delta g_{\mu\nu}$ is small, $\varepsilon(k)$ can be expanded as a perturbative series. Because the Weyl-like factor must be dimensionless a series expansion in the dimensionless combination l_0k is carried out, where l_0 is a constant having the dimensions of length. The product $r^2\varepsilon(k)$ in Eq. (27) therefore becomes

$$r^{2}\varepsilon(k) = r^{2}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_{n} (l_{0}k)^{n},$$
 (241)

where a_n are expansion coefficients.

If the physical radius of curvature is much greater than 1/k for the renormalised metric $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu})_k$ then the WKB approximation of mode functions can be used. Within the WKB approximation scheme, one can demonstrate that the coarse-graining scale k is related to the linear extension of the averaging region r via $k \simeq \pi/r$ [265]. Considering small perturbations $\delta g_{\mu\nu}$ about flat spacetime gives

$$\tilde{r}^2 \simeq r^2 + r^2 \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n \left(\frac{l_0}{\pi r}\right)^n.$$
(242)

Since we must have $\tilde{r} = r$ as $r \to \infty$ we may exclude all terms with n < 2 in Eq. (29). Note that negative values of *n* are also excluded by the condition $\tilde{r} = r$ as $r \to \infty$. The functional form of $\varepsilon(k)$ can be further constrained by assuming the existence of a minimum resolvable distance scale $\tilde{r} = l_0$ (see section 3.2. for the evidence of a minimal length). The requirement of a minimum resolvable

distance $\tilde{r} = l_0$ as $r \to 0$ excludes any terms for which n > 2 in Eq. (29). Therefore, n = 2 is the only term that reproduces classical physics in the appropriate limit and is consistent with a minimum length. This argument suggests that the only factor $\Omega(k)$ that gives $\tilde{r} = l_0$ as $r \to 0$ as well as $\tilde{r} = r$ as $r \to \infty$ is

$$\Omega(k) \simeq \sqrt{1 + (lk)^2}.$$
(243)

Equation (30) has a functional form that is in good agreement with the existing literature [94, 98, 93, 100, 10, 9].

8.2.3. Immediate Implications

In this section we compute some of the primary physical implications of this Weyl-like transformation of spacetime [11].

In tensor notation, the length r of any contravariant Riemannian vector ζ can be written as

$$r^2 = g_{\mu\nu} \zeta^{\mu} \zeta^{\nu}, \qquad (244)$$

where ζ^{μ} and ζ^{ν} are arbitrary vectors and $g_{\mu\nu}$ is the symmetric metric tensor [11]. Under our postulated Weyl-like transformation

$$g_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu}) \to \Omega^2(k)g_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu}) \equiv \tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu})_k, \qquad (245)$$

the length of any contravariant Riemannian vector \tilde{r} in the renormalised metric $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu})_k$ now becomes [269]

$$\tilde{r}^2 = \tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu})_k \zeta^{\mu} \zeta^{\nu} = \Omega^2(k) g_{\mu\nu} \zeta^{\mu} \zeta^{\nu} = \Omega^2(k) r^2.$$
(246)

Such a scale dependent distance nicely links back to section 7.6.2., in which it is shown that the appearance of dimensional reduction in CDT may be explained by a scale dependent path length, especially due to the fact that the form of $\Omega(k)$ given by Eq. (30) under the WKB approximation $k \simeq \pi/r$ is strikingly similar to that required to account for the appearance of dimensional reduction in CDT.

The length of an infinitesimal vector in the new renormalised metric is similarly given by

$$d\tilde{r}^2 = \tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu})_k d\zeta^{\mu} d\zeta^{\nu} = \Omega^2(k) g_{\mu\nu} d\zeta^{\mu} d\zeta^{\nu} = \Omega^2(k) dr^2.$$
(247)

110

Since the null interval $ds^2 = 0$ and consequently the infinitesimal speed of light c = dr/dt are invariant under this Weyl-like transformation, Eq. (34) tells us that infinitesimal time intervals dt must also scale according to

$$dt \to \Omega(k)dt \equiv d\tilde{t}.$$
 (248)

Therefore, distance and duration are both dependent on scale in this scenario, analogous to how distance and duration are dependent on relative speed in special relativity.

The spacetime interval $ds^2 = g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu}$ transforms according to

$$ds^2 \to \Omega^2(k) ds^2 \equiv d\tilde{s}^2, \tag{249}$$

as can be verified using the transformation of Eq. (32) on $ds^2 = g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu}$. This Weyl-like transformation therefore changes space-like and time-like intervals, but leaves null intervals ($ds^2 = 0$) invariant. Moreover, unlike the normal Weyl transformation, the spacetime interval of Eq. (36) is not position dependent and so it evades Einstein's criticism.

A local scale transformation, such as our Weyl-like transformation, acts on momentum p in the opposite way to the position r [270], namely

$$p \to \frac{p}{\Omega(k)} \equiv \tilde{p}.$$
 (250)

The mathematical reason for this is that in natural units the product of position and momentum must be dimensionless. A more physical reason is that resolving a smaller region of spacetime requires using higher frequency modes of momentum [270]. Since the speed of light c = E/p should be invariant under this Weyl-like transformation, this implies the energy *E* should scale identically, namely

$$E \to \frac{E}{\Omega(k)} \equiv \tilde{E}.$$
 (251)

8.2.4. Implications for Quantum Gravity

We now focus on what this Weyl-like transformation, if correct, might say about quantum gravity. In particular, we examine two unsolved and long-standing

problems in quantum gravity; high-energy non-conformal scaling and nonrenormalisability.

Recalling our discussion in section 5.2., we found that for a conformal field theory in 4-dimensions entropy scales as

$$S_{CFT} \sim \frac{a}{b^{\frac{3}{4}}} E^{\frac{3}{4}} r^{\frac{3}{4}},$$
 (252)

but for a 4-dimensional theory of gravity at high energies entropy scales as

$$S_{Grav} = \frac{\pi r^2}{l_P^2}.$$
(253)

Since Eqs. (39) and (40) do not agree it is argued in Refs. [144, 145] that gravity cannot possibly be a renormalisable quantum field theory in 4-dimensional spacetime, a potentially serious problem for quantum gravity in general.

Applying the Weyl-like transformation of Eq. (25) we found that distance transforms according to $r \rightarrow \Omega(k)r$. Gravity, at high energies now has an entropy

$$S_{Grav} \rightarrow \frac{\pi \Omega^2(k) r^2}{l_P^2}.$$
 (254)

What function $\Omega(k)$ is required to make the high-energy spectrum of gravity scale in the same way as a conformal field theory? In other words, what function is necessary to make $S_{Grav} = S_{CFT}$? To answer this question we write the equality

$$\frac{\pi\Omega^2(k)r^2}{l_P^2} = \frac{a}{b^{\frac{3}{4}}}E^{\frac{3}{4}}r^{\frac{3}{4}},\tag{255}$$

a condition that fixes the functional form of $\Omega(k)$ to be

$$\Omega^2(k) \simeq C \frac{l_P^2}{r^2},\tag{256}$$

where we have assumed $E \simeq \pi/r$ and defined the dimensionless constant $C \equiv a/(\pi^{\frac{1}{4}}b^{\frac{3}{4}})$.

Since the WKB approximation of mode functions implies $k \simeq \pi/r$ [265], Eq. (43) implies that $\Omega(k)$ must transform like $\Omega(k) \rightarrow \sqrt{C}l_P k$ at high energies.²

²In highly curved spacetimes r may deviate from π/k , however Ref. [271] demonstrates that $r \propto 1/k$ holds even as $k \to \infty$.

At low energies, however, we must recover the classical result $\Omega(k) = 1$. A Weyl-like factor of

$$\Omega(k) \simeq \sqrt{1 + C(l_P k)^2}$$
(257)

satisfies both these conditions, since $\Omega(k) \to \sqrt{C}l_P k$ in the high-energy limit $(1/k \ll l_P)$ and $\Omega(k) \to 1$ in the low-energy limit $1/k \gg l_P$. Thus, if the Weyllike factor is given by Eq. (44) then the Banks [144] and Shomer [145] argument may be resolved, since the high-energy spectrum of gravity now scales in the same way as a CFT. Note, comparing Eq. (30) and Eq. (44) suggests $l_0 \propto l_P$, where l_P is the Planck length. Therefore, $\Omega(k)$ will be practically indistinguishable from unity, except near the almost inaccessible Planck scale.

We now look at applying our Weyl-like transformation to the stubborn problem of renormalisation in quantum gravity. Of course, the proposed transformation of spacetime is not claimed to definitively solve this problem, but rather the hope is that it may provide some key insights that can be further developed.

A massless free scalar field $\Phi(x^{\mu})$ in flat Euclidean space has a Green's function [94]

$$G(x_i^{\mu}, x_j^{\mu}) \equiv \int \mathcal{D}\Phi(x_j^{\mu}) \Phi(x_i^{\mu}) \exp^{\frac{i}{2}S[\Phi]} = \frac{(4\pi^2)^{-1}}{\left(x_j^{\mu} - x_i^{\mu}\right)^2}.$$
 (258)

Given a proper distance *r* defined by $r^2 = \left(x_j^{\mu} - x_i^{\mu}\right)^2$ that transforms according to Eq. (30), with $k \simeq \pi/r$, then the Green's function becomes

$$G(x_i^{\mu}, x_j^{\mu}) \to \tilde{G}(x_i^{\mu}, x_j^{\mu}) \simeq \frac{(4\pi^2)^{-1}}{\left(x_i^{\mu} - x_j^{\mu}\right)^2 + \pi^2 l_0^2}.$$
(259)

In the coincidence limit $(x_i^{\mu} \rightarrow x_j^{\mu})$ this gives the finite result

$$\tilde{G}(x_i^{\mu}, x_j^{\mu})_{x_i^{\mu} \to x_j^{\mu}} = \frac{(4\pi^2)^{-1}}{\pi^2 l_0^2},$$
(260)

where $\tilde{r} = l_0$ is a minimum renormalised distance. A Green's function that remains finite in the limit of zero classical distance is known to remove the ultraviolet divergences present in quantum field theories [94, 81].

Let's now examine this idea within the context of a quantum field theoretic description of gravity. In *d*-dimensional spacetime, momentum *p* scales with loop-order \mathcal{L} in perturbative quantum gravity via

$$\int p^{A-[G_N]\mathcal{L}} dp, \qquad (261)$$

where $[G_N] = 2 - d$ is the canonical mass dimension of Newton's constant and A is a process-dependent quantity that is independent of the loop-order \mathcal{L} [37]. In 4-dimensional spacetime we then have $[G_N] = -2$, and so that the integral of Eq. (48) diverges as \mathcal{L} increases in the perturbative expansion. This explicitly demonstrates the fact that gravity as a perturbative quantum field theory is power-counting nonrenormalisable. However, it may be possible to make the integral of Eq. (48) finite under a specific transformation of momentum, a possibility we will now explore.

Computing the differential $d\tilde{p}/dp$ using Eqs. (37) and (30) at a specific coarse-graining scale $k \simeq p$ yields

$$d\tilde{p} = (\Omega(p))^{-3} dp.$$
(262)

Substituting Eqs. (37) and (49) into Eq. (48) changes the perturbative expansion of gravity in 4-dimensional spacetime to

$$\int p^{A+2\mathcal{L}} dp \to \int \frac{p^{A+2\mathcal{L}}}{\left(\Omega(p)\right)^{3+A+2\mathcal{L}}} dp.$$
(263)

Since for small p we have $\Omega(p) \to 1$ nothing changes. However, for large momenta $\Omega(p)$ scales like $\Omega(p) \sim p$, so the integrand of Eq. (50) becomes $\sim p^{-3}$.

Figure 16. plots the integrand of Eq. (50), labelled by f(p), as a function of p (with l = A = 1) for $\mathcal{L} = 0 - 5$ loop-orders. For small p the integrand f(p) looks like it may diverge, however as p increases the scaling behaviour p^{-3} comes to dominate and f(p) reaches a finite maximum before eventually approaching zero as $p \to \infty$ at all loop-orders. Figure 16. provides evidence that the Weyl-like transformation of Eq. (25), if correct, may suppress divergences usually present in quantum field theoretic formulations of gravity, raising the exciting possibility that gravity could be renormalisable in this scenario [11].



Figure 16. The integrand of Eq. (50) (f(p)) as a function of the momentum scale p, with l = A = 1 for $\mathcal{L} = 0 - 5$ loop orders [11].

Final Thoughts

There are many more orders of magnitude in scale between the Planck length $\sim 10^{-35}m$ and us $\sim 10^{0}m$, than between us and the observable universe $\sim 10^{26}m$. Arguably, we know more about the large-scale universe above than the small-scale universe below. It seems highly likely that there are new discoveries waiting to be made below the sensitivity of current experiment. A powerful mechanism for exploring this uncharted territory is provided by the renormalisation group, a mathematical formalism for *Magnifying Spacetime*.

Hopefully, this book has given you an insight into the importance of scale in fundamental physics research, and a brief overview of what we currently know about how physics changes with scale. However, there remain a lot of open questions, the answers to which may herald new physics.

Is spacetime fractal? As we have seen there is a small variation in the ultraviolet dimensionality of spacetime across different approaches and definitions of dimension. However, the most remarkable fact is that the dimension of spacetime departs from the topological dimension at all. Regardless of the exact details of dimensional reduction, this consistent observation implies one remarkable thing; the small-scale structure of spacetime itself may be fractal.

Is dimensional reduction real? A reduction to 2-dimensions at extremely small distances has the desirable feature that spacetime becomes selfrenormalising, since only in 2-dimensions does the gravitational coupling become dimensionless. Yet, dimensional reduction is also associated with a number of radical and possibly unphysical features, such as an energy dependent speed of light and the deformation or violation of Lorentz invariance. As we have indicated in section 8.2., a simple rescaling of the metric tensor may account for the appearance of dimensional reduction and reproduce its desirable features, without the radical consequences associated with taking dimensional reduction literally. If, on the other hand, dimensional reduction is real, what are the consequences for cosmology, particle physics, and special relativity? Can dimensional reduction be experimentally tested in the near future?

Is there a minimum length? As reviewed in section 2, there is a growing body of evidence suggesting an answer in the affirmative. However, how can we consistently reconcile such a minimal length with special relativity? What is the fate of Lorentz invariance, the most fundamental symmetry we know of, at or near the Planck scale? If Lorentz invariance is violated at extremely small distances what is the symmetry breaking mechanism? And why is it so close to being an exact symmetry at low energies?

What is the correct gravitational action? A gravitational action that is scale invariant stands a good chance of being renormalisable. The Einstein-Hilbert action of general relativity is not scale invariant and so not renormalisable. The Weyl action discussed in section 8.2. is scale invariant. However, if Weyl's action is correct how does one evade Einstein's criticism? Could a metric tensor that depends on the coarse-graining scale k, as discussed in section 8.2., evade Einstein's criticism and lead to a scale invariant and renormalisable gravitational action?

- [1] Daniel Coumbe. *Exploring a formulation of lattice quantum gravity*. PhD thesis, University of Glasgow, 2013.
- [2] Daniel F. Litim. Fixed points of quantum gravity. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 92:201301, 2004.
- [3] O. Lauscher and M. Reuter. Ultraviolet fixed point and generalized flow equation of quantum gravity. *Phys. Rev.*, D65:025013, 2002.
- [4] Wataru Souma. Nontrivial ultraviolet fixed point in quantum gravity. *Prog. Theor. Phys.*, 102:181–195, 1999.
- [5] Max Niedermaier and Martin Reuter. The asymptotic safety scenario in quantum gravity. *Living Reviews in Relativity*, 9(5), 2006.
- [6] Jan Ambjørn, Daniel N. Coumbe, Jakub Gizbert-Studnicki, and Jerzy Jurkiewicz. Signature Change of the Metric in CDT Quantum Gravity? *JHEP*, 08:033, 2015. [JHEP08,033(2015)].
- [7] D.N. Coumbe and J. Jurkiewicz. Evidence for Asymptotic Safety from Dimensional Reduction in Causal Dynamical Triangulations. *JHEP*, 1503:151, 2015.
- [8] J. Ambjorn, J. Jurkiewicz, and R. Loll. Spectral dimension of the universe. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 95:171301, 2005.
- [9] Daniel Coumbe. Quantum gravity without vacuum dispersion. *Int. J. Mod. Phys.*, D26(10):1750119, 2017.

- [10] D. N. Coumbe. Hypothesis on the Nature of Time. *Phys. Rev.*, D91(12):124040, 2015.
- [11] D. N. Coumbe. Renormalizing Spacetime. Int. J. Mod. Phys., D28:1950008, 2019.
- [12] Albert Einstein. On the General Theory of Relativity. *Math. Phys.* Sitzungsber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Berlin, 1915:778–786, 1915.
- [13] S.W. Hawking and W. Israel. *General Relativity, an Einstein Centenary Survey.* 1979.
- [14] M. Kramer, Ingrid H. Stairs, R.N. Manchester, M.A. McLaughlin, A.G. Lyne, et al. Tests of general relativity from timing the double pulsar. *Science*, 314:97–102, 2006.
- [15] M. Chaichian and A. Demichev. Path Integrals in Physics. Institute of Physics, Series in Mathematical and Computational Physics, page 688, 2001.
- [16] P.A.M. Dirac. The Lagrangian in Quantum Mechanics. *Physikalische Zeitschrift der Sowjetunion*, pages 64–72, 1933.
- [17] R.P. Feynman and A.R. Hibbs. *Quantum Mechanics and Path Integrals*. 1965.
- [18] Jan Ambjorn, J. Jurkiewicz, and R. Loll. A Nonperturbative Lorentzian path integral for gravity. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 85:924–927, 2000.
- [19] D. Hanneke, S. Fogwell Hoogerheide, and G. Gabrielse. Cavity Control of a Single-Electron Quantum Cyclotron: Measuring the Electron Magnetic Moment. *Phys. Rev.*, A83:052122, 2011.
- [20] T. Aoyama, M. Hayakawa, T. Kinoshita, and M. Nio. Revised value of the eighth-order QED contribution to the anomalous magnetic moment of the electron. *Phys. Rev.*, D77:053012, 2008.
- [21] Carlo Rovelli. Notes for a brief history of quantum gravity. In Recent developments in theoretical and experimental general relativity, gravitation and relativistic field theories. *Proceedings, 9th Marcel Grossmann*

Meeting, MG'9, Rome, Italy, July 2-8, 2000. Pts. A-C, pages 742–768, 2000.

- [22] E. Einstein. Naeherungsweise Integration der Feldgleichungen der Gravitation [Approximately integration of the field equations of gravity]. Preussische Akademie der Wissenschaften (Berlin) Sitzungsberichte [Prussian Academy of Sciences (Berlin) Proceedings], page 688, 1916.
- [23] O. Klein. Zur funfdimensionalen Darstellung der Relativitaetstheorie [To the five-dimensional representation of the relativity theory]. Zeitscrift feur Physik 46, (1927)188.
- [24] M. Fierz and W. Pauli. Hel Phys Acta 12, (1939)297.
- [25] W. Pauli and M. Fierz. On Relativistic Field Equations of Particles with Arbitrary Spin in an Electromagnetic Field. *Helv. Phys. Acta*, 12:297– 300, 1939.
- [26] D.I. Blokhintsev and F.M. Gal'perin. Neutrino hypothesis and conservation of energy. *Pod Znamenem Marxisma*, 6:147–157, 1934.
- [27] W. Heisenberg. Z Physik 110, (1938)251.
- [28] Charles W. Misner. Feynman quantization of general relativity. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 29:497–509, 1957.
- [29] Bryce S. DeWitt. Quantum Theory of Gravity. 1. The Canonical Theory. *Phys. Rev.*, 160:1113–1148, 1967.
- [30] S.W. Hawking. Particle Creation by Black Holes. Commun. Math. Phys., 43:199–220, 1975.
- [31] S.A. Fulling. Nonuniqueness of Canonical Field Quantization in Riemannian Space-Time. *Phys. Rev.*, D7:2850, 1973.
- [32] P.C.W. Davies. Scalar particle production in Schwarzschild and Rindler metrics. J. Phys., A8:609–616, 1975.
- [33] W.G. Unruh. Notes on black hole evaporation. *Phys. Rev.*, D14:870, 1976.

- [34] John F. Donoghue. Introduction to the effective field theory description of gravity. arXiv:9512024, 1995.
- [35] Marc H. Goroff and Augusto Sagnotti. The Ultraviolet Behavior of Einstein Gravity. *Nucl. Phys.*, B266:709, 1986.
- [36] John Donoghue. Perturbative dynamics of quantum general relativity. In Recent developments in theoretical and experimental general relativity, gravitation, and relativistic field theories. *Proceedings, 8th Marcel Grossmann meeting, MG8*, Jerusalem, Israel, June 22-27, 1997. Pts. A, B, pages 26–39, 1997.
- [37] S. Hawking and W. Israel. *General Relativity: an Einstein Centenary Survey*. March 2010.
- [38] K.S. Stelle. Renormalization of Higher-Derivative Quantum Gravity. *Phys. Rev.*, D16:953–969, 1977.
- [39] Stephen P. Martin. A Supersymmetry primer. Perspectives on sypersymmetry 2, 1-153.
- [40] Peter Van Nieuwenhuizen. *Supergravity*. North-Holland Publishing Company, (1981).
- [41] Horatiu Nastase. Introduction to Supergravity. arXiv:hep-th/1112.3502, 2011.
- [42] M. Green, J. Schwarz, and E. Witten. Superstring Theory. Vol. 1: Introduction and Vol. 2: Loop Amplitudes, Anomalies & Phenomenology. Cambridge University Press, 1987.
- [43] J. Polchinski. String Theory I & II. Cambridge University Press, 1987.
- [44] Andrew Strominger and Cumrun Vafa. Microscopic origin of the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy. *Phys. Lett.*, B379:99–104, 1996.
- [45] Gary T. Horowitz. Quantum states of black holes. In *Black holes and relativistic stars*, pages 241–266, 1996.

- [46] Amanda W. Peet. TASI lectures on black holes in string theory. In Strings, branes and gravity. *Proceedings, Theoretical Advanced Study Institute, TASI'99*, Boulder, USA, May 31-June 25, 1999, pages 353– 433, 2000.
- [47] Juan Martin Maldacena and Andrew Strominger. Black hole grey body factors and d-brane spectroscopy. *Phys. Rev.*, D55:861–870, 1997.
- [48] Lee Smolin. *How far are we from the quantum theory of gravity?* arXiv:0303185, 2003.
- [49] Joseph Polchinski. Quantum gravity at the Planck length. *eConf*, C9808031:08, 1998.
- [50] Ernesto Frodden, Amit Ghosh, and Alejandro Perez. Black hole entropy in LQG: Recent developments. *AIP Conf. Proc.*, 1458:100–115, 2011.
- [51] Eugenio Bianchi, Leonardo Modesto, Carlo Rovelli, and Simone Speziale. Graviton propagator in loop quantum gravity. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 23:6989–7028, 2006.
- [52] A. Zee. Group Theory in a Nutshell for Physicists. Princeton University Press., 2016, Pages 515-517 ISBN: 9780691162690.
- [53] R.P. Feynman, R.B. Leighton, M. Sands, and EM Hafner. The Feynman Lectures on Physics; Vol. I. *American Journal of Physics*, 33:750, 1965.
- [54] D. J. Gross. The Role of Symmetry in Fundamental Physics. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Science, 93:14256–14259, December 1996.
- [55] Mariusz P. Dabrowski, Janusz Garecki, and David B. Blaschke. Conformal transformations and conformal invariance in gravitation. *Annalen Phys.*, 18:13–32, 2009.
- [56] Paul H. Ginsparg. Applied Conformal Field Theory. In Les Houches Summer School in Theoretical Physics: Fields, Strings, Critical Phenomena Les Houches, France, June 28-August 5, 1988, pages 1–168, 1988.
- [57] Ebenezer Cunningham. *The Principle of Relativity*. Cambridge University Press, 1914.

- [58] Benoit B. Mandelbrot. How long is the coast of Britain? Statistical selfsimilarity and fractional dimension. *Science*, 156 3775:636–8, 1967.
- [59] John Miles. Collected papers of Lewis Fry Richardson. Volume 1: Meterology and numerical analysis. edited by P. G. Drazin. cambridge university press, 1993. 1016 pp. £95. *Journal of Fluid Mechanics*, 265:371–374, 1994.
- [60] F. Hausdorff. Dimension und äußeres Maß. *Mathematische Annalen* 79 (1-2), page 157–179, 1919.
- [61] Dario Benedetti and Joe Henson. Spectral geometry as a probe of quantum spacetime. *Phys. Rev.*, D80:124036, 2009.
- [62] Martin Reuter and Frank Saueressig. Fractal space-times under the microscope: A Renormalization Group view on Monte Carlo data. *JHEP*, 1112:012, 2011.
- [63] J. Myrheim. Statistical Geometry. CERN-TH-2538, 1978.
- [64] David A. Meyer. The dimension of causal sets. PhD thesis, 1989.
- [65] S. Carlip. Dimension and Dimensional Reduction in Quantum Gravity. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 34(19):193001, 2017.
- [66] Mriganko Roy, Debdeep Sinha, and Sumati Surya. Discrete geometry of a small causal diamond. *Phys. Rev.*, D87(4):044046, 2013.
- [67] Kelvin K. S. Wu, Ofer Lahav, and Martin J. Rees. The large-scale smoothness of the Universe. *Nature*, 397:225–230, 1999. [,19(1998)].
- [68] Stephen A. Shectman, Stephen D. Landy, Augustus Oemler, Douglas L. Tucker, Huan Lin, Robert P. Kirshner, and Paul L. Schechter. The Las Campanas Redshift Survey. *Astrophys. J.*, 470:172, 1996.
- [69] L. Pietronero The fractal structure of the universe correlations of galaxies and clusters and the average mass density. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 144(2-3):257–284, 8 1987.

- [70] Michael Joyce, F. Sylos Labini, A. Gabrielli, M. Montuori, and L. Pietronero. Basic properties of galaxy clustering in the light of recent results from the Sloan Digital Sky Survey. *Astron. Astrophys.*, 443:11, 2005.
- [71] R. Scaramella et al. The eso slice project [esp] galaxy redshift survey: v. evidence for a d=3 sample dimensionality. *Astron. Astrophys.*, 334:404, 1998.
- [72] Vicent J. Martinez, Maria-Jesus Pons-Borderia, Rana A. Moyeed, and Matthew J. Graham. Searching for the scale of homogeneity. *Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.*, 298:1212, 1998.
- [73] V. J. Martinez and P. Coles. Correlations and scaling in the QDOT redshift survey. *apj*, 437:550–555, December 1994.
- [74] L. Guzzo, A. Iovino, G. Chincarini, R. Giovanelli, and M. P. Haynes. Scale-invariant clustering in the large-scale distribution of galaxies. *apjl*, 382:L5–L9, November 1991.
- [75] L.F Abbott and Mark B. Wise. Dimension of a quantum-mechanical path. Am. J. Phys., 49(1), 1981.
- [76] T. Padmanabhan. Distribution function of the Atoms of Spacetime and the Nature of Gravity. *Entropy*, 17:7420–7452, 2015.
- [77] Jacob D. Bekenstein. Lett. Nuovo Cimento, 11, 1974.
- [78] Jacob D. Bekenstein. Black holes and entropy. *Phys. Rev.*, D7:2333– 2346, 1973.
- [79] Jacob D. Bekenstein. Generalized second law of thermodynamics in black hole physics. *Phys. Rev.*, D9:3292–3300, 1974.
- [80] H. Salecker and E. P. Wigner. Quantum limitations of the measurement of space-time distances. *Phys. Rev.*, 109:571–577, 1958.
- [81] Sabine Hossenfelder. Minimal Length Scale Scenarios for Quantum Gravity. *Living Rev. Rel.*, 16:2, 2013.

- [82] Fabio Scardigli. Generalized uncertainty principle in quantum gravity from micro black hole Gedanken experiment. *Phys. Lett.*, B452:39–44, 1999.
- [83] John Archibald Wheeler. Geons. Phys. Rev., 97:511-536, Jan 1955.
- [84] S. W. Hawking. Space-Time Foam. Nucl. Phys., B144:349-362, 1978.
- [85] Ted Jacobson. Thermodynamics of space-time: The Einstein equation of state. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 75:1260–1263, 1995.
- [86] Carlo Rovelli. Black hole entropy from loop quantum gravity. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 77:3288–3291, 1996.
- [87] Fabio Scardigli. Black hole entropy: A Space-time foam approach. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 14:1781–1793, 1997.
- [88] Fabio Scardigli. Some heuristic semiclassical derivations of the Planck length, the Hawking effect and the Unruh effect. *Nuovo Cim.*, B110:1029–1034, 1995.
- [89] Sidney R. Coleman, John Preskill, and Frank Wilczek. Quantum hair on black holes. *Nucl. Phys.*, B378:175–246, 1992.
- [90] Michele Maggiore. A Generalized uncertainty principle in quantum gravity. *Phys. Lett.*, B304:65–69, 1993.
- [91] C. Alden Mead. Possible Connection Between Gravitation and Fundamental Length. *Phys. Rev.*, 135:B849–B862, 1964.
- [92] Luis J. Garay. Quantum gravity and minimum length. Int. J. Mod. Phys., A10:145–166, 1995.
- [93] Ronald J. Adler and David I. Santiago. On gravity and the uncertainty principle. *Mod. Phys. Lett.*, A14:1371, 1999.
- [94] T. Padmanabhan. Planck length as the lower bound to all physical length scales. *Gen. Rel. Grav.*, 17:215–221, 1985.
- [95] T. Padmanabhan. Physical Significance of Planck Length. Annals Phys., 165:38–58, 1985.

- [96] J. V. Narlikar and T. Padmanabhan. The Problems of Singularity Particle Horizon and Flatness in Quantum Cosmology. *Annals Phys.*, 150:289– 306, 1983.
- [97] T. Padmanabhan. Quantum Gravity and the 'Flatness Problem' of the Standard Big Bang Universe. *Phys. Lett.*, A96:110–112, 1983.
- [98] T. Padmanabhan. Hypothesis of path integral duality. 1. Quantum gravitational corrections to the propagator. *Phys. Rev.*, D57:6206–6215, 1998.
- [99] A. Smailagic, E. Spallucci, and T. Padmanabhan. *String theory T duality and the zero point length of space-time*. arXiv:0308122, 2003.
- [100] J. Greensite. Is there a minimum length in D = 4 lattice quantum gravity? *Phys. Lett.*, B255:375–380, 1991.
- [101] T. Regge. General Relativity Without Coordinates. *Nuovo Cim.*, 19:558– 571, 1961.
- [102] M. Rocek and Ruth M. Williams. Quantum Regge Calculus. *Phys. Lett.*, B104:31, 1981.
- [103] T. G. Pavlopoulos. Breakdown of Lorentz invariance. Phys. Rev., 159:1106–1110, Jul 1967.
- [104] Giovanni Amelino-Camelia. Testable scenario for relativity with minimum length. *Phys. Lett.*, B510:255–263, 2001.
- [105] Giovanni Amelino-Camelia. Doubly special relativity. *Nature*, 418:34– 35, 2002.
- [106] Jerzy Kowalski-Glikman. Observer independent quantum of mass. *Phys. Lett.*, A286:391–394, 2001.
- [107] Joao Magueijo and Lee Smolin. Lorentz invariance with an invariant energy scale. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 88:190403, 2002.
- [108] V. Vasileiou, A. Jacholkowska, F. Piron, J. Bolmont, C. Couturier, J. Granot, F. W. Stecker, J. Cohen-Tanugi, and F. Longo. Constraints on Lorentz Invariance Violation from Fermi-Large Area Telescope Observations of Gamma-Ray Bursts. *Phys. Rev.*, D87(12):122001, 2013.

- [109] Giovanni Amelino-Camelia. Doubly special relativity: First results and key open problems. *Int. J. Mod. Phys.*, D11:1643, 2002.
- [110] Sabine Hossenfelder. The Soccer-Ball Problem. SIGMA, 10:074, 2014.
- [111] R. Aloisio, A. Galante, A. F. Grillo, E. Luzio, and F. Mendez. Approaching space time through velocity in doubly special relativity. *Phys. Rev.*, D70:125012, 2004.
- [112] R. Aloisio, A. Galante, A. F. Grillo, E. Luzio, and F. Mendez. A Note on DSR-like approach to space-time. *Phys. Lett.*, B610:101–106, 2005.
- [113] Giovanni Amelino-Camelia. Are we at the dawn of quantum gravity phenomenology? *Lect. Notes Phys.*, 541:1–49, 2000. [,1(1999)].
- [114] Don Colladay and V. Alan Kostelecky. CPT violation and the standard model. *Phys. Rev.*, D55:6760–6774, 1997.
- [115] Don Colladay and V. Alan Kostelecky. Lorentz violating extension of the standard model. *Phys. Rev.*, D58:116002, 1998.
- [116] Robert J. Nemiroff, Justin Holmes, and Ryan Connolly. Bounds on Spectral Dispersion from Fermi-detected Gamma Ray Bursts. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 108:231103, 2012.
- [117] Vlasios Vasileiou, Jonathan Granot, Tsvi Piran, and Giovanni Amelino-Camelia. A Planck-scale limit on spacetime fuzziness and stochastic Lorentz invariance violation. *Nature Phys.*, 11(4):344–346, 2015.
- [118] L. Diosi and B. Lukacs. On the Minimum Uncertainty of Space-time Geodesics. *Phys. Lett.*, A142:331, 1989.
- [119] E.S. Perlman, S.A. Rappaport, W.A. Christiansen, Y.J. Ng, J. DeVore, et al. New Constraints on Quantum Gravity from X-ray and Gamma-Ray Observations. *Astrophys. J.*, 805(1):10, 2015.
- [120] David Mattingly. Modern tests of Lorentz invariance. *Living Rev. Rel.*, 8:5, 2005.

- [121] M. Antonello et al. Precision measurement of the neutrino velocity with the ICARUS detector in the CNGS beam. *JHEP*, 11:049, 2012.
- [122] L. B. Auerbach et al. Tests of Lorentz violation in anti-nu(mu) —> antinu(e) oscillations. *Phys. Rev.*, D72:076004, 2005.
- [123] Xiao-Jun Bi, Zhen Cao, Ye Li, and Qiang Yuan. Testing Lorentz Invariance with Ultra High Energy Cosmic Ray Spectrum. *Phys. Rev.*, D79:083015, 2009.
- [124] Joseph Polchinski. Comment on [arXiv:1106.1417] 'Small Lorentz violations in quantum gravity: do they lead to unacceptably large effects?'. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 29:088001, 2012.
- [125] E. Stueckelberg and A. Petermann. La renormalisation des constants dans la theorie de quanta. *Helv. Phys. Acta* 26, 499, (1953).
- [126] M. Gell-Mann and F.E. Low. Quantum Electrodynamics at Small Distances. *Physical Review*, 95:1300–1312, 1954.
- [127] K. G. Wilson. Confinement of quarks. prd, 10:2445-2459, oct 1974.
- [128] L. P. Kadanoff. Scaling laws for Ising models near T(c). *Physics Physique Fizika*, 2:263–272, 1966.
- [129] W. Pauli, L. Rosenfeld, and V. Weisskopf. Niels Bohr and the Development of Physics. 1955.
- [130] David J. Gross and Frank Wilczek. Ultraviolet behavior of non-abelian gauge theories. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 30:1343–1346, Jun 1973.
- [131] Stuart A. Raby. 15. *Grand unified theories* revised October 2005 by S. Raby (Ohio State University). 15.1. Grand Unification 15. grand unified theories 1.
- [132] Approaches to Quantum Gravity: Toward a New Understanding of Space, Time and Matter. Cambridge University Press, 2009.
- [133] Marianne Heilmann, Daniel F. Litim, Franziska Synatschke-Czerwonka, and Andreas Wipf. Phases of supersymmetric O(N) theories. *Phys. Rev.*, D86:105006, 2012.

- [134] Daniel F. Litim, Marianne C. Mastaler, Franziska Synatschke-Czerwonka, and Andreas Wipf. Critical behavior of supersymmetric O(N) models in the large-N limit. *Phys. Rev.*, D84:125009, 2011.
- [135] R. Percacci and A. Eichhorn. What is asymptotic safety. www.percacci.it/roberto/physics/as/faq.html, 2012.
- [136] Alessandro Codello, Roberto Percacci, and Christoph Rahmede. Ultraviolet properties of f(R)-gravity. *Int. J. Mod. Phys.*, A23:143–150, 2008.
- [137] Alessandro Codello, Roberto Percacci, and Christoph Rahmede. Investigating the Ultraviolet Properties of Gravity with a Wilsonian Renormalization Group Equation. *Annals Phys.*, 324:414–469, 2009.
- [138] Dario Benedetti, Pedro F. Machado, and Frank Saueressig. Asymptotic safety in higher-derivative gravity. *Mod. Phys. Lett.*, A24:2233–2241, 2009.
- [139] K. Falls, D.F. Litim, K. Nikolakopoulos, and C. Rahmede. *A bootstrap towards asymptotic safety*. arXiv:1301.4191, 2013.
- [140] Daniel F. Litim. Renormalisation group and the Planck scale. *Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. Lond.*, A369:2759–2778, 2011.
- [141] Daniel F. Litim and Dario Zappala. Ising exponents from the functional renormalisation group. *Phys. Rev.*, D83:085009, 2011.
- [142] Daniel F. Litim. Optimized renormalization group flows. *Phys. Rev.*, D64:105007, 2001.
- [143] Peter Fischer and Daniel F. Litim. Fixed points of quantum gravity in extra dimensions. *Phys. Lett.*, B638:497–502, 2006.
- [144] Tom Banks. TASI Lectures on Holographic Space-Time, SUSY and Gravitational Effective Field Theory. arXiv:1007.4001, 2010.
- [145] Assaf Shomer. A Pedagogical explanation for the non-renormalizability of gravity. arXiv:0709.3555, 2007.

- [146] Kevin Falls and Daniel F. Litim. Black hole thermodynamics under the microscope. *Phys. Rev.*, D89:084002, 2014.
- [147] Rajan Gupta. Introduction to lattice QCD: Course. arXiv:9807028, pages 83–219, 1997.
- [148] Rajan Gupta. Lattice QCD. AIP Conf. Proc., 490:3-9, 1999.
- [149] S. Hashimoto, J. Laiho, and S.R. Sharpe. Lattice Quantum Chromodynamics. *Particle Data Group*, 17, 2011.
- [150] Simon Catterall. Supersymmetric lattices. arXiv:1005.5346, 2010.
- [151] Biagio Lucini. Strongly Interacting Dynamics beyond the Standard Model on a Spacetime Lattice. *Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. Lond.*, A368:3657– 3670, 2010.
- [152] J. Ambjorn, J. Jurkiewicz, and R. Loll. Reconstructing the universe. *Phys. Rev.*, D72:064014, 2005.
- [153] Sarp Akcay and Richard A. Matzner. Kerr-de Sitter Universe. Class. Quant. Grav., 28:085012, 2011.
- [154] Jan Ambjorn, B. Durhuus, and J. Frohlich. Diseases of Triangulated Random Surface Models, and Possible Cures. *Nucl. Phys.*, B257:433, 1985.
- [155] V.A. Kazakov, Alexander A. Migdal, and I.K. Kostov. Critical Properties of Randomly Triangulated Planar Random Surfaces. *Phys. Lett.*, B157:295–300, 1985.
- [156] Jan Ambjorn. Strings, quantum gravity and noncommutative geometry on the lattice. *Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl.*, 106:62–70, 2002.
- [157] Jan Ambjorn and Steen Varsted. Three-dimensional simplicial quantum gravity. *Nucl. Phys.*, B373:557–580, 1992.
- [158] M.E. Agishtein and Alexander A. Migdal. Three-dimensional quantum gravity as dynamical triangulation. *Mod. Phys. Lett.*, A6:1863–1884, 1991.

- [159] D.V. Boulatov and A. Krzywicki. On the phase diagram of threedimensional simplicial quantum gravity. *Mod. Phys. Lett.*, A6:3005– 3014, 1991.
- [160] Jan Ambjorn and Jerzy Jurkiewicz. Four-dimensional simplicial quantum gravity. *Phys. Lett.*, B278:42–50, 1992.
- [161] M.E. Agishtein and Alexander A. Migdal. Simulations of fourdimensional simplicial quantum gravity. *Mod. Phys. Lett.*, A7:1039– 1062, 1992.
- [162] Bas V. de Bakker and Jan Smit. Curvature and scaling in 4-d dynamical triangulation. *Nucl. Phys.*, B439:239–258, 1995.
- [163] Jan Ambjorn and J. Jurkiewicz. Scaling in four-dimensional quantum gravity. Nucl. Phys., B451:643–676, 1995.
- [164] S. Catterall, John B. Kogut, and R. Renken. Phase structure of fourdimensional simplicial quantum gravity. *Phys. Lett.*, B328:277–283, 1994.
- [165] H.S. Egawa, T. Hotta, T. Izubuchi, N. Tsuda, and T. Yukawa. Scaling behavior in 4-D simplicial quantum gravity. *Prog. Theor. Phys.*, 97:539– 552, 1997.
- [166] Bas V. de Bakker. Further evidence that the transition of 4-D dynamical triangulation is first order. *Phys. Lett.*, B389:238–242, 1996.
- [167] P. Bialas, Z. Burda, A. Krzywicki, and B. Petersson. Focusing on the fixed point of 4-D simplicial gravity. *Nucl. Phys.*, B472:293–308, 1996.
- [168] Bernd Bruegmann and Enzo Marinari. 4-d simplicial quantum gravity with a nontrivial measure. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 70:1908–1911, 1993.
- [169] S. Bilke, Z. Burda, A. Krzywicki, B. Petersson, J. Tabaczek, et al. 4-D simplicial quantum gravity: Matter fields and the corresponding effective action. *Phys.Lett.*, B432:279–286, 1998.
- [170] Bas V. De Bakker and Jan Smit. Volume dependence of the phase boundary in 4-D dynamical triangulation. *Phys. Lett.*, B334:304–308, 1994.

- [171] J. Laiho and D. Coumbe. Evidence for Asymptotic Safety from Lattice Quantum Gravity. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 107:161301, 2011.
- [172] Daniel Coumbe and John Laiho. Exploring Euclidean Dynamical Triangulations with a Non-trivial Measure Term. *JHEP*, 1504:028, 2015.
- [173] J. Laiho, S. Bassler, D. Coumbe, D. Du, and J. T. Neelakanta. Lattice Quantum Gravity and Asymptotic Safety. *Phys. Rev.*, D96(6):064015, 2017.
- [174] J. Laiho, S. Bassler, D. Du, J. T. Neelakanta, and D. Coumbe. Recent results in Euclidean dynamical triangulations. *Acta Phys. Polon. Supp.*, 10:317–320, 2017.
- [175] Eric Myers. The Unbounded action and the density of states in nonperturbative quantum gravity. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 9:405–412, 1992.
- [176] H. Hamber. Quantum Gravitation: The Feynman Path Integral Approach. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2009.
- [177] D.R. Brill and Stanley Deser. Variational methods and positive energy in general relativity. *Annals Phys.*, 50:548–570, 1968.
- [178] Robert P. Geroch. Structure of the gravitational field at spatial infinity. J. Math. Phys., 13:956–968, 1972.
- [179] G.W. Gibbons and S.W. Hawking. Cosmological Event Horizons, Thermodynamics, and Particle Creation. *Phys. Rev.*, D15:2738–2751, 1977.
- [180] G.W. Gibbons, S.W. Hawking, and M.J. Perry. Path Integrals and the Indefiniteness of the Gravitational Action. *Nucl. Phys.*, B138:141, 1978.
- [181] Pawel O. Mazur and Emil Mottola. The Gravitational Measure, Solution of the Conformal Factor Problem and Stability of the Ground State of Quantum Gravity. *Nucl. Phys.*, B341:187–212, 1990.
- [182] A. Dasgupta and R. Loll. A Proper time cure for the conformal sickness in quantum gravity. *Nucl. Phys.*, B606:357–379, 2001.

- [183] Jan Ambjorn and R. Loll. Nonperturbative Lorentzian quantum gravity, causality and topology change. *Nucl. Phys.*, B536:407–434, 1998.
- [184] J. Ambjorn, A. Gorlich, J. Jurkiewicz, and R. Loll. The Nonperturbative Quantum de Sitter Universe. *Phys. Rev.*, D78:063544, 2008.
- [185] J. Ambjorn, A. Gorlich, J. Jurkiewicz, and R. Loll. Planckian Birth of the Quantum de Sitter Universe. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 100:091304, 2008.
- [186] Jan Ambjørn, Jakub Gizbert-Studnicki, Andrzej Görlich, and Jerzy Jurkiewicz. The effective action in 4-dim CDT. The transfer matrix approach. *JHEP*, 06:034, 2014.
- [187] Jan Ambjorn, S. Jordan, J. Jurkiewicz, and R. Loll. Second- and First-Order Phase Transitions in CDT. *Phys. Rev.*, D85:124044, 2012.
- [188] Hildegard Meyer-Ortmanns. Phase transitions in quantum chromodynamics. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 68:473–598, 1996.
- [189] J. Ambjorn, D. Coumbe, J. Gizbert-Studnicki, A. Gorlich, and J. Jurkiewicz. New higher-order transition in causal dynamical triangulations. *Phys. Rev.*, D95(12):124029, 2017.
- [190] Jan Ambjørn, Bergfinnur Durhuus, and Thordur Jonsson. Quantum Geometry: A Statistical Field Theory Approach. *Cambridge Monographs* on Mathematical Physics. Cambridge University Press, 1997.
- [191] J. Ambjorn, A. Gorlich, S. Jordan, J. Jurkiewicz, and R. Loll. CDT meets Horava-Lifshitz gravity. *Phys. Lett.*, B690:413–419, 2010.
- [192] Jan Ambjorn, Lisa Glaser, Yuki Sato, and Yoshiyuki Watabiki. 2d CDT is 2d Horava-Lifshitz quantum gravity. *Phys. Lett.*, B722:172–175, 2013.
- [193] Petr Horava. Quantum Gravity at a Lifshitz Point. *Phys. Rev.*, D79:084008, 2009.
- [194] Gunnar Nordstrom. On the possibility of unifying the electromagnetic and the gravitational fields. *Phys. Z.*, 15:504–506, 1914.

- [195] Theodor Kaluza. Zum Unitätsproblem der Physik [To the problem of physics]. *Math. Phys.* Sitzungsber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Berlin (), 1921:966–972, 1921.
- [196] Oskar Klein. Quantum Theory and Five-Dimensional Theory of Relativity. (In German and English). Z. Phys., 37:895–906, 1926.
- [197] Alexander N. Jourjine. Dimensional Phase Transitions Coupling of the Matter to the Cell Complex. *Phys. Rev.*, D31:1443, 1985.
- [198] Vadim Kaplunovsky and Marvin Weinstein. Space-time: Arena or illusion? Phys. Rev. D, 31:1879–1898, Apr 1985.
- [199] Anton Zeilinger and Karl Svozil. Measuring the dimension of space-time. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 54:2553–2555, Jun 1985.
- [200] Louis Crane and Lee Smolin. Space-time Foam as the Universal Regulator. Gen. Rel. Grav., 17:1209, 1985.
- [201] B. L. Hu and D. J. O'Connor. Mixmaster inflation. *Phys. Rev. D*, 34:2535–2538, Oct 1986.
- [202] Steven Carlip. Spontaneous Dimensional Reduction in Short-Distance Quantum Gravity? *AIP Conf. Proc.*, 1196:72, 2009.
- [203] Joseph J. Atick and Edward Witten. The Hagedorn Transition and the Number of Degrees of Freedom of String Theory. *Nucl. Phys.*, B310:291–334, 1988.
- [204] D. J. Gross. Strings at superPlanckian energies: In search of the string symmetry. 329:401–413, 1988. [Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. Lond.A].
- [205] David J. Gross and J. L. Manes. The High-energy Behavior of Open String Scattering. Nucl. Phys., B326:73–107, 1989.
- [206] David J. Gross and Paul F. Mende. String Theory Beyond the Planck Scale. Nucl. Phys., B303:407, 1988.
- [207] Bergfinnur Durhuus, Thordur Jonsson, and John F. Wheater. Random walks on combs. J. Phys., A39:1009–1038, 2006.

- [208] Bergfinnur Durhuus, Thordur Jonsson, and John F. Wheater. On the spectral dimension of causal triangulations. *J. Statist. Phys.*, 139:859, 2010.
- [209] Georgios Giasemidis, John F. Wheater, and Stefan Zohren. Dynamical dimensional reduction in toy models of 4D causal quantum gravity. *Phys. Rev.*, D86:081503, 2012.
- [210] Georgios Giasemidis, John F. Wheater, and Stefan Zohren. Aspects of dynamical dimensional reduction in multigraph ensembles of CDT. J. *Phys. Conf. Ser.*, 410:012154, 2013.
- [211] Petr Hořava. Spectral Dimension of the Universe in Quantum Gravity at a Lifshitz Point. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 102:161301, 2009.
- [212] Leonardo Modesto. Fractal Structure of Loop Quantum Gravity. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 26:242002, 2009.
- [213] Elena Magliaro, Claudio Perini, and Leonardo Modesto. Fractal Space-Time from Spin-Foams. arXiv:0911.0437, 2009.
- [214] C. J. Isham. Some Quantum Field Theory Aspects of the Superspace Quantization of General Relativity. *Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond.*, A351:209– 232, 1976.
- [215] A. Helfer, M. S. Hickman, C. Kozameh, C. Lucey, and E. T. Newman. The general solution of the vacuum Einstein equation in the limit of strong gravity. *General Relativity and Gravitation*, 20:875–880, September 1988.
- [216] T. Futamase. Coleman-weinberg symmetry breaking in an anisotropic spacetime. *Phys. Rev. D*, 29:2783–2790, Jun 1984.
- [217] Andrew L. Berkin. Coleman-weinberg symmetry breaking in a bianchi type-i universe. *Phys. Rev. D*, 46:1551–1559, Aug 1992.
- [218] Rafael D. Sorkin. Causal sets: Discrete gravity. In Lectures on quantum gravity. Proceedings, School of Quantum Gravity, Valdivia, Chile, January 4-14, 2002, pages 305–327, 2003.

- [219] S. Carlip. Dimensional reduction in causal set gravity. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 32(23):232001, 2015.
- [220] Joe Henson, David P. Rideout, Rafael D. Sorkin, and Sumati Surya. *Onset of the Asymptotic Regime for Finite Orders*. arXiv:1504.05902, 2015.
- [221] David D. Reid. The Manifold dimension of a causal set: Tests in conformally flat space-times. *Phys. Rev.*, D67:024034, 2003.
- [222] Astrid Eichhorn and Sebastian Mizera. Spectral dimension in causal set quantum gravity. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 31:125007, 2014.
- [223] Alessio Belenchia, Dionigi M. T. Benincasa, Antonino Marciano, and Leonardo Modesto. Spectral Dimension from Nonlocal Dynamics on Causal Sets. *Phys. Rev.*, D93(4):044017, 2016.
- [224] Maxim A. Kurkov, Fedele Lizzi, Mairi Sakellariadou, and Apimook Watcharangkool. Spectral action with zeta function regularization. *Phys. Rev.*, D91(6):065013, 2015.
- [225] Dario Benedetti. Fractal properties of quantum spacetime. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 102:111303, 2009.
- [226] Michele Arzano and Tomasz Trzesniewski. Diffusion on κ-Minkowski space. *Phys. Rev.*, D89(12):124024, 2014.
- [227] K. Nozari, V. Hosseinzadeh, and M. A. Gorji. High temperature dimensional reduction in Snyder space. *Phys. Lett.*, B750:218–224, 2015.
- [228] Ali H. Chamseddine and Alain Connes. Universal formula for noncommutative geometry actions: Unification of gravity and the standard model. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 77:4868–4871, 1996.
- [229] Thomas P. Sotiriou, Matt Visser, and Silke Weinfurtner. From dispersion relations to spectral dimension - and back again. *Phys. Rev.*, D84:104018, 2011.
- [230] Jakub Mielczarek. From Causal Dynamical Triangulations To Astronomical Observations. EPL, 119(6):60003, 2017.

- [231] Thomas P. Sotiriou, Matt Visser, and Silke Weinfurtner. Spectral dimension as a probe of the ultraviolet continuum regime of causal dynamical triangulations. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 107:131303, 2011.
- [232] Giovanni Amelino-Camelia, Michele Arzano, Giulia Gubitosi, and Joao Magueijo. Dimensional reduction in the sky. *Phys. Rev.*, D87(12):123532, 2013.
- [233] Gianluca Calcagni, Sachiko Kuroyanagi, and Shinji Tsujikawa. Cosmic microwave background and inflation in multi-fractional spacetimes. *JCAP*, 1608(08):039, 2016.
- [234] Francisco Caruso and Vitor Oguri. The Cosmic Microwave Background Spectrum and a Determination of Fractal Space Dimensionality. *Astrophys. J.*, 694:151–153, 2009.
- [235] Kenneth Greisen. End to the cosmic ray spectrum? *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 16:748–750, 1966.
- [236] G. T. Zatsepin and V. A. Kuzmin. Upper limit of the spectrum of cosmic rays. *JETP Lett.*, 4:78–80, 1966. [Pisma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.4,114(1966)].
- [237] Alexander Aab et al. Inferences on mass composition and tests of hadronic interactions from 0.3 to 100 EeV using the water-Cherenkov detectors of the Pierre Auger Observatory. *Phys. Rev.*, D96(12):122003, 2017.
- [238] Joao Magueijo and Lee Smolin. Generalized Lorentz invariance with an invariant energy scale. *Phys. Rev.*, D67:044017, 2003.
- [239] Berndt Müller and Andreas Schäfer. Improved bounds on the dimension of space-time. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 56:1215–1218, Mar 1986.
- [240] Gianluca Calcagni. Multifractional theories: an unconventional review. *JHEP*, 03:138, 2017. [Erratum: JHEP06,020(2017)].
- [241] Luis A. Anchordoqui, De Chang Dai, Haim Goldberg, Greg Landsberg, Gabe Shaughnessy, Dejan Stojkovic, and Thomas J. Weiler. Searching

for the Layered Structure of Space at the LHC. *Phys. Rev.*, D83:114046, 2011.

- [242] L. T. Baradzei et al. Analysis of alignment in gamma hadron families according to carbon X-ray emulsion chamber data. *Bull. Russ. Acad. Sci. Phys.*, 57:612–614, 1993. [Izv. Ross. Akad. Nauk Ser. Fiz.57N4,40(1993)].
- [243] Daniel F. Litim and Tilman Plehn. Signatures of gravitational fixed points at the LHC. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 100:131301, 2008.
- [244] Jonas R. Mureika and Dejan Stojkovic. Detecting Vanishing Dimensions Via Primordial Gravitational Wave Astronomy. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 106:101101, 2011.
- [245] Thomas P. Sotiriou, Matt Visser, and Silke Weinfurtner. Comment on: Detecting Vanishing Dimensions Via Primordial Gravitational Wave Astronomy. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 107:169001, 2011.
- [246] O. Lauscher and M. Reuter. Fractal spacetime structure in asymptotically safe gravity. *JHEP*, 0510:050, 2005.
- [247] Giovanni Amelino-Camelia, Michele Arzano, Giulia Gubitosi, and João Magueijo. Planck-scale dimensional reduction without a preferred frame. *Phys. Lett.*, B736:317–320, 2014.
- [248] Giovanni Amelino-Camelia. Relativity in space-times with short distance structure governed by an observer independent (Planckian) length scale. *Int. J. Mod. Phys.*, D11:35–60, 2002.
- [249] V. Alan Kostelecky. In *Proceedings of the Second Meeting on CPT and Lorentz Symmetry.*, pages 257–258, 2002.
- [250] S. Jordan and R. Loll. Causal Dynamical Triangulations without Preferred Foliation. *Phys. Lett.*, B724:155–159, 2013.
- [251] Fotini Markopoulou and Lee Smolin. Gauge fixing in causal dynamical triangulations. *Nucl. Phys.*, B739:120–130, 2006.

- [252] J.W. Moffat. Superluminary universe: A Possible solution to the initial value problem in cosmology. *Int. J. Mod. Phys.*, D2:351–366, 1993.
- [253] Andreas Albrecht and Joao Magueijo. A Time varying speed of light as a solution to cosmological puzzles. *Phys. Rev.*, D59:043516, 1999.
- [254] Georgios Giasemidis, John F. Wheater, and Stefan Zohren. Multigraph models for causal quantum gravity and scale dependent spectral dimension. J. Phys., A45:355001, 2012.
- [255] Daniel Coumbe. What is dimensional reduction really telling us? In 14th Marcel Grossmann Meeting on Recent Developments in Theoretical and Experimental General Relativity, Astrophysics, and Relativistic Field Theories (MG14) Rome, Italy, July 12-18, 2015, 2015.
- [256] G. C. Wick. Properties of bethe-salpeter wave functions. *Phys. Rev.*, 96:1124–1134, Nov 1954.
- [257] Jakub Mielczarek. Signature change in loop quantum cosmology. Springer Proc. Phys., 157:555–562, 2014.
- [258] Piero Nicolini and Benjamin Niedner. Hausdorff dimension of a particle path in a quantum manifold. *Phys. Rev.*, D83:024017, 2011.
- [259] H. Weyl. Gravitation und Elektrizitat. Sitzungsberichte der Koniglich Preußischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin [Session Reports of the Royal Prussian Academy of Sciences to Berlin], page 465–480.
- [260] Patric Holscher. *Conformal gravity*. Master's thesis, Faculty of Physics, Bielefeld University, 2015.
- [261] Cornelius Lanczos. A Remarkable property of the Riemann-Christoffel tensor in four dimensions. *Annals Math.*, 39:842–850, 1938.
- [262] Philip D. Mannheim. Making the Case for Conformal Gravity. Found. Phys., 42:388–420, 2012.
- [263] Carl M. Bender and Philip D. Mannheim. No-ghost theorem for the fourth-order derivative Pais-Uhlenbeck oscillator model. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 100:110402, 2008.

- [264] Rudolf Bach. Zur weylschen relativitätstheorie und der weylschen erweiterung des krümmungstensorbegriffs [To Weyl's relativity theory and Weyl's extension of the insult term]. *Mathematische Zeitschrift*, 9(1):110–135, Mar 1921.
- [265] Martin Reuter and Jan-Markus Schwindt. Scale-dependent metric and causal structures in Quantum Einstein Gravity. *JHEP*, 01:049, 2007.
- [266] J. Ambjørn and Y. Makeenko. The use of Pauli–Villars regularization in string theory. *Int. J. Mod. Phys.*, A32(31):1750187, 2017.
- [267] Feng Wu. Note on Weyl versus Conformal Invariance in Field Theory. *Eur. Phys. J.*, C77(12):886, 2017.
- [268] Kara Farnsworth, Markus A. Luty, and Valentina Prilepina. Weyl versus Conformal Invariance in Quantum Field Theory. *JHEP*, 10:170, 2017.
- [269] H. Weyl. Gravitation and electricity. Sitzungsber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Berlin (Math. Phys.), 1918:465, 1918. [,24(1918)].
- [270] Joshua D. Qualls. *Lectures on Conformal Field Theory*. arXiv: 1511.04074, 2015.
- [271] Martin Reuter and Jan-Markus Schwindt. A Minimal length from the cutoff modes in asymptotically safe quantum gravity. *JHEP*, 01:070, 2006.

About the Author

Daniel Coumbe, PhD

Postdoctoral Research Fellow The Niels Bohr Institute University of Copenhagen, Denmark Email: d.coumbe@gmail.com

Daniel Coumbe received his PhD in theoretical particle physics from the University of Glasgow in the UK. He was briefly a temporary research associate at Syracuse University in New York, before a two year postdoctoral appointment at Jagiellonian University in Krakow, Poland. He is currently a postdoctoral research fellow at the Niels Bohr Institute in Copenhagen, Denmark, working at the forefront of quantum gravity research. Coumbe is the author of numerous publications on quantum gravity in internationally leading research journals, most of which focus on the role of scale in fundamental physics. He has collaborated with many leading figures in the quantum gravity community and regularly attends and presents at international conferences and workshops.
Index

А

acceleration, xv, xxvi, xxx, 26 antiparticle, xxviii, xxix, 107 asymmetry, 3, 67 asymptotic safety, xvii, xxxii, 45, 47, 48, 49, 51, 68, 79, 80, 82, 84, 91, 119, 129, 130, 132, 133 atoms, xxvi, xxviii, 3, 19, 20, 21, 40, 41

В

Big Bang, 89, 126 black hole, xvi, xxiv, xxix, xxx, xxxii, 20, 21, 23, 24, 25, 50, 51, 65, 70, 121, 122, 125, 126 black hole entropy, xxxii, 23 black holes, xvi, xxiv, xxxii, 20, 21, 23, 24, 25, 50, 65, 70, 121, 122, 126 blackbody radiation, xxvi Boltzmann constant, 19 Brownian motion, 13

С

causality, 38, 65, 66, 133 clustering, 15, 124, 125 clusters, 15, 124 correlation dimension, 14, 15 cosmic rays, 90, 138 coupling constants, 39, 46, 53

D

diffusion, 11, 12, 13, 16, 17, 72, 73, 74, 75, 77, 81, 83, 85, 92, 94, 95, 96, 97, 99 diffusion process, 12, 13, 16, 72, 73, 96, 97 diffusion time, 12, 72, 75, 77, 81, 83, 85, 92 dimensional reduction, 70, 71, 81, 85, 87, 88, 91, 92, 93, 94, 95, 96, 97, 110, 117, 118, 119, 124, 135, 139, 140 dimensionality, xxviii, 8, 10, 14, 15, 46, 70, 73, 80, 81, 85, 91, 117, 124 direct measure, 89, 90 dispersion, 35, 36, 37, 38, 85, 86, 87, 88, 89, 90, 92, 93, 108, 119, 137 displacement, 6, 13 distribution, 14, 15, 16, 31, 57, 58, 70, 125 duality, 32, 33, 126, 127 dynamical dimensional reduction, xvi, 71, 90, 136

Е

early universe, 86, 87, 88 effective field theory, 37, 45, 122

Index

- Einstein, xvii, xix, xxiv, xxv, xxviii, 6, 19, 29, 48, 49, 58, 60, 62, 63, 64, 70, 101, 103, 104, 105, 106, 108, 111, 118, 120, 121, 122, 125, 136, 140
- electric charge, 39, 45
- electricity, xxiii, 141
- electromagnetic, xxvi, 25, 26, 27, 42, 70, 89, 107, 134
- electromagnetism, xxvi, 6, 103
- electron, xxvi, xxvii, xxviii, 25, 26, 39, 90, 120
- electrons, xxvi, 20
- energy, xviii, xxv, xxvi, xxvii, xxviii, xxii, xxx, xxxi, xxxii, xxxii, 19, 20, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 41, 42, 43, 45, 49, 50, 53, 58, 64, 71, 78, 79, 80, 83, 84, 86, 88, 89, 90, 91, 92, 93, 103, 106, 107, 108, 111, 112, 113, 117, 121, 127,133, 135, 138
- entropy, xxix, xxx, xxxii, 19, 20, 21, 50, 84, 85, 112, 122, 123, 125, 126
- Euclidean space, xxv, 12, 28, 32, 33, 85, 94, 113

F

field theory, xxviii, xxx, 37, 49, 50, 53, 54, 66, 80, 84, 85, 112 fractal dimension, 8, 10, 12, 14, 61, 83 fractal structure, xxi, 124 fractals, xvii, 7, 9, 11, 13, 15, 16, 17 freedom, xxxii, 19, 20, 21, 42, 43, 45, 46, 53, 64, 69, 71 fusion, 92

G

galaxies, 15, 86, 124, 125

- Galileo, 2, 3
- gauge theory, 106
- general relativity, xvii, xxiv, xxv, xxvi,
 xxviii, xxix, xxx, xxxi, xxxii, 3, 26, 45,
 54, 58, 60, 64, 65, 67, 69, 70, 77, 78, 79,
 82, 83, 101, 103, 107, 118, 120, 121,
 122, 127, 133, 136, 140

- general relativity, 120, 122, 127, 136, 140
- general theory of relativity, xvii, 120
- geometry, xxviii, 8, 9, 10, 15, 16, 54, 55, 56,
 - 57, 58, 59, 60, 67, 70, 71, 83, 84, 89,
 - 103, 124, 131, 137
- global scale, 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 9
- Google, xv, xvi
- gravitation, xxiv, xxv, 122, 123
- gravitational field, xxiv, xxviii, 26, 64, 107, 133, 134
- gravitational force, xxiv, xxv
- gravitational lensing, xxvi
- gravity, xvi, xvii, xxi, xxiv, xxv, xxviii, xxix, xxx, xxxi, xxxii, xxxii, 1, 21, 22, 23, 25, 26, 28, 29, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 45, 48, 49, 50, 51, 54, 55, 56, 57, 58, 59, 62, 63, 64, 68, 70, 71, 78, 79, 80, 81, 83, 84, 85, 90, 91, 92, 99, 103, 106, 107, 108, 112, 113, 114, 115, 119, 120, 122, 123, 125, 126, 128, 129, 130, 131, 132, 133, 134, 135, 136, 137, 139, 140, 141, 143

Н

Hamiltonian, xxvii, xxix, 40, 82 Hausdorff dimension, 8, 9, 10, 16, 18, 57, 58, 59, 86, 90, 93, 97, 98, 140 Hawking radiation, xxx, 24 histogram, 61, 67

L

Lagrangian density, 101, 103 lattice quantum gravit, 33 lattice quantum gravity, xvii, 119, 127

Μ

magnetic moment, xxvii, 90, 120 magnitude, 26, 42, 43, 63, 107, 117 metric tensor, xvii, 2, 4, 26, 81, 82, 102, 103, 104, 105, 106, 107, 108, 110, 117, 118 minimum length scale, xvii, 22, 35, 36, 40 Minkowski spacetime, 13, 83

momentum, xviii, xxv, xxvii, xxix, xxxi, 16, 25, 26, 27, 28, 35, 36, 49, 79, 85, 86, 93, 103, 111, 114, 115

Ν

Newtonian gravity, xxiv, xxvi

Ρ

- particle physics, 118, 143
- partition, 59, 62, 65, 66
- phase diagram, 58, 62, 67, 68, 73, 94, 131
- phenomenology, 128
- photons, 22, 24, 25, 36, 90, 108
- physical interaction, 40
- physical phenomena, xxiv
- physical theories, xxvii
- physics, xv, xvi, xvii, xxvi, 3, 4, 20, 24, 34, 40, 43, 53, 54, 55, 70, 88, 90, 91, 92, 101, 103, 108, 110, 117, 125, 129, 134, 143
- Poincare group, 4, 5
- probability, xxvi, xxvii, 10, 12, 13, 29, 30, 31, 40, 72, 73, 75, 85, 92, 94
- probability distribution, 30
- proportionality, 5, 17, 21, 25, 95, 96

Q

quantum chromodynamics (QCD), xx, 42, 46, 54, 107, 130 quantum cosmology, 140 quantum electrodynamics (QED), xx, xxvii, 39, 42, 45, 107, 120 quantum field theory, xxxi, 20, 32, 42, 45, 49, 70, 71, 84, 107, 112, 114 quantum fluctuations, 23 quantum foam, 23 quantum gravity, xvi, xvii, xxiv, xxviii, xxix, xxxi, xxxii, 1, 22, 23, 25, 26, 28, 29, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 45, 49, 51, 53,

- 54, 55, 57, 58, 59, 61, 62, 63, 65, 67, 68, 70, 71, 78, 81, 83, 85, 90, 91, 92, 99, 106, 108, 112, 113, 114, 119, 120, 122, 123, 124, 125, 126,127, 128, 129, 130, 131, 132, 133, 134, 135, 136, 137, 139, 141, 143 quantum mechanics, xvii, xxiv, xxvi, xxvii, xxviii, xxx, 16, 26, 45, 54, 120
- quantum state, xxvi
- quantum theory, xxviii, xxxii, 123
- quarks, 20, 42, 46, 129

R

radiation, xviii, xxxii, 21, 26, 27, 89

- radius, 6, 9, 10, 16, 20, 23, 24, 25, 27, 50, 51, 56, 84, 85, 109 random walk, 10, 11, 13, 16, 72, 95
- renormalisation group, xvii, xx, xxxiii, 39, 41, 43, 46, 48, 49, 77, 79, 130

S

safety, xvii, xxxii, 45, 48, 49, 68, 79, 80, 82, 84, 91, 119, 129, 130 scalar field, 32, 63, 70, 113 scalar field theory, 63 scale transformation, xvi, xvii, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 9,111 scaling, 1, 2, 14, 50, 57, 61, 71, 78, 81, 112, 114, 125, 132 scattering, 25, 26, 71, 107 Schrödinger equation, xxvi Schwarzschild solution, xxv simulations, xxi, 12, 61, 63, 64, 66, 67, 88, 94 spacetime, xix, xxiv, xxv, xxviii, xxx, xxxi, 2, 4, 6, 12, 13, 14, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 26, 27, 28, 29, 31, 32, 33, 36, 38, 50, 53, 54,

Index

80, 81, 83, 84, 86, 89, 90, 91, 92, 93, 95, 101, 102, 103, 104, 105, 106, 107, 108, 109, 110, 111, 112, 113, 114, 117, 124, 128, 136, 137, 139 special relativity, xx, 34, 35, 36, 90, 118, 127 special theory of relativity, xxiv spectral dimension, 10, 11, 12, 13, 67, 72, 73, 74, 75, 76, 77, 78, 79, 80, 81, 82, 83, 84, 85, 86, 87, 88, 89, 90, 92, 93, 95, 137 speed of light, xviii, 6, 22, 35, 36, 37, 93, 94, 97, 108, 111, 117, 139 spin, xxviii, xxxi, xxxii, 3, 32, 40, 41, 81 square lattice, 10, 41 stars, 86, 122 string theory, xxxii, 32, 59, 70, 71, 82, 108, 122.141 structure, xxv, 7, 39, 42, 59, 61, 66, 67, 79, 117, 132, 139 symmetry, xvii, xxv, xxxi, 2, 3, 4, 6, 38, 54, 60, 78, 92, 101, 102, 103, 118, 135, 136

thermodynamic behaviour, xvi thermodynamics, xxxii, 20, 21, 125, 130

Т

transformation(s), xvi, xvii, 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 9, 32, 33, 36, 40, 43, 64, 92, 104, 106, 108, 109, 110, 111, 112, 113, 114, 115, 123 transformation matrix, 2 triangulation, 60, 131, 132

U

universe, xvii, xxiv, xxix, xxxi, 15, 23, 54, 57, 67, 82, 117, 124, 131, 136, 139

vacuum, xviii, xxviii, xxx, 36, 37, 38, 39, 67, 70, 86, 87, 90, 93, 107, 108, 119, 136 variables, xxix, 40, 41, 43, 60, 62, 64, 82 vector, 16, 106, 109, 110 velocity, 22, 35, 93, 95, 96, 127, 128

V

W

Weyl, xvii, 101, 103, 104, 105, 106, 108, 109, 110, 111, 112, 113, 115, 118, 140, 141

WKB approximation, 109, 110, 113

Related Nova Publications

POLARONS: RECENT PROGRESS AND PERSPECTIVES

EDITOR: Amel Laref



PROCEEDINGS OF THE

2017 INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON "PHYSICS, MECHANICS

OF NEW MATERIALS AND

THEIR APPLICATIONS"

SERIES: Physics Research and Technology

BOOK DESCRIPTION: This book presents recent research results on the illustrious verge of polaron science, which is broadly applied in condensed matter physics, solid state physics, and chemistry fields.

HARDCOVER ISBN: 978-1-53613-935-8 RETAIL PRICE: \$310

PROCEEDINGS OF THE 2017 INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON "Physics, Mechanics of New Materials and Their Applications"

EDITORS: Ivan A. Parinov, Shun-Hsyung Chang, Ph.D., and Vijay K. Gupta

SERIES: Physics Research and Technology

BOOK DESCRIPTION: The book presents new results of internationally recognized scientific teams in the fields of materials science, physics, mechanics, manufacturing techniques and technologies of advanced materials, operating in diapasons from the nanometer level to the macroscopic level.

HARDCOVER ISBN: 978-1-53614-083-5 RETAIL PRICE: \$310

To see complete list of Nova publications, please visit our website at www.novapublishers.com

Related Nova Publications

Methods and Instruments for Visual and Optical Diagnostics of Objects and Fast Processes

AUTHOR: Gennadiy Sergeevich Evtushenko



SERIES: Physics Research and Technology

BOOK DESCRIPTION: This book presents new instruments and methods for studying the dynamics of fast processes. The manuscript consists of two parts: Part I discusses the use of high speed metal vapor brightness amplifiers for object and process imaging, and Part II addresses the plasma parameters of a high-voltage nanosecond discharge initiated by a runaway electron beam.

HARDCOVER ISBN: 978-1-53613-568-8 RETAIL PRICE: \$160

QUARK MATTER: FROM SUBQUARKS TO THE UNIVERSE



AUTHOR: Hidezumi Terazawa

SERIES: Physics Research and Technology

BOOK DESCRIPTION: The meaning of "quark matter" is twofold: It refers to 1) compound states of "subquarks" (the most fundamental constituents of matter), which quarks consist of, as "nuclear matter" to those of "nucleons" (the constituents of the nucleus), and 2) compound states of quarks that consist of roughly equal numbers of up, down, and strange quarks, and which may be absolutely stable.

SOFTCOVER ISBN: 978-1-53614-151-1 **RETAIL PRICE:** \$82

To see complete list of Nova publications, please visit our website at www.novapublishers.com